The effect of perioperative insulin therapy on patients undergoing major liver resections

Mazen Hassanain

Submitted September 30, 2010

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medicine.

Copyright © Mazen Hassanain MD, 2010

This thesis consists of 3 manuscripts describing novel therapeutic approaches for augmenting liver glycogen, improving postoperative liver function and maintaining normoglycaemia in patients undergoing liver surgery. The third paper highlights the potential pathways explaining the clinical benefits of this therapy. All studies were conducted under the clinical trial registered at clinicaltrial.gov NCT00774098. A list of the papers is presented below followed by contributions of all authors.

- 1. Hassanain M, Schricker T, Metrakos P, Carvalho G, Vrochides D, Lattermann R. Hepatic protection by peri-operative metabolic support? Nutrition. 2008 Jun 27: 1217-1219.
- 2. Mazen Hassanain, Peter Metrakos, Alexander Fisette, Suhail A.R. Doi, Ayat Salman, Prosanto Chaudhury, Thomas Schricker, Ralph Lattermann, George Carvalho, Chris Dey, Linda Wykes, Evan Nitschmann, Haneen Molla, and Katherine Cianflone; Insulin Therapy Improves Liver Function and Reduces Complication Rates in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection—*submitted to Annals of Surgery*
- 3. Alexander Fisette & Mazen Hassanain, Peter Metrakos, Suhail A.R. Doi, Ayat Salman, Thomas Schricker, Ralph Lattermann, Linda Wykes, Evan Nitschmann, Jessica Smith, and Katherine Cianflone; Altered Inflammation, Reduced Apoptosis and Increased Cell Proliferation from High-Dose Insulin Therapy Reduces Postoperative Liver Dysfunction and Complications in Liver Resection Patients—*submitted to JCEM*

I conceived the ideas behind this project, designed the protocol for the randomized clinical trial, identified patients eligible for the study and introduced them to the study. As well, I sought IRB approval, took care of the study registration, and managed meetings with the clinical dietician. With regards to patients I handled their admission to the hospital, arranged hospital beds suitable for intravenous hydration, and carried the insulin therapy after the operation. I also supervised the randomization process, collected and analysed all study–related blood and tissue samples; and collected and analyzed all the data.

Conjuring up the rational for the study started and matured with my supervisor Dr. Peter Metrakos. He also helped in identifying and introducing eligible patients to the study. Dr. P. Metrakos reviewed all manuscripts and supervised the writing of the thesis.

Dr. T. Schricker contributed to the development of the idea, shared his experiences with using the clamp during heart surgery and reviewed the first 2 papers. Members of his lab assisted with the analyses by measuring free fatty acid, insulin and glucagon levels.

Dr. R. Lattermann helped by implementing the clamp in the operating room and arranged transport of some patients to the recovery room prior to surgery when we needed to draw blood samples from them. He supervised the writing of the first manuscript and reviewed the second.

Dr. G. Carvalho coached me on how to use the clamp given his extensive experience with using the clamp technique in cardiac surgery, and helped Dr. Lattermann in applying the clamp during

the operation in some patients. He also introduced me to the lab and provided me with the training needed to spin, aliquot and store collected blood samples for the study.

Dr. D. Vrochides was the surgeon for the case report presented in the first manuscript.

Dr. P. Chaudhury assisted in surgical data collection and in reviewing the second paper. He also finalized and instituted the postoperative clinical pathways for all patients.

Ms. A. Salman was the study coordinator. She took care of the consenting process, collecting demographic data, double-checking the accuracy of collected data, completing paper work needed by the ethics board for renewal, and conducting the randomization process.

Collaborators Mr. Alexander Fisette M.Sc., Dr. K. Cianflone, and Dr. S. Paglialunga from the Université Laval Biochemistry Department measured blood levels of growth factors, complements, and adipo-hormones. Dr. Paglialunga participated in analysing samples for the first group of patients only and was included in the abstract authorship list. This group also measured the tissue mRNA expression using the insulin pathway kit, and assisted in reviewing the second and writing the third manuscript.

Dr. L. Wykes and Mr. E. Nitschmann, collaborators from the McGill School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition, helped in measuring serum cytokines using the Luminex 200.

Ms. H. Karasek, B.Sc., and Ms. H. Molla M.Sc. are the clinical dieticians from the McGill University Health Center who followed up the study patients, instructed them on how to ingest the required caloric intake prior to surgery, conducted the 24-hour dietary recall, and revised the intake of the control patients. Ms. Karasek assisted with the early patients only and was included in the published abstract at the AHBPA.

Dr. S. Doi is a clinical epidemiologist who supervised the statistical analysis included in the second and third paper and also performed the principal component analysis for both of these manuscripts. Dr. Doi is a collaborator from the Clinical Epidemiology Unit, School of Population Health, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia.

Dr. R. Dey, Dr. A. Khankan, and Dr. D. Valenti are interventional radiologists from the McGill University Health Center who measured all related liver volumes and calculated future liver remnants. Drs. Khankan and Valenti assessed liver parameters for the preliminary group of patients; and were referenced in the published abstract. Dr. Dey did the calculations that were included in the second manuscript.

More detailed information concerning the authors' contributions is included at the beginning of each manuscript.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my wife Haneen Molla for all her help in making this thesis happen. In addition to her never ending moral support, she assisted with the clinical studies by meeting with the study patients as part of the nutrition team. I also want to thank my children Faisal and Joud because without the occasional and much needed distractions garnered from their enthusiastic play and smiles I would have accomplished nothing! I am grateful to my family, mom and dad in Saudi Arabia for their moral and continuous support.

Realizing the goals of my research activities would not have been possible without members of the hospital staff and the Hepatobiliary Division at the Royal Victoria Hospital. There are a number of colleagues I want to acknowledge. I thank Ms. Ayat Salman, the clinical co-ordinator; Ms. Myriam Fernandez, the database manager; Ms. Louise Mazza the nutrition lab manger; and the Royal Victoria Hospital Admitting and Medical Records departments for their assistance in the clinical studies.

As well, I want to thank Dr. Prosanto Chaudhury, Dr. Ralph Lattermann, and Dr. Thomas Schricker for assisting in the writing and reviewing of manuscripts presented in the thesis.

I am grateful to the King Saud University, College of Medicine, Department of Surgery for sponsoring me and funding my research activities.

I also want to thank Ms. Marie Monaghan, Ms. Myra Sousa, and Ms. Joelle Denomy for their support.

Finally, I want to thank my Supervisor Dr. Peter Metrakos for all his support and guidance over the past 4 years, for without his encouragement this work would not have surfaced.

Table of Contents

Contributions of Authors	2
Acknowledgments	6
Table of Contents	8
I. Tables	11
II. Figures	11
Abstract	12
Résumé	14
Abbreviations	16
Introduction	18
III. Rational	18
IV. Objectives	22
Literature Review	23
V. The liver	23
VI. What is liver surgery	24
Indications for liver resection	26
VII. Types of liver surgery	28
Staged resections	29
VIII. Postoperative liver regeneration	29

IX. Adaptive stress response	
X. Volume of the FLR	
Embolization for growing the FLR	
XI. Postoperative liver dysfunction (POLD)	
XII. Risk factors for developing POLD	
Gender	
Age	
Bleeding and blood transfusion	
Steatosis	
Preoperative chemotherapy	
Volume and quality of the future liver remnant (FLR).	
Platelet count	
Other factors	
XIII. Measuring POLD	
XIV. Quality of the FLR	
XV. Protective effect of liver glycogen	
XVI. The catabolic response to surgery	
XVII. Risks associated with hyperglycaemia	
Managing glucose control	
XVIII. Benefits of insulin therapy	

XIX. Classifying postoperative complications	
Thesis Manuscript I–published	
XX. Background for work in manuscript I	
XXI. Manuscript I text	61
XXII. Transition to manuscript II	
Objective 1	
1. HPB Abstract	
Objective 2	74
Thesis Manuscript II–submitted	80
XXIII. Background for work in manuscript II	
XXIV. Manuscript II text	
XXV. Supplementary material for manuscript II	
Thesis Manuscript III-submitted	
XXVI. Background for work in manuscript III	
XXVII. Manuscript III text	
Conclusions	
Bibliography	
Supplementary Bibliography (manuscripts only)	

I. Tables

Table 1. Morbidity and Mortality Rates in Selected Studies	25
Table 2: Child-Turcotte-Pugh Classification System	44
Table 3: Liver Function as Per Score Generated by Schindl et al ⁺	46
Table 4: Demographics of the 5 Patients in the Feasibility Study	59
Table 5: Glucose Results for Patients in the Feasibility Study	60

II. Figures

Figure 1: Normal Liver Anatomy	23
Figure 2: Pathway for Liver Regeneration Following a Major	31
Figure 3: Role of JNK and IKK in TNF- α Induced Cell Death and Proliferation	34
Figure 4: Time dependence of intraoperative blood glucose concentrations in non-diabetic	
patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration ± SD (mmol/L)	76
Figure 5: Time dependence of intraoperative blood glucose concentrations in diabetic patients.	
Data are mean blood glucose concentration ± SD (mmol/L)	77
Figure 6: Time dependence of postoperative blood glucose concentrations in non-diabetic	
patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration ± SD (mmol/L)	78
Figure 7: Time dependence of postoperative blood glucose concentrations in diabetic patients.	
Data are mean blood glucose concentration ± SD (mmol/L)	79

Abstract

Tissue injury related to liver surgery stimulates the release of stress hormones and proinflammatory cytokines to produce the necessary elements needed for healing. An exaggerated stress response compounded by preoperative fasting limits the liver's capacity to regenerate by depleting its energy stores. This change in metabolism leads to an insulin resistant state in the patient and associated hyperglycaemia. Dextrose supplementation coupled with intravenous insulin given perioperatively affords superior surgical outcomes through preservation of liver glycogen and strict glycaemia control.

The goal of this research was to investigate the benefits of a metabolic support protocol involving carbohydrate loading and insulin infusion provided by a hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp (HNC), for patients undergoing hepatic resection. Studies were performed in the context of a randomized-controlled clinical trial registered at clinicaltrial.gov NCT00774098.

Initially, 5 patients including 1 with diabetes mellitus were given the HNC protocol while undergoing a major hepatectomy. This feasibility study helped fine-tune the protocol towards improving its safety and reproducibility, and prompted expansion and randomization of the trial to include sixty patients. The goal of the expanded trial was to study the benefits of the protocol in augmenting liver glycogen and reducing postoperative complications. The patients were randomly assigned to either intervention or control groups. Intervention patients received a 24-hour oral carbohydrate-load, followed by an IV dextrose infusion (2 mg/kg/min) in the 24 hours leading to surgery, followed by insulin therapy given intra- and postoperatively. Controls

adhered to routine management. Blood and tissue samples were taken at various time points for monitoring liver glycogen content and function. In the final stage of the project a subset of patients was selected for genetic expression testing. Blood and liver tissue samples were analyzed to identify specific inflammatory, metabolic and cell cycles pathways stimulated by the protocol.

Carbohydrate loading combined with intra- and postoperative use of the HNC protocol augmented liver glycogen and reduced postoperative complications. Diabetic and nondiabetic patients alike benefited from this therapy.

Résumé

Les tissus traumatiques chirurgicaux stimulent la libération d'hormones de stress et de cytokines pro-inflammatoires afin de créer les éléments nécessaires pour la cicatrisation.

Une réponse au stress aggravée par le jeune préopératoire limite la capacité du foie à se régénérer en puisant dans ses réserves d'énergie. Ce changement de métabolisme conduit à un état de résistance insulinémique et d'hyperglycémie chez le patient. Un supplément de dextrose et d'insuline par voie intraveineuse durant la période périopératoire offre des résultats postchirurgicaux supérieurs tout en laissant le foie préserver son glycogène et maintenir un contrôle glycémique stricte.

Le but de cette étude était d'étudier les avantages reliés à l'utilisation d'un protocole de soutien métabolique impliquant la perfusion de glucides et d'insuline par le biais d'une pince hyperinsulinémique normoglycémiques (HNC) sur des patients cédulés pour une résection hépatique. Cette étude a été réalisée dans le cadre d'une étude clinique randomisé-contrôlées enregistré sous NCT00774098 sur clinicaltrial.gov.

Au départ, 5 patients, dont 1 atteint de diabète Type I, ont été randomisés sur le protocole HNC durant l'hépatectomie majeure. Cette étude de faisabilité nous a aidés à affiner le protocole afin de le reproduire, tout en sécurité, sur un plus grand échantillon. Nous avons généré un essai clinique randomisé incluant 60 patients afin d'étudier les effets bénéfiques reliés à ce type de protocole au niveau de l'accroissement du niveau de glycogène dans le foie et la réduction des complications post opératoires. Les patients ont été randomisés soit sur le protocole HNC ou le groupe de contrôle. Les patients randomisés sur l'étude recevaient, en plus du HNC durant la période intra et post opératoire, des suppléments élevés de glucide par voie orale, suivie d'une perfusion de dextrose par voie intraveineuse à 2 mg / kg / min dans les 24 heures précédant

l'intervention chirurgicale. Le groupe de contrôle était gérer en suivant le protocole standard de l'hôpital. Des échantillons de sang et de foie ont été prélevés à divers moments afin de suivre de près la fonction hépatique et la teneur de glycogène dans le foie. En plus, des tests d'expression génétique ont été faits sur certains de ces échantillons. Les échantillons de sang et de foie étaient analysés pour étudier le cycle métabolique, inflammatoire et cellulaire.

Une surcharge de glucide combiné avec l'utilisation du HNC durant l'opération et la période post-opératoire a augmenté le niveau de glycogène dans le foie et a réduit les complications post-opératoires. Les diabétiques et les non-diabétiques ont bénéficié d'une telle thérapie.

Abbreviations

HCC:	hepatocellular carcinoma		
CRCLM:	colorectal cancer liver metastasis		
POLD:	postoperative liver dysfunction		
FLR:	future liver remnant		
ROS:	reactive oxygen species		
TNF-α:	Tumour Necrosis factor-α		
IL:	Interleukin		
TGF - β:	transforming growth factor-β		
CRP:	C-reactive protein		
MKP:	MAP kinase phosphates		
JNK:	c-Jun terminal kinase		
IKK:	IkB kinase enzyme complex		
PVE:	portal vein embolization		
HVE:	hepatic vein embolization		
RES:	reticuloendothelial cells system		
GSK:	glycogen synthase kinase		
MetS:	metabolic syndromes		
NAFLD:	nonalcoholic fatty liver disease		
NASH:	nonalcoholic steatohepatitis		

ATP:	adenosine triphosphate			
ACTH:	adrenocorticotrophic hormone			
HNC:	hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp			
GIN therapy:	perioperative glucose and insulin administration while maintaining normoglycaemia			
CV:	coefficient of variability			
SD:	standard deviation			
TG:	liver triglycerides			
TLV:	total liver volume			
PCA:	principle component analysis			
PONV:	postoperative nausea and vomiting			
DVT:	deep vein thrombosis			
ARF:	acute renal failure			
UTI:	urinary tract infection			
PCR:	polymerase chain reaction			
BCL:	B-cell lymphoma			
ASP:	acylation stimulating protein			
MCP:	monocyte chemotactic protein			
LR:	liver resection			
CABG:	coronary artery bypass grafting			

Introduction

III. Rational

Liver resection is the surgical removal of a portion of the parenchyma and associated bile ducts. This procedure is commonly performed to treat patients with primary or secondary liver tumours and currently represents the only curative option for selected patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), bile duct cancer (cholangiocarcinoma), gall bladder cancer, and colorectal cancer liver metastasis (CRCLM) (*1-11*).

Surgeons are performing hepatic resections with increasing frequency due to the availability of high resolution imaging techniques that facilitate selection of patients with favourable tumour stage and locations, better understanding of the segmental liver anatomy, and general improvements in operative and anaesthetic techniques (*12*). The postoperative mortality rate now stands at <5% in major hepatobiliary centers (*4*, *13-17*).

Improved patient survival following liver surgery especially for patients with CRCLM has extended the indications of hepatectomy to patients with advanced liver involvement, patients with prior liver resections and patients with extrahepatic disease. As well, surgeons now perform this procedure more routinely in patients with benign tumors of the liver, and during liver graft transplants from living donors (*18, 19*).

Liver surgery invokes an adaptive stress response that can lead to complications such as liver dysfunction, hyperglycaemia, infections, longer hospital stays, and mortality. Postoperative complications stem from a multitude of factors, but mostly from exaggerated inflammatory and

metabolic responses culminating in liver dysfunction and hyperglycaemia. Liver dysfunction is a major determinant of postoperative morbidity and mortality. Postoperative liver dysfunction (POLD) occurs in 20%–70% of patients undergoing liver resection (*12, 16, 20-24*). The reported morbidity rate is 30%–70% and more than 80% of these patients have infections (*4, 12, 13, 25, 26*). The degree of POLD correlates linearly with postoperative morbidity (*23, 27*).

Postoperative complications in addition to their harmful effects on the patient reduce the survival benefit from liver surgery. In fact, assessment strategies incorporating liver function laboratory parameters and clinical observations are routinely used to predict patient survival expectancy following a resection (*23, 28, 29*). Major risk factors for developing postoperative liver dysfunction include fatty liver disease (steatosis), low hepatic glycogen content, obesity, preoperative chemotherapy, volume of the future liver remnant (FLR), chronic liver disease, male gender, older age, perioperative bleeding and blood transfusion (*18, 20, 30-34*).

Most risk factors for developing POLD are irreversible, but a select few such as liver glycogen depletion may be reversed through intervention. Preoperative carbohydrate loading delivered orally or intravenously can reverse liver glycogen depletion and potentially reduce the associated risk of POLD. This effect was demonstrated in animal studies where perioperative feeding as opposed to fasting improved the liver's resistance to ischemic injury by increasing hepatic glycogen (*35-37*). Glycogen exerts a protective effect on the liver by maintaining mitochondrial health and thereby inhibiting the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) known to damage the hepatocytes (*38*). Although augmenting liver glycogen during surgery helps maintain hepatocyte integrity it also causes hyperglycaemia and associated complications.

During the inflammatory response to surgery, endothelial and epithelial cells as well as neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes all stimulate the release of proinflammatory mediators TNF- α , Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and IL-6. An exaggerated response can overwhelm local defence mechanisms and culminate in defence system failure (*39-43*). In particular, up-regulation of cytokines suppresses immune function and potentially renders patients more susceptible to postoperative infection (*44-46*). This proinflammatory process also jeopardizes liver regeneration and function. Heightened release of TNF- α and IL-6 can lead to hepatic apoptosis and liver dysfunction or failure (*47*). Insulin provides a protective effect in patients requiring porta-hepatis clamping for restricting the inflow of blood to the liver (Pringles manoeuvre) during liver resection by suppressing the exaggerated release of IL-6 (*48*).

Surgery related hyperglycaemia represents an important concern for the patient and treating surgeon. More than 90% of patients develop blood glucose values higher than 6.1 mmol/L during critical illness (49, 50). Tissue injury from surgery disrupts the feedback mechanism required to maintain hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis homeostasis. This leads to either up-regulation or suppression of hormones involved in regulating blood glucose. Release of epinephrine, glucagon and cortisol in response to injury augments glucose production via glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis pathways. The same stress response suppresses insulin. The net effect is hyperglycaemia and an insulin resistant state in the patient (51, 52). Hyperglycaemia marks an increased risk of complications and mortality in critically ill patients (53).

Managing glucose control during surgery presents its own challenges. Surgeons often experience difficulty in controlling blood glucose perioperatively. Resulting hyperglycaemia causes postoperative complications such as infection, end organ dysfunction, longer ICU stays and increased mortality rates (*50, 54-57*). Because patients can't communicate the early warning

signs of hypoglycaemia while under anaesthesia, blood glucose levels must be checked frequently, and patients treated immediately with dextrose infusion when hypoglycaemia is detected (*55*). Infusion protocols used to maintain tight glucose control in the operating room are complex, labour intensive and can be distracting to the anaesthesiologist. Patient welfare may therefore be compromised during complicated surgery as result of the attention required to administer tight glucose control therapy (*54, 58*).

Improved patient management strategies are needed to reduce postoperative complications and enhance the survival benefit of liver resection. Ultimately liver surgeons want to bring more patients to surgery with improved patient outcomes and reduced complications. Reducing postoperative liver dysfunction and improving perioperative glucose control represent important steps in achieving this goal.

IV. Objectives

The goal of my research was to find a more effective and more comprehensive metabolic based protocol for supporting liver integrity and function following major liver resection. I proceeded with a vision of improving liver glycogen content and reducing postoperative complications, while at the same time maintaining strict normolglycaemia. The main objectives of my thesis work were to:

- Improve liver glycogen content during surgery
- Maintain normoglycaemia in patients undergoing liver resection
- Reduce postoperative liver dysfunction after major hepatectomy
- Reduce the incidence of postoperative complications from major liver surgery
- Study the pharmacological mechanism underlying insulin therapy benefits for the surgical patient

Literature Review

V. The liver

The liver is a vital organ located in the right upper quadrant of the abdominal cavity. It is divided into 2 parts; the right lobe which makes up approximately 60 % of its mass and the smaller left lobe (Figure 1). The left lobe is further divided into segments I-IV while the right lobe contains segments V-VIII. A portal vein divides the liver into its separate lobes and functions by transporting blood from the intestines, spleen and pancreas into the liver. The portal vein branches intricately left and right to carry blood further into all segments of the liver. The bile ducts are involved in the transport of bile synthesized by the hepatocytes and are located both extra- and intrahepatically.



Figure 1: Normal Liver Anatomy

VI. What is liver surgery

Liver resection is a surgical procedure that involves removing part of the parenchyma and associated liver ducts. Surgeons consider resection as the method of choice for curative treatment and management of many types of hepatic malignancies. The goal is to completely remove the tumour and preserve the surrounding liver tissue. The liver can withstand this type of operation because of its unique ability to regenerate over a short period of time following resection. Preserving a sufficient amount of functional liver, referred to as the future liver remnant (FLR), is paramount for the patient's survival. Failure to do so leads to death within a few days after surgery (*18*).

Hepatic resection has gained in popularity as a mode of cancer treatment for several reasons. The availability of high resolution imaging techniques like magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography has made it easier to select patients with favourable tumour load (*59*). Better understanding of the segmental liver anatomy and general improvements in operative and anaesthetic techniques are also important factors for improving perioperative outcome (*12*).

Before the 1980s the mortality rate associated with liver resection stood at more than 10%. Mortality rates have since declined steadily to less than 2%. Improved patient survival following hepatectomy has extended the indications of hepatectomy to patients with advanced liver disease, patients with prior liver resections and patients with extrahepatic disease. As well, this procedure is being performed more frequently in patients with benign tumours of the liver and during liver transplants surgery from living donors.

Despite improvements in patient survival, morbidity rates (postoperative complications) from liver surgery remain high (20% –50%; Table 1), mainly because liver surgeons have focussed their efforts towards preventing mortality from this procedure rather than reducing complications, while at the same time expanding resectability criteria (*4*, *13-17*, *60*). The variability in the reported morbidity rates is the result of mixing both major and minor liver resection data in some published series. The improved perioperative care was counterbalanced with the expansion of the resectability criteria. This strategy has resulted in a sustained high postoperative complication rate (Table 1).

Author	Years	N	Mortality (%)	Morbidity (%)
Fan (61)	1994	64	8	55
Cohnert (14)	1997	340	4	22
Belghiti (15)	2000	747	4.4	22
Jarnigan (60)	2002	1803	4	52
Laurent (16)	2003	311	3	30
Stewart (17)	2004	137	2.9	19.7
Wei (4)	2006	423	1.6	17

Table 1. Morbidity and Mortality Rates in Selected Studies

Indications for liver resection

Liver resection offers the only potential cure for selected patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), bile duct cancer (cholangiocarcinoma), gall bladder cancer, and colorectal cancer liver metastasis. While cholangiocarcinoma and HCC account for nearly all primary liver cancers, colorectal cancer liver metastasis represents the most common indication for liver surgery.

HCC is diagnosed based on the presence of chronic liver disease, increased serum levels of alpha-fetoprotein, and confirmed tumour features by radiologic imaging. Resection and transplantation treatment options afford the best outcomes in patients at an early disease stage with 5-year survival rates greater than 60% (*1*, *2*). In general, the 5-year recurrence rate after resection is more significant in patients with tumours >5 cm compared to those with tumours \leq 5cm (43% vs. 32%, respectively) (59, 62). Although liver transplantation provides superior results in patients with liver cirrhosis, liver grafts are often not available to meet the timely need of treatment. Surgeons therefore resort to using resection as often as possible and reserving the transplant option for disease recurrence.

Cholangiocarcinoma is a relatively rare, slow-growing tumour originating in the intra- or extrahepatic bile duct (3). Although considered minimally malignant, prognosis for this form of cancer is poor, with a best scenario survival rate of 1 year when patients are given supportive care only. Surgical intervention including radical hepatectomy effectively manages intrahepatic and hilar diseases, and is the only potentially curative treatment. The 5-year survival rate for patients undergoing a radical hepatectomy for bile duct cancer remains at 39.7%, with a median survival time of 3.75 years. Postoperative morbidity and mortality rates for this disease are 46.8% and 2.0%, respectively (3).

Colorectal cancer is the fourth most common cancer in North America (4). Half of all patients with colorectal cancer will develop liver metastases. CRCLM is the leading indication for liver resection and carries the most representation of all cancer forms in the hepatic surgery literature. Liver resection has an impressive track record in prolonging the life of CRCLM patients affording a high 5-year survival rate (60%), while the best chemotherapy treatment regimens offer a median survival of only 22 months (63). This disease has therefore pushed the definition of resectability from number and size of lesions to how much liver will remain after a complete resection.

Hepatic resection provides a survival benefit to selected patients suffering from hepatic metastases originating from other forms of malignancies such as breast, ovarian or gastric cancer. For example in one study only 33% of patients with hepatic metastases from breast cancer developed disease recurrence following a hepatectomy (*64*). When chemotherapy was given preoperatively to stabilize the disease the 5-year survival rate after resection rose to 41%.

Transplantation surgery is the only viable surgical treatment option for selected patients with acute liver-failure, advanced cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, or hilar cholangiocarcinoma (18, 19). This mode of treatment has progressed significantly over the last decade. Surgeons are now able to successfully transplant a portion of liver, or partial liver graft, resected from a living donor. Liver grafting from a live donor permits transplantation that is ideally timed with the medical indication. Donors are selected based on their physical well being as first priority, to minimize risks and optimize recipient outcomes. The left lateral lobe of the donor liver (e.g. segments II and III) is used more often for transplants in children while the larger right donor lobe is used more frequently for adult recipients (19, 65). The current mortality rate for a right hemihepatectomy in a living donor is 0.2% to 0.5% and the rate of complications is 15% to 30%

(18, 66). Transplant surgeons aim for a FLR >35% of the original liver for minimizing postoperative complications (18, 67). Donors typically recuperate 80%-100% of their initial liver volume.

Liver surgeons also perform resections for patients with liver adenoma who are at risk of rupture and/or malignant transformation, for patients with liver cystadenoma at risk of malignant transformation; and for relieving symptoms of local compression and/or significant local discomfort in patients with focal nodular hyperplasia, haemangioma or polycystic liver disease.

VII. Types of liver surgery

Hepatic surgery has evolved over the years (60). Types of resections performed routinely include wedge resection whereby tumour is removed with a surrounding margin of about one-half inch of normal liver, segmented-oriented resections (segments 1 to 8), and lobe resections: right (right hepatectomy segments 5 to 8) or left (left hepatectomy segments 2 to 4). Surgeons also perform extended resections where segments of the adjacent lobe are also removed: A right trisegmentectomy includes segments 1 or 4 in addition to segments 5–8, and a left trisegmentectomy removes segments 1 or 5 and 8 along with segments 2–4.

Liver resection is further classified into either major or minor surgery. An operation taking 3 or more liver segments is considered a major resection while taking less than 3 is deemed minor (*27*). Surgeons and oncologists view a negative surgical margin i.e. oncologic resection as the most important determinant for disease free survival (*3, 68*).

Staged resections

A staged approach to liver resection is recommended for patients with multiple bilobar liver metastases. The method involves initial resection of tumour burden on one side of the liver followed by a second resection a few weeks later to clear the other side of the liver (69). Compensatory regeneration of the remnant liver after the first resection allows safer removal of tissue during the second hepatectomy. Staged resections in which 2 operations are performed with sufficient time between them to allow regeneration of the FLR, are now performed more routinely in patients with bilateral lobe disease since complete resection provides an almost similar survival benefit as a single hepatectomy (5-11, 70).

VIII. Postoperative liver regeneration

Liver function recovery following liver resection stems from the liver's remarkable capacity to regenerate after injury over a short period of time. Reported times to achieving full recovery of hepatic function are conflicting. Some reports indicate full recovery within 1 week of surgery while others suggest the process can take up to 6 months (*19, 71-75*). Regardless, normal liver function signalled by a return of laboratory parameters to normal levels occurs quickly and thoroughly.

The anatomical structure of a liver that has undergone a hepatectomy does not return to its original state during the restoration process (76, 77). Recovery of the liver volume happens through replication of intrahepatic cells followed by cell size increase rather than regeneration of the individual segments (18). Replication of hepatocytes begins on day 1 post surgery. Other

cells involved in the process such as endothelial, Kupffer, and biliary-duct cells replicate in a more delayed fashion (*18*). The level of replication and synchronization of different hepatic cell types correlates with the extent of tissue removal and / or damage.

Liver regeneration and acute inflammation involve similar molecular mediators. Hepatocytes start out in the quiescent G₀ phase then move into the active G₁ phase after resection. Cytokines derived mainly from Kupffer cells, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and Interleukin-6 (IL-6) are then released in an orchestrated fashion to initiate the cell cycle. (*78, 79*) Transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), which normally inhibits hepatocyte DNA synthesis, is blocked during the hepatocyte proliferative phase. At the end of the regeneration process TGF- β regains its function and helps the hepatocytes return to their quiescent state (Figure 2) (*18, 43, 77*).



Figure 2: Pathway for Liver Regeneration Following a Major

With permission: In Clavien P-A, Petrowsky H, DeOliveira ML, Graf R. Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2007 Apr 12;356(15):1545-59.

Full and synchronized regeneration of the hepatocytes depends on a balanced interplay between various cellular and physiological processes. Inability to sustain hepatocyte regeneration after liver surgery leads to inadequate recovery of liver volume and ultimately liver failure (18). Certain factors govern the regeneration process. For example, failure to activate the proinflammatory signal cascade delays onset of regeneration (80). The neurotransmitter serotonin, peripherally circulated by platelets, also appears to be a co-mitogen that is essential for hepatocyte regeneration (81). Bile flow represents a third factor affecting liver regeneration. Low bile flow correlated with reduced hepatocyte proliferation in animal studies (82).

IX. Adaptive stress response

Surgery invokes an adaptive stress response to maintain homeostasis in the patient. Under normal circumstances this response affords recovery benefits for the patient. Exaggerated responses however, lead to complications including liver dysfunction, infections, morbidity, longer hospital stays and mortality.

The stress response originates from 3 major systems including the endocrine, sympathetic nervous and acute phase response systems (43, 83). Endothelial and epithelial cells as well as neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes all stimulate the release of pro-inflammatory mediators TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6 in response to tissue injury. If sufficiently severe, tissue injuries can overwhelm the local defence mechanisms leading to over-expression of protective biomolecules and persistent up-regulation of cytokines. The process ultimately culminates in a failure of the host defence system marked by for example, higher levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), IL-6 and acute phase protein in the patient (39-42). In particular, upregulation of cytokines can suppress immune function and potentially render patients more susceptible to postoperative infection (44, 46, 84).

Neutrophils and macrophages also respond to the proinflammatory cascade by releasing granular enzymes and producing reactive oxygen species (ROS) that can lead to organ dysfunction (44, 85). Lan and colleagues compared stress biomarkers in 2 patient groups undergoing a partial right hepatectomy, including healthy donors and patients with diseased livers, in order to evaluate the acute phase response following surgery (43). Significant increases in IL-6 and CPR were observed in both patient groups indicating the onset of liver regeneration. The cytokine IL-

6 was higher in patients with diseased liver before surgery and remained higher postoperatively suggesting that IL-6 elevation is an indicator for increased risk of developing postoperative complications (*43*). A second study looked at the effect of circulating cytokines, chemokines and stress hormones on postoperative infection and liver dysfunction. Interleukin-6 and Interleukin-10 were cited as the 2 most important cytokines in mediating these postoperative events (*44*).

Tumour necrosis factor- α plays a particularly important role in dictating the fate of hepatocytes. Postoperatively it restores functional liver mass by inducing cell proliferation and liver regeneration. However, under certain conditions it also acts as a mediator of hepatocyte death (*47, 86*). Soluble and membrane bound TNF- α bind to and activate their TNF-R1 and TNF-R2 receptors, respectively resulting in downstream activation of the JNK (c-Jun terminal kinase) and IKK (IkB kinase enzyme complex) pathways (Figure 3). TNF- α induced ROS produced during the stress response help prolong JNK activation by oxidizing and inactivating several members of the MAP kinase phosphates (MKPs). Activation of the JNK pathway for short periods of time contributes to cell proliferation while prolonged activation shifts the balance towards cell death. IKK activation by contrast exerts a protective role. The IKK- β subunit protects the hepatocytes from TNF- α induced apoptosis and initiates the transcription of proinflammatory and proproliferative mediators in Kupffer cells (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Role of JNK and IKK in TNF-a Induced Cell Death and Proliferation

With permission: In Schwabe RF, Brenner DA. Mechanisms of Liver Injury. I. TNF-alpha-induced liver injury: role of IKK, JNK, and ROS pathways. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2006 Apr 1;290(4):G583-9.

X. Volume of the FLR

Volume of the FLR is another factor in deciding the fate of the liver. A small FLR (smaller than a minimum threshold volume) cannot sustain metabolic, synthetic and detoxifying functions, and liver failure ensues (*18*). Clinical signs of this "small-for-size syndrome" include jaundice, coagulopathy, encephalopathy, ascites; and renal and pulmonary failure (*18, 86*).

There are different schools of thought on exactly how much liver must remain following a hepatectomy to minimize surgery associated liver dysfunction, morbidity and mortality. Quality

of the parenchyma represents an important factor in deciding how much liver can safely be resected; better liver quality means more tissue can safely be resected. Some hepatobiliary centers have shown that resection of up to 80% of the liver can be performed safely on normal livers (6, 8, 22). Others recommend resection accompanied by preoperative portal vein embolization to help grow the FLR volume if removal of more than 75% of the liver is expected (87). A rule of thumb is that resection of more than 75% of the liver may proceed with lower risk only in younger patients (\leq 40 years) with normal liver parenchyma (18).

Embolization for growing the FLR

Because of the relationship between postoperative complications and the size of the FLR, hepatic surgeons have focussed considerable effort towards increasing the volume of the FLR. These techniques enable resection in patients initially considered unresectable because of a marginal FLR (*86, 88-91*). Methods used for growing the FLR although successful, carry an increased risk of potential adverse events.

Preoperative portal vein embolization (PVE) is an invasive technique used help grow the liver prior to surgery. The surgeon or intervening radiologist blocks off blood inflow to the diseased part of the liver and thereby selectively induces atrophy in the diseased, embolized lobe of the liver while increasing the volume of the nonembolized FLR via compensatory hypertrophy (*86*, *88*).

Surgeons sometimes use another invasive technique called hepatic vein embolization (HVE) in sequence with PVE to further enhance regeneration of the FLR. Following a PVE the intervening radiologist stimulates further growth in the FLR by additionally blocking blood outflow to the

diseased part of the liver. Hwang and colleagues demonstrated some evidence of stronger compensatory regeneration using this technique (92).

Embolization procedures are invasive and carry potential risk of complications. The success of these techniques depends on the ability of the FLR to grow which is affected by the quality of the liver parenchyma. A number of technical and anatomical factors may prevent the surgeon from performing an embolization. Furthermore, induction of FLR growth prior to cancer resection is known to stimulate the growth of the cancer and promote metastasis (*88*). Hepatic vein embolization has also been shown to cause liver damage (*92*). Hospitals should therefore aim to minimize patient waiting times between embolization and resection as much as possible (*88*).

Measuring the FLR

Preoperative estimation of the FLR is typically done with the assistance of computed tomography (86, 87). This type of measurement affords an assessment of the liver remnant before resection takes place. In one commonly used method proposed by Vauthey and colleagues a preoperative computed tomography scan of the abdomen including the whole liver is first taken in a single breath-hold. The radiologist virtually reconstructs the liver using specialized software then estimates the total liver volume on the basis of body surface and the following equation (1) (86, 87):

Liver volume (cm³) = 706 x body surface area (m²) + 2.4 (1)

Volume of the FLR is determined from the volume of the parenchyma left behind in the virtual image.
XI. Postoperative liver dysfunction (POLD)

Postoperative liver dysfunction results from damage to the liver. The severity of POLD following liver surgery depends on a number of factors such as disease state of the patient, the amount of liver tissue removed, amount of blood loss, operative techniques used, intraoperative ischemia and postoperative management (15, 60). Since the liver is involved in many body functions such as digestion, metabolism and immune defence it is not surprising that liver failure compounds postoperative complications and may even be fatal (43, 93, 94).

About 20% of patients undergoing liver resection develop postoperative infection complications. Major liver resection compromises the reticuloendothelial cells system (RES), made up in part by liver Kupffer cells, and lowers the body's innate immune defence. Therefore, preserving a functioning FLR is necessary to sustain adequate RES phagocytosis capacity (*86, 94*) and failure to do so predisposes the patient to infection (*86, 94*).

XII. Risk factors for developing POLD

Some of the risk factors cited for postoperative liver failure following a major resection include old age, cirrhosis, fibrosis, hepatitis, intraoperative blood loss, and ischemia (Pringles), obstructive cholestatis, preoperative chemotherapy and hepatic steatosis (*18*). Some of these factors are reversible while others are not, e.g. age and gender. A number of risk factors including chemotherapy induced steatohepatitis, obesity and associated non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and steatohepatitis are on the rise.

Gender

Males are at greater risk of developing POLD. In a study (n=244) that examined preoperative risks factors in patients undergoing liver resection for malignant disease 8 male participants died postoperatively compared to only 2 females (14). The investigators cited multiple organ failure as the leading cause of death. Other causes included ischemia and bleeding.

Age

Studies have shown that older patients are at higher risk of developing POLD. For example, in a study conducted at two Italian centers between 1998 and 2006 that included 1271 hepatectomies, elderly patients who underwent liver resection at 1 of the 2 centers demonstrated a significantly increased risk of death following postoperative liver dysfunction (*95*). The Median age for patients who died from liver failure was 64.5 compared to 59 years for the survivors. The investigators suggested that increase in comorbidities, especially cirrhosis, and reduced hepatic functional reserve could explain the higher mortality rate in older patients. A separate study classified postoperative complications in 146 patients who underwent liver resection for malignant or benign lesions, as surgical or medically related (*86*). Risk factors for both were analyzed. Univariate analysis showed that age over 60 years is a risk factor for either class of postoperative complications (*30*).

Decline of hepatocyte regenerative capacity also contributes to increased risk of POLD in the elderly. Results from a study in mice demonstrated that glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β), an enzyme normally involved in the inactivation of glycogen synthase, also accelerates liver

proliferation. The investigators found a reduction of this critical regulator in older mice and an associated decrease in proliferative capacity of the older liver (96).

Bleeding and blood transfusion

Operative bleeding and/or blood transfusions are other important risk factors for POLD. Blood loss during hepatic surgery significantly raises the risk of postoperative mortality and morbidity. Blood transfusions cause complications by suppressing patient immunity (*30*). Surgeons use clamping procedures such as the Pringle manoeuvre during parenchymal transection to control the bleeding and protect the parenchyma (*24, 30*).

Steatosis

Fatty liver disease (steatosis) is on the rise in Western countries, affecting 6% - 11% of individuals in the general population, and is the most common parenchymal disorder in nontumour-bearing livers (20, 86). Prevalence of steatosis correlates with alcohol use, obesity, metabolic disorders such as diabetes mellitus II, and previous use of chemotherapy (20, 86). Males are more likely to be affected by the disease (20). Steatosis leads to poor liver quality and may result in liver inflammation, fibrosis, and cirrhosis. This disease is strongly associated with the metabolic syndromes (MetS) and overall insulin resistance (34). In surgical patients, steatosis leads to a greater rate of intra- and postoperative complications, particularly infections, the need for transfusions, increased sensitivity to ischemia and longer operative times. One study reported mortality rates that scaled positively with severity of the disease. Mild and severe disease associated with 3% and 14% mortality rates, respectively (20, 86).

The Pathology Committee of the NASH Clinical Research Network devised and validated a semi quantitative scoring system for assessing histological features of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). The goal was to find a rating system for diagnosis of nonalcohol steatohepatitis (NASH), a progressive form of fatty liver disease. Histological features from 5 broad categories, including steatosis, inflammation, hepatocellular injury, fibrosis, and miscellaneous features were evaluated in adult and paediatric NASH patients by a team of pathologists using simple histochemical staining. Agreement between pathologists with regards to weighting of features recognized in NAFLD was statistically analyzed and a NAFLD activity score (NAS) proposed. A NAS >5 correlates with a diagnosis of NASH while a score of less than 3 associates with absence of NASH (*97*).

Preoperative chemotherapy

Preoperative down-staging chemotherapy can render previously unresectable patients to a resectable status and improve their chance of survival. Reports of up to 60% of patients with initially unresectable metastases have been brought to surgery using a combination chemotherapy regimen comprising Fluorouracil (5-FU) plus oxaliplatin and/or irinitotican (*32*, *98-100*). Chemotherapy is also used as a neoadjuvant treatment for resectable patients in many hepatobiliary centers because of its potential survival benefit (*31*, *101*). The rate of postoperative morbidity but not mortality is increased in patients undergoing liver surgery combined with preoperative chemotherapy (*31*, *32*, *101*).

Liver damage caused by preoperative chemotherapy correlates directly with duration of treatment. Few clinical consequences other than mild liver dysfunction (low platelet count, prolonged prothrombin time and increased fatty degeneration postoperative) develop as a result of this damage when patients receive appropriate amount of treatment (*31-33*). Hepatic histological lesions occur frequently from chemotherapy and the nature of these lesions depends on the type of chemotherapy used. As an example, oxaliplatin based chemotherapy can cause severe vascular lesions that lead to operative bleeding requiring transfusion. Studies have identified a correlation between morbidity rate and number of chemotherapy treatment cycles (*32, 101*).

Volume and quality of the future liver remnant (FLR)

A clear correlation exists between FLR volume and POLD; the smaller the FLR the more likely the patient will experience POLD (*102*). Increase in portal pressure and flow, endothelial and Kupffer cell injury and the release of proinflammatory cytokines are all linked to small liver remnant size (*103*). Different groups have proposed a critical FLR, defined by percentage of original liver remaining after surgery, as a predictor of postoperative hepatic dysfunction and this percentage changes depending on the initial health of the liver. Patients with normal liver function recover well with a minimal FLR of 26.5%. The critical FLR for patients who have impaired liver function preoperatively or have received neoadjuvant chemotherapy is 31% (*23, 102*).

Failure to regenerate and increased liver apoptosis is another cause of POLD even when the FLR has normal function (*18*). This complication is typically seen in patients with preoperative cholestasis.

Platelet count

Studies have shown that platelets play an essential role in liver regeneration following liver resection and that platelet-derived serotonin helps mediate this process (*81, 104, 105*). Conversely, depletion of platelets suppresses hepatic regeneration (*81, 104, 105*).

Low platelet count determined either pre- or postoperatively impacts negatively on patient outcome after hepatectomy. Alkozai et al found an almost 5-fold increased risk of delayed postoperative recovery in patients with low platelet count immediately after surgery (OR, 4.9; 95% CI, 1.7–13.9; P = 0.01) and concluded that postoperative platelet count is an independent

predictor of both POLD and postoperative mortality (86). Others have demonstrated a similar association between low preoperative platelet count and poor patient recovery (12, 60, 106).

Other factors

Staged resections and re-resections for recurrences pose increased risk of developing POLD. Although morbidity rates remains steady between multiple hepatectomies the severity of complications increases with each resection. Also, mortality rates are higher in patients who have undergone a staged resection compared to those who have had only one hepatectomy (*11, 69, 107*).

XIII. Measuring POLD

There is no consistent definition of POLD in the literature but diagnosis is consistently based on abnormal values in laboratory parameters and clinical observations. Common laboratory parameters for measuring liver function include total bilirubin, aspartate aminotransferase and alkaline phosphatise levels, coagulation profile, platelet count and prothrombin time (INR). Total bilirubin levels and INR are the most widely accepted biochemical indicators of hepatic insufficiency. Some assessment methods like the Child-Turcotte-Pugh classification system and Model for End Stage Liver Disease (MELD) use preoperative biochemical and clinical markers to predict hepatic insufficiency (cirrhosis) related mortality. The Child-Turcotte-Pugh classification system incorporates 5 clinical measures of liver disease to grade patient survival expectancy (Table 2). One-year survival expectancies are 100% and 45% for scores of 5–6 (Class A) and 10–15 (class C), respectively (*18, 28*).

Measure	1	2 points	3 points	Units
	point			
Bilirubin (total)	<34	34–51	>51	mmol/L
Serum albumin	>3.5	2.8-3.5	<2.8	mg/dL
Prothrombin time (INR ratio*)	<1.7	1.7–2.3	> 2.3	no unit
Ascites	None	Suppressed	Refractory	no unit
		with		
		medication		
Hepatic encephalopathy	None	Grade I-II (or	Grade III-IV	no unit
		suppressed	(or refractory)	
		with		
		medication)		

Table 2: Child-Turcotte-Pugh Classification System

* International normalized ratio

The MELD system is a mathematical algorithm used to score severity of chronic liver disease as a predictor of survival (2):

 $MELD = 3.8 \times \log(e)(bilirubin mg/dL) + 11.2 \times \log(e)(INR) + 9.6 \log(e)(creatinine mg/dL) + 0.643 (2)$

A score >30 signifies poor outcome whereas pretransplant mortality is unlikely when the score <9. MELD has been investigated mostly in cirrhotic patients (*27, 29*).

Other surgical teams have proposed standard definitions of hepatic insufficiency measured postoperatively as an indicator of patient prognosis. One study determined that a peak postoperative bilirubin level >120 μ mol/L is the single most important predictor of major complications and prolonged hospital stays (27). Balzan and colleagues proposed a "50–50" criteria (prothrombin time <50% and serum bilirubin >51 μ mol/L) on day 5 post hepatectomy as a reliable predictor of liver failure (27, 108). Schindl and colleagues developed a system for scoring postoperative liver function based on the levels of lactic acid, total bilirubin, INR and degree of encephalopathy (Table 3) (23).

For our clinical trial we chose to use the later scoring system (Schindl et al) as it provides an objective method for studying postoperative liver function and also grades POLD by degree of disease severity rather than simply returning a black and white categorization, using the formal systems. This helped us in studying the effect of our insulin therapy on liver function.

Tuble 5. Elter i unenon ub i el beore Generated o y bennar et al	Table 3: Liv	ver Function	as Per Score	Generated by	Schindl et al ^t
--	--------------	--------------	--------------	--------------	----------------------------

Total serum bilirubin (µmol/l)	<20	20–60	>60
Prothrombin time (INR)	<4.0 (1.8)	4.0-6.0 (1.8-2.3)	>6.0 (2.3)
Serum lactate (mmol/l)	<1.5	1.5–3.5	>3.5
Encephalopathy grade	None	1 and 2	3 and 4
Given points	0	1	2

^hNo dysfunction when score is equal to 0 points, mild when 1–2, moderate when 3–4, and severe dysfunction when >4 points.

XIV. Quality of the FLR

The quality of the FLR is a major determinant of the postoperative liver function status. Although there are multiple basic science publications describing the status of the liver parenchyma very few surgical investigations have focussed on developing techniques to improve FLR quality.

One study showed a link between the amount of glycogen stored in the liver and quality of the liver in adults with alcoholic or biliary cirrhosis. These patients had reduced hepatic glycogen stores compared to healthy individuals with normal liver function. The 2 main factors cited for this observation are loss of hepatocytes and impaired hepatocellular glycogen metabolism. When hepatic glycogen stores are exhausted, the body resorts to using amino acids derived from skeletal muscles and fatty acids derived from adipose tissue to stimulate the production of glucose via alternative pathways. This may contribute to muscle wasting and increase systemic inflammation in patients with liver disease (*86, 109*).

XV. Protective effect of liver glycogen

Glycogen is the body's main form of carbohydrate storage residing primarily in the muscles and liver. Glycogen made by the liver readily reconverts to glucose to meet the body's metabolic needs. During liver surgery hepatocellular glycogen fuels the ATP production needed to sustain hepatocellular integrity via an anoxic glycolysis pathway. In the absence of sufficient liver glycogen ATP levels rapidly deplete and the tissues succumb to irreversible cell injury and necrosis (38, 110, 111). Both fatty degeneration and low glycogen concentration reduce the livers tolerance to ischemia-reperfusion injury (111-116).

Studies in animals have shown that preoperative feeding as opposed to fasting increase the livers resistance to ischemic injury (*36, 37, 115*). Investigators cited increased hepatic glycogen as the main reason for this improvement (*35, 111*). Glycogen was shown to exert a protective effect on the liver by maintaining mitochondrial health and thereby inhibiting the production of ROS known to damage the hepatocytes (*38*).

Human trials have also demonstrated higher glycogen content in patients receiving glucose infusion (*117-119*). In one randomized-controlled study including 16 patients, preoperative glucose infusion in fasting patients undergoing abdominal surgery resulted in a 65% increase in liver glycogen content during surgery. This higher glycogen content combined with enhanced FDPase activity suggests that gluconeogenesis represents a favoured route for glycogen formation. These patients however, had a significant high blood glucose level during the infusion (*118*).

A second study looked at glycogen degradation in recipients through various stages of liver transplantation to assess whether intraportal glucose infusion given perioperatively could improve the transplanted livers. Glucose infusion resulted in rapid glycogenesis during the transplant surgery and appeared to exert a protective effect against prolonged ischemia by lowering peak transaminase levels, particularly in young donors (*119*).

Schricker and colleagues showed that a dextrose infusion given to colorectal surgical patients, which started the day before and ended the day after surgery, prevented postoperative loss of body protein (*117*). In a follow up randomized-controlled trial by the same team, patients

received IV glucose starting at the time of incision. Although a decrease in amino acid oxidation was observed after surgery for the patients receiving glucose therapy, a higher proportion of patients in this group developed hyperglycaemia during the acute period of surgical stress. This led the team to question whether the antioxidative benefits outweigh the risks (*120*).

XVI. The catabolic response to surgery

Patients undergoing major surgery frequently encounter what is known as the catabolic response characterized by a series of hormonal and metabolic changes that can culminate in insulin resistance and associated hyperglycaemia (*51, 52*). The stress response initiates within minutes of beginning surgery by stimulating the release of adrenal hormones and pituitary hormones from the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and glucagon from the pancreas. Glucagon stimulates the breakdown of glycogen in the liver leading to increased circulation of glucose and lactose. Glycogen stores are first converted to glucose-6-phosphate by glycogen phosphorylase A and then into glucose by glucose-6-phosphatase; a process referred to as glycogenolysis. Other anabolic hormones like insulin and testosterone are suppressed during the stress response.

Studies in humans and animals have shown that stopping blood flow through the portal vein (Pringle manoeuvre) during hepatic surgery causes a rapid release of glucose stores from the hepatocytes after unclamping. This hyperglycaemia develops in response to procedure induced hypoxia which causes glycogen stores to be broken down into glucose via an anaerobic glycogenolysis pathway (*86, 93, 121*).

Tissue injury further stimulates the hypothalamus to release adrenocorticotrophic hormone (ACTH). This event initiates cortisol production within a few minutes of beginning surgery. The enhanced cortisol secretion fails to inhibit further production of ACTH and high serum concentrations of ACTH and cortisol persist. The magnitude and duration of this increase correlates with the severity of the injury.

Under normal homeostasis cortisol increases blood sugar through gluconeogenesis, suppresses the immune system, and assists with protein and carbohydrate metabolism. During surgery, the enhanced metabolic effects of cortisol cause a breakdown of skeletal muscle protein and thereby provide gluconeogenic precursors and amino acids for protein synthesis in the liver. Lipolysis in adipose tissue is increased and glucose utilization becomes impaired by this process leading to further hyperglycaemia. This impaired glucose utilization is known as the 'anti-insulin effect' (51, 52).

XVII. Risks associated with hyperglycaemia

Hyperglycaemia resulting from the catabolic response marks increased risk of morbidity, postoperative complications (for example surgical site infection) and mortality in critically ill patients, for diabetic and non-diabetic patients alike (53). More than 90% of patients develop blood glucose values >6.1 mmol/L during critical illness (49, 50). Several studies have shown that circulating levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-18 increase during acute hyperglycaemia. As well, the release of certain cytokines post injury, in particular TNF- α , can induce a peripheral state of insulin resistance that in turn leads to hyperglycaemia

(49). TNF- α reduces uptake of glucose into the peripheral tissues, increasing lipolysis and decreasing lipoprotein lipase activity (49, 86). Collectively, these effects contribute to an insulin resistance state in the patient and cause blood glucose levels to rise. Stimulation of the cytokine pro-inflammatory response further elevates blood glucose levels through increased release of stress hormones (49, 86).

Several professional organizations including the American Diabetes Association and the American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists recommend intensive insulin therapy to maintain tight glucose control in critically ill patients (*86, 122*). Despite these recommendations, widespread adoption of intensive insulin therapy has been hindered by concerns about validity of some studies, risk of severe hypoglycaemia, increased mortality rates, difficulty in achieving normoglycaemia in critically ill patients and increased resources required for managing the therapy (*86, 123*).

There is some debate over what constitutes the ideal target blood glucose levels for reducing hyperglycaemia related complications in critically ill patients and whether insulin therapy is a viable option. A number of recommendations for ideal blood glucose target levels have been put forward based on clinical studies. Upper limits of <8 mmol/L, <12 mmol/L and <6.1 mmol/L have all been cited as ideal thresholds (*50, 86, 124*). While some studies have shown tight glucose control reduces in-hospital mortality others have failed to confirm a mortality benefit with intensive insulin therapy among critically ill patients (*50, 124*).

A landmark trial conducted by Van den Berghe et al. (2001) reported reductions in hospital mortalities by 30% among critically ill patients receiving tight-glucose control therapy. Most pronounced survival benefits occurred in a subgroup of patients having sepsis and/or organ

failure (50). Few interventions in critically ill patients had met with this kind of success and consequently results of the Van den Berghe trial were enthusiastically incorporated into guidelines.

Several large study centres have since failed to replicate the mortality benefit seen in the Van den Berghe trial (125-128). A recent meta-analysis evaluating the benefits and risks of tight-glucose control in critically ill patients concluded a mortality benefit with this therapy but a greater incidence of associated hypoglycaemia (125). In fact hypoglycaemia represents a consistent finding among most trials.

The recently published Normoglycaemia in Intensive Care Evaluation —Survival Using Glucose Algorithm Regulation (NICE-SUGAR) study, which evaluated intensive insulin therapy as a mode of hyperglycaemia treatment in the ICU, reported 1580 deaths out of 6104 patients enrolled in the study. However this study included all patient types and not strictly those who received surgery (*123*). Griesdale and colleagues showed an intensive insulin therapy benefit for surgical patients and concluded that some, but not all patients should receive insulin therapy (*122*). Van den Berghe also reported more pronounced insulin therapy benefits for surgical patients in reducing organ failure and improving survival rate (*50, 126*).

Managing glucose control

Managing glucose control during surgery presents its own challenges. Cardiac surgeons have often described their difficulties in controlling blood glucose perioperatively and failure to do so can lead to complications such as infection, renal failure, need for ventilator support, longer ICU stays and increased morbidity and mortality rates (*50, 54-57*). For example in one study 40% of patients undergoing a cardiopulmonary bypass needed treatment for hypoglycaemia (3.3)

mmol/L) in the cardiac ICU after surgery despite receiving tight-glucose therapy during the operation (56).

Because patients can't communicate the early warning signs of hypoglycaemia while under anaesthesia (headache, lack of concentration, tremor, muscle weakness, visual disturbances, hunger, sweating, irritation) blood glucose levels must be checked frequently, and dextrose infusion administered immediately when hypoglycaemia is detected. Most anaesthesiologists administer dextrose when blood glucose levels decrease below 3.3 mmol/L (60 mg/dL) (55).

Infusion protocols used in the operating room are complex, labour intensive and can be distracting to the anaesthesiologist. Patient welfare may therefore be compromised during complicated surgery as result of the attention required to administer tight-glucose control therapy (54, 55, 58). Commonly used protocols used for controlling glucose during cardiac surgery include the Portland protocol (automated continuous intravenous insulin) and the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp technique (54, 58). Both are effective at maintaining glucose at reasonable levels.

Administration of IV insulin for glucose maintenance also runs the risk of causing hypokalemia since potassium is transported intracellularly with glucose and insulin. Therefore, it is important to check serum potassium concentrations when providing insulin, both during and after surgery (55).

XVIII. Benefits of insulin therapy

Early studies on the use of insulin therapy in surgical patients focussed on its metabolic effects such as increasing cardiac, hepatic and muscle glycogen content and inhibiting lipolysis in the adipose tissue with associated release of free fatty acids and adiponectine. More recent evidence has since emerged suggesting that insulin protects the organ by counteracting the inflammatory response following injury (*129, 130*). While onset of hyperglycaemia post surgery induces the release of proinflammatory cytokines TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-18, insulin significantly lowers these cytokines. Enhanced production of IL-2 and IL-4 needed for combating the IL-1/TNF- α proinflammatory pathway was observed in an animal study that looked at the effect of insulin in systemic inflammation (*49, 131*). Insulin is also a well known inhibitor of glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β) involved in glucose regulation. Blocking the action of (GSK-3 β) with a potent and selective inhibitor exerted a protective effect in rats undergoing surgical procedures (*132*).

A pilot study aimed at maintaining normoglycaemia during cardiac surgery using a hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp (HNC) technique was conducted in 2004 (*54, 86*). Patients received a fixed calculated IV insulin infusion based on body weight. Intravenous dextrose, adjusted according to blood glucose levels, was given to maintain normoglycaemia during the protocol. The investigators hypothesized that the HNC method would preserve normoglycaemia during open-heart surgery requiring a cardiopulmonary bypass. Favourable glucose regulation was achieved in a predictable and reliable fashion perioperatively; but implementing the clamp technique proved to be labour intensive. No conclusion was made about the benefits of perioperative tight-glucose control in reducing morbidities in patients undergoing

cardiac surgery during this study. Three years later the same team evaluated the benefits of using the clamp technique during elective coronary bypass grafting in a randomized controlled setting. Patients receiving the fixed-dose insulin therapy experienced earlier metabolic recovery of the heart, better myocardial protection and functional recovery compared to the control group (*129*, *133*).

XIX. Classifying postoperative complications

Complications from surgery are defined as any deviation from the normal postoperative course. Dindo and colleagues proposed a general surgical complication classification system in 1992 that was later refined in 2004, and more recently validated as a reliable tool (*134, 135*). Their goal was to find a simple, reproducible, flexible, and general rating system applicable to all cultural backgrounds (*18, 134*). The method differentiates negative surgical outcomes into 3 classes including complications, failure to cure and sequelae (after effect of surgery). The classification system consists of 5 severity grades: Grade 1 is any deviation from normal postoperative course, Grade 2 means requiring pharmacological treatment, Grade 3 means requiring surgical intervention, Grade 4 is associated with life threatening complications and Grade 5 refers to death of a patient (*134*).

Hepatic surgery has a high incidence of complications when compared to other types of visceral operations. This bias hasn't changed despite improvements in liver surgery. According to published figures, operative mortality and morbidity rates stand at 1% - 4% and 15% - 35%, respectively for standard resections. As well, postoperative complications affect the cost of patient care due to associated longer hospital stays and higher reoperative rates.

55

Dixon and colleagues recently evaluated the effect of postoperative complications on disease recurrence rates and overall survival in patients undergoing hepatic resection. They found that only 13% of patients experiencing postoperative morbidity survived 5-years disease free after surgery compared to 26% of patients without postoperative complications (P = 0.001) (*136*). Sepsis proved to be an independent predictor for disease-free and overall survival in this study. Number of tumours >8, presence of an inflammatory response to tumour and receiving a blood transfusion were other factors associated with poor prognosis for disease free survival (*136*).

Thesis Manuscript I-published

Hassanain M, Schricker T, Metrakos P, Carvalho G, Vrochides D, Lattermann R. Hepatic protection by peri-operative metabolic support? Nutrition. 2008 Jun 27: 1217-1219.

XX. Background for work in manuscript I

I started my PhD journey with a feasibility study where I looked at the practicality of applying the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp (HNC) based metabolic protocol in patients undergoing major liver resections. My rational for trying this protocol on liver surgical patients stems from the recent reported drop in postoperative complications when applying the clamp protocol following open cardiac surgery. The cardiac data revealed positive effects from the clamp in managing cardiac function and the systemic inflammatory response. In considering application of the protocol during liver resections, I predicted such therapy would improve liver glycogen storage and postoperative liver function (*50, 54, 129, 133*). My goal was to assess whether or not the protocol is safe, able to maintain normal glycaemia and can be applied postoperatively in patients undergoing major liver resections.

After obtaining the McGill University Health Center ethics board approval, we performed 5 consecutive major liver resections while using the metabolic protocol.

Patients were first introduced to the study at the outpatient clinic with help of the hepatobiliary treating surgeons. The research coordinator then obtained consent and applied the randomization process. We noticed during this pilot work that obtaining patient consent and applying randomization was more easily handled at the preoperative clinic. Using this approach has

helped us resolve issues related to patient's waiting time and space limitations and also gave patients more time to understand the protocol. After consenting, the intervention patients met with the study nutritionist to go over the diet regimen they should follow on the day prior to the operation. We decided to make this appointment during the week prior to the surgery as some patients forgot protocol details while others applied this protocol on all days pertaining to their operation.

As part of our protocol we also wanted to carry out a dietary recall of all meals taken prior to the surgery to standardize dietary intake. This step proved impractical for 2 reasons; first patients did not record all intakes, and second the dieticians encountered limited availability of time and space to meet with the controls at the recovery room on the day prior to surgery.

Performing the HNC protocol during the operation proceeded easily since the study team included 3 anaesthetists who are all experts in using the clamp protocol. The clamp team provided the clinical treatment during the operation, working independently from the anaesthesia team. Similarly, the study team assisted independently from the surgeons, by collecting tissue and blood samples, documenting all operative variables, and timing all events. Giving the study team responsibility for supervising patients once arrived at the operating room also facilitated standardization of both anaesthesia and surgery, and reduced opportunity for protocol violations. We noticed that application of the HNC postoperatively in either the critical care unit or recovery room went relatively smoothly. Nursing teams attended relevant educational sessions prior to the study and an on-call person from the clamp team remained available for questions. However, applying the HNC on the regular surgical floors required the help of a separate study nurse hired by the study team specifically for managing the clamp. We organized on-call, 8-hour shifts for study nurses to cover the intervention patients during the HNC after surgery.

Blood glucose levels were measured every 5–10 min in the operating room and every 30–60 min postoperatively while applying the HNC. The protocol was verified as both safe and effective at controlling blood glucose levels both during and after surgery. To our knowledge this represents the first time this protocol has been used successfully during the postoperative period. We have not published data from this trial. The study included one type II diabetic patient with controlled blood glucose levels prior to surgery.

The demographics of the selected patients and their mean glucose levels before, during and after surgery are listed in Tables 4 and 5, respectively.

Variables	Results
Sex male (%)	1 (20%)
BMI median	26.6 (19.0–30.0)
Number of resected liver segments	4 (3–6)
Duration of operation (hours)	3.35 (2.25–4.10)
Blood loss mL	1000 (500–1750)

Table 4: Demographics of the 5 Patients in the Feasibility Study

Data are expressed as n (%) or median (with range).

Table 5:	Glucose	Results	for P	atients	in the	e Feasi	ibility	y Study	y

Variables	Blood glucose (mmol/L)
Pre-operative levels	5.3 (4.7–10.1)
Intraoperative	5.2 (5.0-5.6)
Postoperative during the clamp	4.7 (3.5–4.8)
Postoperative 48 hours	6.7 (5.3–13.2)

Data are expressed as median (with range).

None of the study patients experienced severely high or low levels of blood glucose levels while on the protocol. No incidences of hypoglycaemia appeared in the period following cessation of the insulin therapy, as a possible consequence of prolonged insulin action.

As a next step in this feasibility study I applied this protocol on a patient undergoing a major hepatectomy who lost extensive hepatic tissue during the operation. This patient was a 63-year old Caucasian woman with hilar cholangiocarcinoma. An unexpected atrophic right lobe was discovered while performing a left hepatectomy. Events that transpired in the operating room led to almost 90% removal of the hepatic parenchyma. Effectively very little functioning liver remained and we expected she would succumb to acute liver failure. We applied the damage control principals during the operation and notified the family of her poor prognosis. The patient continued receiving the insulin infusion (HNC) treatment and had an unexpected outcome as detailed below.

XXI. Manuscript I text

HEPATIC PROTECTION BY PERI-OPERATIVE METABOLIC SUPPORT?

Mazen Hassanain MD¹, Thomas Schricker MD PhD², Peter Metrakos MD¹ George Carvalho MD², Dionisios Vrochides MD¹, Ralph Lattermann MD PhD²

¹ Department of Surgery, McGill University, Royal Victoria Hospital

² Department of Anaesthesia, McGill University, Royal Victoria Hospital

Corresponding author: Ralph Lattermann MD, PhD McGill University Health Centre, Department of Anaesthesia, Royal Victoria Hospital; 687 Pine Avenue West, Room S5.05, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3A 1A1.

Running head: Glucose/insulin therapy for hepatic surgery

Word count: 1585

Number of figures and tables: 1

Abstract

Objective: We report the case of a 63-y-old woman undergoing left hepatectomy for hilar cholangiocarcinoma who was at high risk of post-operative liver failure due to an atrophic right liver lobe. She participated in a randomized clinical trial investigating the effect of perioperative glucose infusion on hepatic function after major liver resection.

Methods: Intravenous glucose was initiated the night before the operation at 2 mg/kg/min. During and after the operation, glucose was administered together with a continuous insulin infusion until the first postoperative day. Post-operative liver function was assessed by the score proposed by Schindl, evaluating total serum bilirubin and plasma lactate concentrations, prothrombin time, and the grade of encephalopathy.

Results: The patient's liver dysfunction was classified as "mild" on postoperative day one as "none" on postoperative day two. Postoperative liver function scores were better than those observed in a control group of patients who underwent hepatic resection of similar magnitude without glucose/insulin therapy.

Conclusion: Perioperative glucose/insulin administration was associated with a surprisingly small deterioration of liver function after left lobe liver resection in the presence of an atrophic right lobe. A randomized clinical trial will have to determine whether glucose/insulin therapy can improve hepatic function after major liver resections.

Key words: surgery, liver resection, glucose, liver glycogen, liver function

Introduction

Advances in anaesthetic and surgical care have expanded the indications for major hepatectomy, i.e. the removal of three or more liver segments. Although this operation carries a relatively low mortality rate it is still associated with significant morbidity.^{1,2} Depending on the extent of the resection and the definition of liver dysfunction the incidence of postoperative liver failure ranges between 20 and 70%.^{2,3,4}

Low hepatic glycogen content, a consequence of preoperative fasting and surgical trauma, has been shown to limit the liver's capacity to regenerate in response to injury.^{5,6} Conversely, maintaining hepatic glycogen stores by providing intravenous glucose perioperatively improved surgical outcomes.^{5,7,8}

Case report

We describe a patient who underwent left hepatectomy for hilar cholangiocarcinoma and participated in a randomized clinical trial designed to study the effect of glucose infusion on hepatic function after major liver resection. Her clinical course was complicated by the unexpected finding of an atrophic right liver lobe during surgery leaving the patient with minimal vital liver tissue and a high risk of postoperative liver failure.

DB is a 63 year old, jaundiced Caucasian woman with a body mass index of 26 kg/m². She presented with severe jaundice and her blood tests showed: total bilirubin 386 µmol/L, alanine transaminase (ALT) 50 U/L, aspartate transaminase (AST) 55 U/L, international normalized ratio (INR) 1.17, and albumin 27 g/L. Renal function parameters and blood cell count were normal. A tri-phasic CT scan demonstrated evidence of intrahepatic duct dilatation with a cut-off sign the proximal common bile duct (CBD). The magnetic at resonance

cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) confirmed the presence of a proximal CBD mass with extension into the left duct system. An endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) revealed similar findings and a covered plastic stent was inserted. Four weeks later the patient's total bilirubin decreased to 46 µmol/L and she was scheduled for resection of the left hepatic and caudate lobe. The patient was consented to participate in a study on the effect of perioperative intravenous glucose administration on liver function after liver resection and was randomized to the treatment group. As per study protocol, on the day before surgery, she received three meals providing a total of 35 kcal/kg (60% carbohydrate, 20% protein, and 20% fat). At 20:00, continuous infusion of glucose 10% was initiated at a rate of 2 mg/kg/min. On arrival in the operating room, an epidural catheter was inserted at the thoracic level T6/7 and bilateral segmental sensory block was produced with bupivacaine 0.5%. After induction of general anaesthesia the glucose 10% solution was replaced by glucose 20% with potassium phosphate 30 mmol/L and intravenous insulin commenced at 2 mU/kg/min in order to avoid hyperglycaemia. Blood glucose was measured every 5-10 min and the glucose infusion rate was adjusted to maintain normoglycaemia, i.e. a blood glucose between 4 and 6 mmol/L.

The laparotomy did not reveal any evidence of distant metastasis. Porto-hepatic dissection was performed and the portal triad was identified. In accordance with the preoperative imaging results a small solid mass was palpated at the proximal CBD extending into the left duct system.

The decision was made to proceed with the planned procedure, i.e. resection of the left hepatic and caudate lobe. The left liver lobe was mobilized, and the left vascular inflow was taken down together with the adjacent lymphatic tissue. Thereafter, the CBD was resected just above the duodenum and portal lymph node dissection was carried out. This facilitated better examination of the proximal bile duct, which revealed cancer extension into the secondary radicals of the right system. There was no bile return from the right side and mucus discharge was noticed. The right liver lobe also appeared atrophic. It had to be concluded that the cancer was unresectable. The patient unfortunately had lost her functioning left liver lobe during prior dissection and the caudate lobe was the only vital segment. In light of the small amount of remaining viable liver tissue the surgical team considered urgent listing for liver transplantation, but decided to use the damage control principles. In order to minimize further trauma to the vital liver tissue, the bile ducts (anterior right and posterior right) were externally drained, the abdomen was packed open, and the patient was transferred intubated to the intensive care unit. The duration of surgery was three hours and fifty-five minutes. The estimated blood loss was 500 ml and a total of 4500 ml of crystalloid fluid was administered. The patient's relatives were informed of the high likelihood of liver failure and the potential urgent need of a liver transplant.

Epidural analgesia was maintained by the continuous infusion of bupivacaine 0.1% with fentanyl 3 μ g/mL at a rate of 8-12 mL/h. On arrival in the intensive care unit, the insulin infusion rate was reduced to 1 mU/kg/min and the glucose infusion adjusted accordingly to maintain normoglycaemia, i.e. blood glucose between 4 and 6 mmol/L. In the first two hours after the operation there was no bile production. ALT peaked to 472 U/L, AST 519 U/L, INR 1.17, lactate 1.4 mmol/L, total bilirubin 47 μ mol/L, alkaline phosphatase 233 U/L, and white blood cells (WBC) 13 x 10⁹/L. In the following eight hours 100 mL of bile were produced. After twelve hours the patient was extubated with no signs of encephalopathy. The ALT and AST were approximately 400 U/L, INR 1.59, lactate 1.5 mmol/L, total bilirubin 44.5 μ mol/L, alkaline phosphatase 218 U/L, and WBC 11.4 x 10⁹/L.

By the end of postoperative day one the glucose and insulin infusions were stopped, oral food intake was commenced and well tolerated. The total amount of glucose administered was 108 g before and 170 g during and after the operation.

On postoperative day three, 400 mL of bile were produced every 8 hours and there was no evidence of encephalopathy. ALT and AST were approximately 200 U/L, INR 1.13, normal lactate, total bilirubin of 27 μ mol/L, and WBC of 12 x 10⁹/L. The patient returned to the operating room for reconstruction of her bile duct system. The abdomen was closed and a drain was left at the anastomosis site.

By postoperative day 7, the patient had normal liver enzymes, normal coagulation profile, and a total bilirubin of 24 μ mol/L. The drain was removed on day 10 and the patient was discharged on day 15.

Discussion

The patient's postoperative liver function scores were better than those observed in a control group of patients who underwent hepatic resection of similar magnitude without receiving glucose/insulin therapy (table 1). This surprisingly uncomplicated recovery despite the minimal amount of remaining viable liver tissue lends further support to the hypothesis that the preoperative restoration of hepatic glycogen stores may prevent or attenuate hepatic dysfunction after extensive liver resection. Results from animal studies indicate that the preservation of hepatic glycogen increases the liver's tolerance to oxidative and ischemic stress.^{5,6,10,11,12} In perfused rat livers, hepatocyte integrity after continuous perfusion and warm ischemia was notably impaired in glycogen depleted animals compared to animals with preserved hepatic glycogen.⁵ Fasting was also associated with increased lipid peroxidation in response to liver

reperfusion which may contribute to the induction of organ failure.¹¹ Furthermore maintenance of hepatic glycogen content reduced the oxidative damage in both normal and fatty rat livers exposed to ischemia-reperfusion injury.¹² In fact, the extent of oxidative damage in mitochondria positively correlated with prolonged food deprivation. A beneficial effect of preserving hepatic glycogen has also been demonstrated in allogenic liver transplantation in humans as reflected in improved graft function.^{13,14}

The continuous infusion of insulin may have also contributed to the patient's remarkable clinical course. Insulin, especially when administered at higher doses, exerts non-metabolic effects including anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidative and cardioprotective effects with particular benefits for patients exposed to major surgical trauma.¹⁵

	Segments removed	6 h after surgery	POD 1	POD 2	POD 7
Patient DB	4	1	1	0	0
Control (n=5)	4.1	2.4 ±1.3	1.8 ± 1.9	1.6 ± 0.5	2.0 ± 2.8

 Table 1. Liver dysfunction score as proposed by Schindl et al. [3] in patient DB versus control

 patients*

Control, no metabolic therapy; POD, postoperative day. * Values are means \pm SDs. Severity of hepatic dysfunction as assessed by the score proposed by Schindl et al: 0, none;1–2, mild; 3–4, moderate; >4, severe.

It is of further interest to note that this patient received epidural anaesthesia during surgery followed by postoperative epidural analgesia using local anaesthetic. Neuraxial blockade has long been recognized to suppress the counterregulatory endocrine responses to abdominal surgery, thereby reducing glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis and facilitating the formation of hepatic glycogen.¹⁶

Conclusion

In conclusion, perioperative glucose/insulin administration was associated with an unexpectedly small deterioration of liver function after left lobe liver resection in the presence of an atrophic

right lobe. A large randomized clinical trial is necessary to determine whether glucose/insulin therapy can improve hepatic function after major liver resections.

References

1. Jarnagin WR, Gonen M, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Ben-Porat L, Little S et al. Improvement in perioperative outcome after hepatic resection: analysis of 1,803 consecutive cases over the past decade. Ann Surg 2002;236:397-406.

2. Mullen JT, Ribero D, Reddy SK, Donadon M, Zorzi D, Gautam S et al. Hepatic insufficiency and mortality in 1,059 noncirrhotic patients undergoing major hepatectomy. J Am Coll Surg 2007;204:854-62.

3. Schindl MJ, Redhead DN, Fearon KC, Garden OJ, Wigmore SJ. The value of residual liver volume as a predictor of hepatic dysfunction and infection after major liver resection. Gut 2005;54:289-96.

4. Yokoyama Y, Nagino M, Nimura Y. Mechanism of impaired hepatic regeneration in cholestatic liver. J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 2007;14:159-66.

5. Stadler M, Nuyens V, Seidel L, Albert A, Boogaerts JG. Effect of nutritional status on oxidative stress in an ex vivo perfused rat liver. Anaesthesiology 2005;103:978-86.

6. Caraceni P, Nardo B, Domenicali M, Turi P, Vici M, Simoncini M et al. Ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat fatty liver: role of nutritional status. Hepatology 1999;29:1139-46.

7. Nygren J, Thorell A, Ljungqvist O. Preoperative oral carbohydrate nutrition: an update. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care 2001;4:255-9. 8. Ljungqvist O, Nygren J, Thorell A. Modulation of post-operative insulin resistance by preoperative carbohydrate loading. Proc Nutr Soc 2002;61:329-36.

9. Cywes R, Greig PD, Sanabria JR, Clavien PA, Levy GA, Harvey PR et al. Effect of intraportal glucose infusion on hepatic glycogen content and degradation, and outcome of liver transplantation. Ann Surg 1992;216:235-46.

10. Astarcioglu I, Adam R, Gigou M, Isaac J, Bismuth H. High levels of glycogen in the donor liver improve survival after liver transplantation in rats. Transplant Proc 1991;23:2465-6.

11. Tanigawa K, Kim YM, Lancaster JR, Jr., Zar HA. Fasting augments lipid peroxidation during reperfusion after ischemia in the perfused rat liver. Crit Care Med 1999;27:401-6.

Domenicali M, Vendemiale G, Serviddio G, Grattagliano I, Pertosa AM, Nardo B, Principe A, Viola A, Trevisani F, Altomare E, Bernardi M, Caraceni P. Oxidative injury in rat fatty liver exposed to ischemia-reperfusion is modulated by nutritional status. Dig Liver Dis 2005;37:689-97.

13. Cywes R, Greig PD, Sanabria JR, Clavien PA, Levy GA, Harvey PR, Strasberg SM. Effect of intraportal glucose infusion on hepatic glycogen content and degradation, and outcome of liver transplantation. Ann Surg 1992;216:235-46.

14. Lanir A, Jenkins RL, Caldwell C, Lee RG, Khettry U, Clouse ME. Hepatic transplantation survival: correlation with adenine nucleotide level in donor liver. Hepatology 1988;8:471-5.

15. Schricker T, Carvalho G. Pro: tight peri-operative glycaemic control. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anaesth 2005;19:684-8.

16. Lattermann R, Carli F, Wykes L, Schricker T. Epidural blockade modifies peri-operative glucose production without affecting protein catabolism. Anaesthesiology 2002;97:374-81.

XXII. Transition to manuscript II

After the feasibility study we instituted a randomized-controlled trial (RCT) with two major objectives:

Objective 1

First we wanted to see if glucose and insulin administration while maintaining normoglycaemia using the HNC protocol coupled with preoperative carbohydrate loading could augment liver glycogen stores and improve postoperative liver function. For this part of the study we recruited 60 patients scheduled to undergo liver surgery. Patients were subdivided into 2 groups; receiving HNC (intervention) or receiving conventional insulin titration therapy (control). I measured the liver glycogen content of each patient from two separate liver biopsies taken intraoperatively and rated their liver function using a score generated by the method of Schindl et al (*23*). The preliminary results were reported as an oral presentation at the American Hepatobiliary Association (AHPBA) meeting.

1. HPB Abstract

HPB: The Official Journal of the International Hepato Pacreato Biliary Association, Feb2008 Supplement 2, Vol. 10 Issue s2, p1-27, 27p; DOI: 10.1080/13651820801953510; (*AN 31159626*) Subjects: CONGRESSES & conventions; FLORIDA; Convention and Trade Show Organizers; FORT Lauderdale (Fla.)
IMPROVING GLYCOGEN LIVER CONTENT IMPROVES POSTOPERATIVE LIVER FUNCTION IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING MAJOR LIVER RESECTIONS

M Hassanain, MD, R Lattermann, MD, G Carvalho, MD, H Karasek, B.Sc., H Molla, B.Sc., S Paglialunga, B.Sc., A Khankan, MBBS, D Valenti, MD, D Vrochides, MD, P Chaudhury, MD, T Schricker, MD, P Metrakos, MD McGill University, Montreal, PQ, Canada

Abstracts 47

Purpose. To prevent liver dysfunction after major hepatectomy

Design. Open-label clinical trial of 40 patients undergoing major hepatectomies (3 or more segments) for the treatment of malignancy randomized to peri-operative carbohydrate (CHO) load vs. standard care.

Method. Patients in the intervention-group (n=21) received high calorie, CHO rich meals the day before the operation (35 kcal/kg, 60% CHO) followed by intravenous dextrose 10% (2 mg/kg/h) for 16 hours until arrival at the operating theatre. Intraoperatively a hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp of 2 units/kg/min was initiated. At the end of the procedure the clamp was decreased to 1 unit/kg/min and continued until 16 hours post-operatively. Dextrose 20%, supplemented with 30 mmol/L potassium-phosphate was titrated to maintain blood glucose between 4 and 6 mmol/L. The control group received routine management: fasting from midnight until 16 hours after the operation. A blood glucose level above 10 mmol/L was treated with intravenous insulin as per standard sliding scale. The preoperative preparation, intra and postoperative management, including pain control were standardized. Glycogen content in liver

tissue was measured upon exposure of the liver and prior to closure of the fascia. Postoperative liver function was compared using the Schindl functional score (lactic acid, total bilirubin, INR, and encephalopathy).

Results. There were no significant differences between groups in body mass index, percentage of residual liver volume, operative duration, intraoperative blood loss, intraoperative fluid therapy, timing of both liver biopsies, grade of steatohepatitis and fibrosis, the duration of inflow occlusion when performed, pre-operative portal embolization, underlying pathology, and the preoperative liver function tests. The intervention group patients were older 54.2 ± 9.4 vs. 63.8 ± 14.6 (P=0.01) and had a lower average blood glucose level 7.5 ± 0.8 vs. 5.8 ± 0.5 mmol/L (P<0.001). The initial liver glycogen content was 238.5 ± 94.3 in the control group vs. 380.7 ± 114.4 mmol/kg in the intervention group (P=0.003), and after hepatectomy it was 178.7 ± 46.3 vs. 305 ± 125.6 mmol/kg (P=0.009). Schindl functional scores in the control group ranged from 1 to 7 and from 0 to 4 in the intervention group (P=0.02).

Conclusion. Elevated liver glycogen content achieved by perioperative CHO loading is associated with a lower rate and severity of postoperative liver dysfunction. This may result in an improved post-operative morbidity.

Objective 2

Given the most recent publications questioning the benefit of protocols targeting strict blood glucose control and warning of the potential risk of increased mortality due to hypoglycaemia we wanted to be sure that insulin infusion using the HNC protocol is safe and achieves strict glucose control when compared to routine sliding scale management. Therefore, the second objective of this study was to see if insulin infusion in the form of HNC therapy could maintain normoglycaemia in patients undergoing a hepatectomy without the increased risk of hypoglycaemia, in a randomized-controlled trial setting. A total of 56 patients divided into intervention and control groups were given either insulin infusion (intervention) or standard therapy (control) during and after surgery. We looked at fluctuations in glycaemia between readings taken at 30–60 min or 10–15 min intervals for standard and insulin infusion patients, respectively and compared intra- and postoperative glucose levels. The data was further segregated based on the presence or absence of diabetes mellitus (*137*).

In this trial there were no significant differences in the characteristics of the two study groups. Seven patients in each group had type 2 diabetes mellitus. A total of 268 plasma potassium levels and 1719 blood glucose levels were recorded, 422 during surgery and 1297 in the ICU.

In the control group the mean blood glucose gradually increased during surgery in non-diabetic patients and remained high in the ICU at approximately 9.0 mmol/L (P=0.029) (Figs. 4 and 6). Diabetic patients showed a mean blood glucose concentration above 8.0 mmol/L before surgery. Glycaemia slightly increased to 10.0 mmol/L toward the end of surgery (P=0.102) and remained between 9.0 and 12.0 mmol/L in the ICU (Figs. 5 and 7).

The mean blood glucose in the HNC therapy group always remained within the normoglycaemic target range. Blood glucose levels were lower during and after surgery [during surgery, P=0.003 in non-diabetics (Fig. 4), P=0.002 in diabetics (Fig. 5); after surgery, P<0.001 (Figs. 6 and 7)].

The oscillation of blood glucose was smaller in the HNC therapy group as compared to the control therapy group (SD, P=0.046 in non-diabetics; P=0.050 in diabetics during surgery.). This

was especially pronounced in non-diabetic patients after surgery (SD, P<0.001; CV, P=0.027).



Figure 4: Time dependence of intraoperative blood glucose concentrations in non-diabetic patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration \pm SD (mmol/L).

With permission: Sato, H., Lattermann, R., Carvalho, G., Sato, T., Metrakos, P., Hassanain, M., Matsukawa, T., and Schricker, T. (2010) Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection, *Anesth Analg 110*, 1711-1718. Figure 5: Time dependence of intraoperative blood glucose concentrations in diabetic patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration \pm SD (mmol/L)



With permission: Sato, H., Lattermann, R., Carvalho, G., Sato, T., Metrakos, P., Hassanain, M., Matsukawa, T., and Schricker, T. (2010) Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection, *Anesth Analg 110*, 1711-1718.



Figure 6: Time dependence of postoperative blood glucose concentrations in non-diabetic patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration \pm SD (mmol/L).

With permission: Sato, H., Lattermann, R., Carvalho, G., Sato, T., Metrakos, P., Hassanain, M., Matsukawa, T., and Schricker, T. (2010) Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection, *Anesth Analg 110*, 1711-1718.



Figure 7: Time dependence of postoperative blood glucose concentrations in diabetic patients. Data are mean blood glucose concentration \pm SD (mmol/L).

Based on these results we concluded that major liver resection is associated with a moderate to severe hyperglycaemic response. We also demonstrated that insulin therapy given with the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic technique in safe for patients undergoing major liver resections with minimal (almost nil) risk of developing severe hypoglycaemia. This work has encouraged us to proceed with the clinical trial whereby we examined the effect of this therapy on the clinical outcomes of patients undergoing major liver resections.

With permission: Sato, H., Lattermann, R., Carvalho, G., Sato, T., Metrakos, P., Hassanain, M., Matsukawa, T., and Schricker, T. (2010) Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection, *Anesth Analg* 110, 1711-1718.

Thesis Manuscript II-submitted

INSULIN THERAPY IMPROVES LIVER FUNCTION AND REDUCES COMPLICATIONS IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING MAJOR LIVER SURGERY

Mazen Hassanain, Peter Metrakos, Alexander Fisette, Suhail A. R. Doi, Ayat Salmon, Prosanto Chaudhury, Thomas Schricker, Ralph Lattermann, George Carvalho, Chris Dey, Linda Wykes, Evan Nitschmann and Katherine Cianflone

XXIII. Background for work in manuscript II

Given the fact that insulin infusion can maintain strict normoglycaemia during and immediately after liver resections, and that preoperative carbohydrate load can augment liver glycogen content and improve liver function, we wanted to test the influence of such a metabolic support protocol in affording stronger clinical outcomes. The third aim of my research was thus to verify if the metabolic support protocol would reduce postoperative adverse events. We continued the random-controlled trial this time recruiting 60 consenting patients >18 years. Selection was based on sample size calculations obtained from our previous preliminary results.

The randomized clinical trial was designed as an open-label trial. Blinding of the intervention was discussed at length with involved clinicians. We determined that it would be impossible for us to blind therapy to either the investigators or to the patient. Instead, we established

independent study and treating teams, standardized most steps to both groups, used common pathways for postoperative course, organized an autopilot method to collect data, and reviewed all results with an independent study coordinator for accuracy. Analyses of postoperative complications were segregated into different categories including infectious vs. noninfectious, and severity as per the Clavien score. The results were collated into manuscript II and submitted for publication to the Annals of Surgery Journal.

XXIV. Manuscript II text

INSULIN THERAPY IMPROVES LIVER FUNCTION AND REDUCES COMPLICATION RATES IN PATIENTS UNDERGOING MAJOR LIVER RESECTIONS

Mazen Hassanain^{ab}, Peter Metrakos^{ab*}, Alexander Fisette^c, Suhail A. R. Doi^d, Ayat Salman^b, Prosanto Chaudhury^a Thomas Schricker^e, Ralph Lattermann^e, George Carvalho^e, Chris Dey^f, Linda Wykes^g, Evan Nitschmann^g, Haneen Molla^g, and Katherine Cianflone^c

^aDepartment^{*} of Surgery, Royal Victoria Hospital, McGill University Health Center, Montreal Canada.

^bDepartment of Surgery, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

^cDepartment of Biochemistry, University of Laval, Quebec, Canada.

^dClinical Epidemiology Unit, School of Population Health, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia.

^eDepartment of Anaesthesia , McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada.

^fDepartment of Radiology, McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada.

^gSchool of Dietetic and Human Nutrition, McGill University, Montreal, Canada.

*Correspondence to: Dr. Peter Metrakos, Department of Surgery, Royal Victoria Hospital, 687 Pine Ave. West, Rm. C520, Montreal, QC, Canada H3A 1A1.

e-mail: peter.metrakos@muhc.mcgill.ca

tel. (514) 843-1600

fax (514) 843-1503

This research is supported by grants from the McGill University Health Center - Research Institute, Montreal, Canada.

Trial Registration Clinicaltrial.gov Identifier: NCT00774098.

Author Affiliations: Royal Victoria Hospital, McGill University Health Center, Montreal Canada: Department of Surgery (Drs. Hassanain, Metrakos, and Chaudhury and Ms. Salman); Department of Anesthesia (Drs. Schricker, Lattermann, and Carvalho); Department of Radiology (Dr. Dey); School of Dietetic and Human Nutrition, McGill University, Montreal, Canada (Dr. Wykes, Mr. Nitschmann, and Ms. Molla); Department of Surgery, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia (Drs. Hassanain and Metrakos); Department of Biochemistry, University of Laval, Quebec, Canada (Dr. Cianflone and Mr. Fisette) and Clinical Epidemiology Unit, School of Population Health, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia (Dr. Doi).

Author Contributions: Drs. Hassanain and Metrakos conjured up the rational for the study and are responsible for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study concept and design: Drs. Hassanain, Metrakos, Cianflone and Schricker.

Data acquisition and Manuscript contribution:

Surgical and clinical data: Drs. Chaudhury and Hassanain, and Ms. Salman

Nutrition protocol: Ms. Molla and Dr. Wykes

Glucose insulin clamp: Drs. Schricker, Lattermann, and Carvalho

Cytokine assays: Mr. Nitschmann and Dr. Wykes

Liver glycogen analysis: Mr. Fisette and Dr. Cianflone

Liver volume calculations: Dr. Dey

Statistical analyses including the performance of the principal component analysis: Dr. Doi

Interpretation of data: Drs. Hassanain, Metrakos, Cianflone, and Doi; and Mr. Fisette.

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Drs. Chaudhury, Schricker, and Cianflone

Obtained funding: Drs. Metrakos and Hassanain

Study supervision: Dr. Metrakos

Writing assistance: Dr. Katharine Carpenter

No conflict of interest (applied to all investigators/authors)

Financial Disclosures: none

Funding/Support: This trial was funded by grants from the McGill University Health Center Research Institute and King Saud University Research Institute. Role of the Sponsors: The centers providing financial support for this trial had no role in the design and conduct of the study; interpretation of the data; or preparation of the manuscript.

Additional Contributions: We gratefully acknowledge valuable contributions from the Department of Clinical Nutrition at the McGill University Health Center, Montreal Canada.

ABSTRACT

Background: Liver resection currently represents the only curative option for patients with hepatic malignancies. Postoperative liver dysfunction is the major source of morbidity and mortality associated with these patients. In this study we test the benefits of a metabolic support protocol based on insulin infusion for reducing postoperative liver dysfunction and complications following major hepatic resection.

Method: Consecutive consenting patients requiring major liver resection were randomized to receive preoperative carbohydrate loading followed by intra and postoperative insulin therapy using the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp protocol (intervention group) or standard therapy (control group). In the intervention group patients followed a strict dietary regimen for the 24 hours leading to surgery. Intravenous dextrose infusion was started at a rate of 2 mg/kg/min the night before and continued until the time of operation. Initiation of hyperinsulinemic therapy at 2 mU/kg/min coincided with induction of anaesthesia then continued postoperatively at 1 mU/kg/min for 24 hours. Patients were given dextrose to maintain normoglycaemia (65-110 mg/dL). The control group fasted from midnight and received a conventional insulin sliding scale during and after surgery.

Results: We studied 60 patients. Patients were similar when comparing their demographic data. The intervention patients showed a significant increase in both liver glycogen content and liver function. Liver glycogen content measured from tissue biopsies taken initially during surgery was 430 (188-723) and 278 (48-620) mmol/kg for intervention and control patients respectively. Liver dysfunction scores were better for intervention patients ranging from 2-8 in the control group and 0-4 in the intervention group. Multivariate analysis revealed a significant reduction in overall complications and in postoperative infections in the intervention group. The incidence of any complication decreased from 26% in the control group to 17% for the intervention patients. Overall infection rates were 14% and 8% in intervention and control groups, respectively. None of the intervention group patients experienced a very high (>180 mg/dL) or very low (<40 mg/dL) blood glucose level. Several patients in the control group had either very low (36 mg/dL; n=1) or high (mean 207 (185-270) mg/dL; n=7) blood glucose readings. There were no mortalities in either group.

Conclusions: The glucose/insulin protocol improves liver glycogen content, and reduces postoperative liver dysfunction and overall complications in liver resection patients. It is safe and can be easily applied at a step-down setting

Keywords: liver resection, liver dysfunction, insulin therapy, postoperative complications

INTRODUCTION

Background

Liver resection (LR) is the only treatment of colorectal cancer liver metastasis (CRCLM) and other hepatic malignancies that can provide long-term survival and cure in selected patients.¹⁻³ As a result of improved imaging, better perioperative care and more effective chemotherapy

there has been an increase in liver resections. If the future liver remnant (FLR) left behind after a complete oncologic LR is judged adequate to sustain life then patients are considered resectable.

Overall operative mortality from LR has dropped to $\leq 2\%$ for routine and about 7% for the complex LRs, resepectively.⁴⁻⁵ However, morbidity rates remain high (17%–55%) and more than 80% of these are infections.^{4, 6-9} Postoperative liver dysfunction (POLD) is of particular concern as it occurs in 20%–70% of patients (Table S8). POLD and related disturbances in the metabolic and immune body systems correlates linearly with postoperative morbidity.^{6, 9-12}

While strategies used to improve the volume of the FLR have been exploited, little has been done to protect and/or enhance FLR functional quality. In fact, liver quality has deteriorated because of the rising incidence of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease ¹³ and the increased use of preoperative chemotherapy. ^{2, 14-16} If we can improve the function of the FLR then more patients will receive the benefits of LR with acceptable morbidity rates.

Perioperative fasting combined with the operative stress response promotes insulin resistance that diminishes liver glycogen, releases free fatty acids and promotes hyperglycemia.¹⁷⁻¹⁸ Studies have confirmed that there is a rapid and profound transition in glucose concentration during LR.¹⁷ Evidence suggests that such hyperglycemia in surgical patients is both a marker and a cause of adverse outcomes for diabetic and non-diabetic patients alike.¹⁹⁻²⁰ Tight-glucose control reduces postoperative morbidity, but may also increase hypoglycemic episodes and associated

risk of mortality.²¹ The hyperinsulinemic normoglycemic reduces these effects and furthermore, is proven safe and effective in achieving tight perioperative-glucose control.²² In this protocol patients receive a fixed intravenous (IV) insulin infusion based on body weight. An IV dextrose drip, titrated to blood glucose readings maintains the targeted blood glucose level.^{19, 22}

Objectives

In the present study we carry out a randomized-controlled trial of patients undergoing major liver resections, comparing a novel metabolic support protocol that consists of preoperative carbohydrate loading followed by a hyperinsulinemic normoglycemic clamp to standard perioperative management of glucose. The primary objective of this study is to determine if preoperative carbohydrate loading and perioperative insulin therapy can augment liver glycogen content and decrease postoperative liver dysfunction. The secondary objective is to determine if this metabolic support decreases postoperative complications.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

With the approval of the McGill University Health Center's (MUHC) ethics board we performed an open-label randomized-controlled trial that included all adult (>18 years old) patients scheduled for a major LR (\geq 3 liver segments) between June 2007 and September 2009. The study is registered at clinicaltrial.gov NCT00774098. Exclusion criteria included all patients with type 1 Diabetes Mellitus, uncontrolled blood glucose levels (fasting level >180 mg/dL), known chronic liver disease (Child-Pugh B or C) or renal failure (need for dialysis), patients with significant anemia (<10 g/dL), patients on oral beta-blockers, calcium-channel blockers, or acetylsalicylic acid, or patients undergoing a simultaneous resection of other viscera.

Interventions

Fluid and Insulin Management

Control group

Patients were NPO from midnight onward except for water and medications. IV normal saline (NS 0.9%) infusion was started just before anaesthetic induction, and titrated to hemodynamic parameters and urine output. Arterial-blood glucose levels were checked at induction, and every 30 min thereafter with an Accu-Chek® glucose monitor (Roche Diagnostics, Switzerland). A blood glucose level above 110 mg/dL was treated with a 2U bolus of IV insulin (Humulin® R regular insulin, Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN) followed by a 1 U/hour drip infusion adjusted according to a standard sliding scale.²³ Patients were cared for in a step-down unit for the first 24 hours (Table S1).

Intervention group

Intervention patients were instructed by a clinical dietician to follow a clearly written dietary regimen on the day (24 hours) prior to surgery. The three meals were composed of food elements

tailored to each patient. The meals provided 35 kcal/kg (ideal body weight) of which 60% was carbohydrate, 20% fat, and 20% protein. Meals were spaced 5-hours apart, and patients ate their last meal at 7 pm.²³ Compliance was checked by the study dietician. Patients who failed to complete their diet as instructed were requested at the clinical dietician's discretion to compensate with food supplements at suppertime. At 8 pm, patients began receiving IV dextrose 10% (D10W®) infused at a rate of 2 mg/kg/min (ideal body weight). Blood glucose levels were checked every 3 hours during the dextrose infusion. Subcutaneous insulin (Humulin® R regular insulin, Eli Lilly and Company, Indianapolis, IN) was administered when needed to maintain blood glucose between 72–180 mg/dL as per a sliding scale. In the operating room, the blood glucose level was checked after the insertion of the epidural catheter and prior to intubation. A 2U bolus of IV insulin was given if blood glucose level is higher then 110 mg/dL, followed by an IV infusion of 2 mU/kg/min (0.12 U/kg/hour). Dextrose 20% (D20W®) was started when arterial-blood glucose levels fell below 110 mg/dL and then was titrated to maintain blood glucose between 63–110 mg/dL. Blood glucose levels were measured at 5–10 min intervals with an Accu-Chek® glucose monitor (Roche Diagnostics, Switzerland) to ensure euglycemia. Caution was exercised at the time of parenchymal transection and during transfusion of blood products. Following surgery, the insulin infusion was reduced to 1 mU/kg/min (0.06 U/kg/hour) and continued at the step-down unit to complete the 24 hours of insulin therapy. After the operation, the arterial blood glucose level was checked every 60 min and the dextrose infusion was adjusted as per a given sliding scale.²³ In the event that an intervention patient received a blood product, the blood glucose level was checked every 30 min during the transfusion. After 24 hours, the insulin therapy was stopped and the dextrose infusion was weaned off over 30 min.

Diabetic patients resumed their preoperative treatment. Normal saline (NS 0.9%) infusion was given and adjusted to hemodynamic parameters and urine output (Tables S2, 3, 4).

Operative Details and Liver Samples

All patients received preoperative antibiotic and anti-thrombosis prophylaxis. Diabetic patients on oral hypoglycemics were asked to discontinue their therapy 24 hours prior to surgery, and those on insulin were asked to omit their evening dose. Anaesthesia induction and maintenance, including the use of epidural analgesia, were according to standard protocols.23 Phenylephrin was given to patients with low intraoperative blood pressure. Perioperative steroid and dextrose containing solutions were not used.

The first liver biopsy (300 mg) was taken with a knife from the FLR after completion of the liver mobilization and the intraoperative ultrasound but prior to parenchymal transection. The transection was performed with the ERBE Helix Hydro-Jet®, locking plastic clips and Endo-GIA staplers. Vascular inflow occlusion was rarely employed and only for hilar lesions. A second liver sample (300 mg) was taken after completing the resection, again from the FLR. The time of sample collection was documented relative to the time of skin incision.

Liver samples were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen within 5 min of procurement and stored at -80 °C until processed. Glycogen content in the liver sample was determined by subjecting it to acid

hydrolysis with 1 M HCl at 100 °C for 3 hours, neutralizing the extracts with 2M TRIS-KOH then assaying the supernatant for glucose using a Glucose Assay Kit (Sigma®).

Postoperative Clinical Pathway

Patients were given clear liquids on their first postoperative day, followed with regular diet within 24 hours as tolerated. Normal Saline (NS 0.9%®) was used for IV hydration in the first 24 hours until tolerance of oral intake. Patients were discharged when tolerating a solid diet and not requiring nursing assistance. Drains were removed on postoperative day 2 unless a bile leak was detected in which case removal was delayed until the leak stopped.

Assessments and tests

Serum and plasma samples were taken immediately preceding skin incision, just prior to parenchymal transection, after abdominal closure, and 24 hours after surgery. The arterial lactic acid, base deficit, venous insulin glucagon, and human IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, MCP-1 and TNF- α were measured from these samples. Cytokines were analyzed by suspension bead array immunoassay using a Luminex 200 X-map instrument (Luminex Corp, Austin, TX, USA). The cytokines were measured using a Milliplex human cytokine kit following manufacturer's specifications (MPXHCYTO-60k, Millipore Corp, Bilerica, MA, USA). All samples were measured in duplicate and the kit had a sensitivity of 0.4 pg/ml.

Additional samples were taken at 30 days before surgery (or at least three weeks after their last cycle of chemotherapy, in patients receiving preoperative therapy), and 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h, 72

h, 7 days and 30 days postoperatively to monitor complete blood count, liver enzymes and function test, coagulation profile, albumin, fibrinogen, pre-albumin, electrolytes, fasting serum blood glucose, renal function, CRP (C-reactive protein), and cortisol levels. A liver volumetric analysis was performed on all patients with a triphasic CT-scan at least 6 weeks prior to surgery or 3–4 weeks after a portal vein embolization. Standardized total liver volume (TLV) and future liver remnant (sFLR) were calculated.²⁴

Definitions of outcomes

Liver glycogen measured from liver biopsies as described above, and expressed as μ moles of glucose per gram (g) of liver wet weight. Postoperative liver function was scored using the system developed by Schindl et al.²⁵ This system grades liver dysfunction according to the levels of lactic acid, total bilirubin, INR and encephalopathy (Table S5). Total scores of 0, 1–2, 3–4, or >4 are used to classify liver dysfunction as absent, mild, moderate or severe, respectively.^{9, 25} Surgical morbidity in the 30 days following the operation were ranked as per Clavien (Dindo et al).²⁶ Morbidities were classified as either infectious or non-infectious (Table S6).

Sample Size

Using 30 patients in each group with an alpha error of 0.05 and an absolute reduction of 35% from an average of 70% of total moderate and sever liver dysfunction (relative reduction of 50%) will achieve at least 80% power for 2 means of proportion as calculated by nQuery advisor 6.01

program. At McGill 80 major liver resections are done per year, and so we anticipate the need of 2 years to complete this study

Randomization

Randomization was carried out with the assistance of an independent randomization center blinded to the study and orchestrated by the study coordinator, after obtaining consent. The surgical team was not involved in the randomization process.

The study coordinator collected and stored all data. Data collection and accuracy were double checked by an independent clinical research assistant. All demographics, operative data, and postoperative variables including glucose levels, degree of hepatic steatosis, steatohepatitis and fibrosis, complications, and divergence from the postoperative care pathway were collected prospectively.

Statistics

The data were expressed as means \pm SD or medians and range if not normally distributed. Demographic, operative and postoperative variables were compared using the unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for continuous data. Proportions were compared by the Chi-square or Fisher Exact tests.

Since a large number of study variables were collected (174) we applied the principle component analysis (PCA) method of multivariate analysis to reduce the 174 study variables to a smaller set of uncorrelated variables that capture most of the information (variance) in the original data. Missing values were replaced with the mean. The PCs were rotated using an orthogonal rotation - varimax normalized. We retained only components that extracted at least as much variance as the equivalent of 5 original variables (eigenvalues greater than or equal to 5). Sample factor scores (values) for each component were saved and used in a subsequent logistic regression analysis.

A P-value less than or equal to 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were done using the Statistica version 9 statistical package.

RESULTS

Sixty of the 70 patients assessed for eligibility were randomized to the protocol including 31 patients in the insulin therapy group (intervention group) and 29 patients in the control group. We excluded 4 patients: 1 patient was unresectable and 3 had protocol violations; 2 intervention patients didn't receive their preoperative IV treatment due to hospital bed shortage, and 1 control patient received IV steroid at induction (figure 1). There was no significant difference in patient demographic, preoperative and operative data between the 2 groups (Table 1).

Figure 1: Patient distribution. Seventy patients were assessed for eligibility for the study and 60 were randomized. After randomization, 4 patients were excluded, 1 for unresectable disease and 3 for protocol violations.



Variables	Control group	Intervention	<i>P</i> -value
		group	
Age (years)	55.5	64.0	0.09
Gender (males, n %)	16 (59)	12 (41)	0.17
Diabetes Mellitus, n (%)	7 (26)	7 (24)	0.26
Hypertension, n (%)	3 (11)	7 (24)	0.20
Heart disease, n (%)	0.0 (0.0)	3.0 (10.3)	0.086
Hyperlipidemia, n (%)	1.0 (3.7)	2.0 (6.8)	0.59
Body mass index kg/m2	26.5 (19.6–35.2)	25.5 (18.8–30.8)	0.94
Baseline lactic acid (mmol/L)	0.8 (0.4–1.9)	0.6 (0.1–1.4)	0.84
Baseline total bilirubin (µmol/L)	15.0 (7.5-121.0)	13.0 (8.0–133.0)	0.83
Baseline INR	1.0 (0.9–1.9)	1.0 (0.9–1.9)	0.37
Baseline creatinine (µmol/L)	73 (53–117)	72 (45–117)	0.55

Table 1: a) General Demographics and Preoperative Characteristics of Patients in Control and

 Intervention Groups

Data are expressed as n (%) or median (with range).

Characteristics	Control group	Intervention group	<i>P</i> -value
Rehepatectomy, n (%)	3 (11)	6 (20.6)	0.33
Trisegmentectomy, n (%)	6 (22)	11 (38)	0.20
Duration of NPO (hours)	13.5 (8.5–21.0)	12.0 (9.0–18.0)	0.26
Number of segments resected	4 (3–5)	4 (3–6)	0.49
Total liver volume (ml)	1623 (1064–2082)	1626 (1013–213)	0.06
Standardized FLR (%)	44 (21–84)	39 (17–88)	0.92
OR duration (hours)	3.0 (2.3-6.0)	3.0 (1.5–7.0)	0.44
Number of pringles	1.0 ± 3.7	3.0 ± 10.3	
Pringles duration (min)	18.00 ± 6.02	19.00 ± 5.32	0.76
Blood loss (ml)	1425 (500–5325)	1155 (400–3400)	0.11
Blood transfusion, <i>n</i> (%)	11.0 (40.7)	12.0 (41.4)	0.97
Blood transfusion (unit)	0 (0-8)	0 (0-4)	0.72
Crystalloid (L)	3.0 (1.0-6.0)	3.0 (0.5–5.5)	0.15
Colloid (L)	1.0 (0.0–1.5)	1.0 (0.0–1.0)	0.80
Fibrosis grade (0–4)	0.0 (0.0-4.0)	0.0 (0.0-3.0)	0.26
Steatohepatitis grade (0-8)	0.0 (0.0-4.0)	0.0 (0.0-2.0)	0.44

Table 1: b) Operative Characteristics of Patients in Control and Intervention Groups

Data are expressed as n (%) or median (with range).

Primary outcomes

Measurements relating to the study's primary outcome are summarized in Figures 2 and 3 (Table S6). Patients on our protocol had increased liver glycogen content before and after resection compared to the control patients (430 (188-722) and 306 (37-580) vs. 278 (48-620) and 187 (83-255) mmol/kg, P-value of 0.01 and 0.005 respectively) and demonstrated less POLD according to Schindl Scores, 2 (0-4) vs. 3 (2-8), P-value of 0.03 (Figures 2 and 3). Sample timing and other tissue analyses did not reveal any significant difference.

Figure 2: Quantile box plots for liver function score (Schindl et al) of patients in control and intervention groups (P=0.02).





b) Post-hepatectomy liver glycogen

Figure 3: Quantile box plots for liver function score (Schindl et al) of patients in control and intervention groups (*P*=0.02).



Secondary outcomes

Our protocol achieved a significant reduction in overall complications and in postoperative infections. The rate of overall complication events decreased from 26 in 27 patients to 18 in 29 patients in control and intervention groups, respectively. Infections Clavien grade 2 or higher occurred in 26% of patients in the control group and 3.4% in the intervention group. There was no mortality in either group (Table S7).

Blood glucose

Patients had statistically lower blood glucose levels while receiving insulin therapy, (Table 2). The statistical difference persisted regardless of whether the patient was diabetic or not.²³ The

intervention group patients reached targeted blood glucose levels more often and experienced fewer fluctuations compared to the control group, P=0.03 and 0.04 respectively.²³

Blood Glucose level	Control	Intervention	<i>P</i> -value
mmol/L			
At baseline	5.4 (4.2–15.0)	5.5 (3.8–9.3)	0.17
Prior to surgery	6.3 (4.2–14.7)	6.2 (4.0–10.0)	0.51
Intra-operative	7.5 (5.4–13.7)	4.5 (2.3–7.9)	< 0.001
Post-operative 48 hours	6.7 (4.0–9.0)	6.6 (4.3–14.5)	0.12
Post-operative 7 days	5.2 (4.0–10.0)	6.4 (4.5–11.0)	0.41
Post-operative 30 days	6.0 (4.5–12.7)	5.3 (3.0–11.0)	0.13

d Glucose Level Comparison at Different Time In	Intervals
d Glucose Level Comparison at Different Time I	Interv

Data are expressed as median (with ranges).

Blood glucose levels measured at baseline, prior to surgery; and at 48 hours, 7 days, and 1 month post surgery were statistically similar between the 2 groups. None of the intervention group patients experienced a very high (>180 mg/dL) or very low (<40 mg/dL) blood glucose level. One patient in the control group developed a very low (36 mg/dL) level. There were 7 other control patients with at least 10 high blood glucose readings (mean 207 (185–270) mg/dL).

Multivariate analysis

PCA extracted 10 components from the data. The proportion of variance accounted for by these factors was approximately 52%. Of these 10 components, only PC1, PC3, PC6 and PC9 were determined to be independently associated with study intervention, infection or complications via logistic regression analysis (Table 3). The beta coefficients indicate the relative strengths of the associations in each analysis. PC1 contained postoperative levels of ALK, GGT, platelet count and serum IL-8 and may be interpreted as liver repair activity. It was positively associated with study intervention (Beta=3.10). PC3 consisted of perioperative blood glucose levels. Higher glycemic levels correlated negatively with the study intervention (Beta=-4.27). PC9 contained FLR volume and higher FLR correlated negatively with the intervention (Beta=-1.13). PC6 contained markers of POLD, total bilirubin, INR, and IL-6. The interaction variables suggested that the association between intervention and liver repair activity was blunted by either a rise in glycemic levels or an increase in residual liver volumes. POLD and higher glycemic levels associated positively with infection (Beta=1.99 and 1.49, respectively) but only higher glycemic levels were associated with all complications (Beta=0.64).

Certain groups of low yield laboratory test values were missing in up to 50% of the total values, completely at random. Missing data points were replaced with variable means. Replacing values with means is the most conservative course for assessing the data, short of dropping cases from analysis; but may restrict emergence of potential findings and/or data relationships by decreasing variability and item correlations.

Dominant content of each PC	Beta (Exp beta)	P-value		
Associates of intervention				
PC1. Higher liver repair activity	3.19 (24.29)	0.014		
PC6. Higher glycemic levels	-4.27 (0.01)	0.001		
PC9. Higher residual liver volumes	-1.13 (0.32)	0.071		
PC1*PC6	3.68 (39.65)	0.024		
PC1*PC9	2.99 (19.89)	0.073		
Associates of all infection				
PC3. POLD	1.986	0.025		
PC6. Higher glycemic levels	1.488	0.004		
Associates of all complications				
PC6. Higher glycemic levels	0.639	0.042		

Table 3: The independent Associates of Intervention, Infections and All Complications in Total

 Patient Group

The collected variables were transformed into 10 principal components (PC). P values and beta coefficients are presented from a forward stepwise logistic regression run.

DISCUSSION

Perioperative dextrose supplementation augments liver glycogen stores and provides a protective effect on the hepatocyte,²⁷⁻³³ but when administered alone¹⁸ may compound hyperglycemia and increase postoperative morbidity. ¹⁹⁻²⁰ Tight glucose control reduces postoperative morbidity, but also causes significant hypoglycemic complications and mortality.²¹ Insulin therapy with a hyperinsulinemic normoglycemia protocol counteracts both these effects by sustaining serum glucose homeostasis, inhibiting liver glycogen and inhibiting peripheral fat breakdown. There is evidence that it may also exert an anti-apoptotic effect on hepatocytes and decrease inflammation.³⁴⁻³⁵ We have previously reported that the hyperinsulinemic normoglycemia protocol can reduce the inflammatory response in coronary artery bypass grafting patients.³⁴ Our patients on the insulin therapy had significantly lower blood glucose levels, and experienced fewer fluctuations, with no incidence of severe hypoglycemia (Table 2). Our protocol thus permits replenishment of liver glycogen stores while maintaining normoglycemia, limiting the complications associated with hyperglycemia. Intervention patients in our trial also exhibited a lower rate of morbidity (there was no mortality).

In-vivo studies have demonstrated a linear relationship between liver glycogen content and liver function. Glycogen is essential for maintaining hepatocellular integrity and functions by supplying glucose for ATP generation.³¹ ATP depletion leads to a series of events causing cell injury and necrosis that can be reversed with glucose supplementation.^{27-31, 33, 36-37}. Our protocol achieved a significant increase in liver glycogen content and reduced POLD compared to standard glucose management (Figures 2 and 3). This intervention also decreased the postoperative complication rates (P-value 0.004) and held true for the infectious subset of complications (P-value 0.04) (Table 3).

Normal liver function is important for keeping metabolic and immune system functions intact. Failure of the liver to regenerate and/or insufficient functional FLR following surgery leads to POLD and increases the likelihood of postoperative infections and mortality.^{9, 38} We observed a strong parallel between infection complications and both POLD and higher glycemic levels (Table 3). That our protocol reduced the incidence of postoperative infection is expected since it improves both POLD and glycemia control. Increased liver repair activity from insulin therapy was also enhanced by both good glycemic control and smaller FLR's (i.e. Larger volume LRs), which is consistent with in-vivo findings.¹

Both glycemia control and hepatocellular glycogen level maintenance are necessary factors in maintaining hepatocellular integrity, and function during LR. Our protocol reduced POLD and increased liver glycogen content by maintaining a balance between these 2 factors (Figures 2 and 3). Results from this trial therefore, emphasize the importance of tight glucose control for improving FLR function.

Finally, insulin as a mode of treatment may exert its own therapeutic benefits. For example insulin improved survival of wild-type neonatal hepatocyte by preventing caspase-3 activation, pro-apoptotic gene expression and DNA laddering.^{35, 39} Because insulin is a potent anti-inflammatory it may regulate the perioperative inflammatory response caused by surgery, liver manipulation, and resection.^{34, 40-42} Further studies are needed to fully understand the mechanism by which this treatment strategy fulfills its clinical benefits.

CONCLUSION

We demonstrated that our novel glucose/insulin protocol achieves elevation in liver glycogen content, improves postoperative liver function and reduces overall postoperative complication

rates for patients undergoing major liver resection. The protocol appears to be safe and can be easily applied at a step-down setting.

REFERENCES

 Clavien P-A, Petrowsky H, DeOliveira ML, Graf R. Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2007 Apr 12;356(15):1545-59.

2. Nordlinger B, Van Cutsem E, Gruenberger T, Glimelius B, Poston G, Rougier P, et al. Combination of surgery and chemotherapy and the role of targeted agents in the treatment of patients with colorectal liver metastases: recommendations from an expert panel. Ann Oncol. 2009 Jan 19.

3. Lyratzopoulos G, Tyrrell C, Smith P, Yelloly J. Recent trends in liver resection surgery activity and population utilization rates in English regions. HPB (Oxford). 2007;9(4):277-80.

 Wei AC, Greig PD, Grant D, Taylor B, Langer B, Gallinger S. Survival after hepatic resection for colorectal metastases: a 10-year experience. Ann Surg Oncol. 2006 May;13(5):668-76.

5. Weber SM, Jarnagin WR, Klimstra D, DeMatteo RP, Fong Y, Blumgart LH. Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: resectability, recurrence pattern, and outcomes. J Am Coll Surg. 2001 Oct 1;193(4):384-91.

6. Poon RT, Fan ST, Lo CM, Liu CL, Lam CM, Yuen WK, et al. Improving perioperative outcome expands the role of hepatectomy in management of benign and malignant hepatobiliary diseases: analysis of 1222 consecutive patients from a prospective database. Ann Surg. 2004 Oct;240(4):698-708; discussion -10.

 Fan ST, Lo CM, Lai EC, Chu KM, Liu CL, Wong J. Perioperative nutritional support in patients undergoing hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1994 Dec 8;331(23):1547-52. Palavecino M, Kishi Y, Chun YS, Brown DL, Gottumukkala VN, Lichtiger B, et al. Two-surgeon technique of parenchymal transection contributes to reduced transfusion rate in patients undergoing major hepatectomy: Analysis of 1,557 consecutive liver resections. Surgery.
 2009 Sep 4.

9. Schindl MJ, Millar AM, Redhead DN, Fearon KC, Ross JA, Dejong CH, et al. The adaptive response of the reticuloendothelial system to major liver resection in humans. Ann Surg. 2006 Apr;243(4):507-14.

10. Mullen JT, Ribero D, Reddy SK, Donadon M, Zorzi D, Gautam S, et al. Hepatic insufficiency and mortality in 1,059 noncirrhotic patients undergoing major hepatectomy. J Am Coll Surg. 2007 May;204(5):854-62; discussion 62-4.

11. Benzoni E, Lorenzin D, Baccarani U, Adani GL, Favero A, Cojutti A, et al. Resective surgery for liver tumor: a multivariate analysis of causes and risk factors linked to postoperative complications. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2006 Nov;5(4):526-33.

12. Kooby DA, Fong Y, Suriawinata A, Gonen M, Allen PJ, Klimstra DS, et al. Impact of steatosis on perioperative outcome following hepatic resection. J Gastrointest Surg. 2003 Dec;7(8):1034-44.

13. Wanless IR, Lentz JS. Fatty liver hepatitis (steatohepatitis) and obesity: an autopsy study with analysis of risk factors. Hepatology. 1990 Nov;12(5):1106-10.

14. Nordlinger B, Sorbye H, Glimelius B, Poston GJ, Schlag PM, Rougier P, et al. Perioperative chemotherapy with FOLFOX4 and surgery versus surgery alone for resectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer (EORTC Intergroup trial 40983): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2008 Mar 22;371(9617):1007-16.

15. Zorzi D, Laurent A, Pawlik TM, Lauwers GY, Vauthey JN, Abdalla EK. Chemotherapyassociated hepatotoxicity and surgery for colorectal liver metastases. Br J Surg. 2007 Mar;94(3):274-86. 16. Aloia T, Sebagh M, Plasse M, Karam V, Levi F, Giacchetti S, et al. Liver histology and surgical outcomes after preoperative chemotherapy with fluorouracil plus oxaliplatin in colorectal cancer liver metastases. J Clin Oncol. 2006 Nov 1;24(31):4983-90.

Maeda H, Okabayashi T, Nishimori I, Yamashita K, Sugimoto T, Hanazaki K.Hyperglycemia during hepatic resection: continuous monitoring of blood glucose concentration.Am J Surg. 2010 Jan;199(1):8-13.

18. Thorell A, Alston-Smith J, Ljungqvist O. The effect of preoperative carbohydrate loading on hormonal changes, hepatic glycogen, and glucoregulatory enzymes during abdominal surgery. Nutrition. 1996 Oct;12(10):690-5.

19. Ljungqvist O, Nygren J, Soop M, Thorell A. Metabolic perioperative management: novel concepts. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2005 Aug;11(4):295-9.

20. Krinsley J. Perioperative glucose control. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol. 2006 Apr;19(2):111-6.

21. Investigators N-SS, Finfer S, Chittock DR, Su SY, Blair D, Foster D, et al. Intensive versus conventional glucose control in critically ill patients. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2009 Mar 26;360(13):1283-97.

22. Albacker TB, Carvalho G, Schricker T, Lachapelle K. Myocardial protection during elective coronary artery bypass grafting using high-dose insulin therapy. Ann Thorac Surg. 2007 Dec;84(6):1920-7; discussion -7.

23. Sato H, Lattermann R, Carvalho G, Sato T, Metrakos P, Hassanain M, et al. Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection. Anesth Analg. 2010 Apr;110(6):1711-1718.

24. Vauthey JN, Chaoui A, Do KA, Bilimoria MM, Fenstermacher MJ, Charnsangavej C, et al. Standardized measurement of the future liver remnant prior to extended liver resection: methodology and clinical associations. Surgery. 2000 May;127(5):512-9.

 Schindl MJ, Redhead DN, Fearon KC, Garden OJ, Wigmore SJ. The value of residual liver volume as a predictor of hepatic dysfunction and infection after major liver resection. Gut.
 2005 Feb;54(2):289-96.
26. Dindo D, Demartines N, Clavien PA. Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey. Ann Surg. 2004 Aug;240(2):205-13.

27. Tang L, Tian F, Tao W, Cui J. Hepatocellular glycogen in alleviation of liver ischemiareperfusion injury during partial hepatectomy. World J Surg. 2007 Oct;31(10):2039-43.

28. Stadler M, Nuyens V, Seidel L, Albert A, Boogaerts JG. Effect of nutritional status on oxidative stress in an ex vivo perfused rat liver. Anesthesiology. 2005 Nov;103(5):978-86.

29. Nettelbladt CG, Alibergovic A, Ljungqvist O. Pre-stress carbohydrate solution prevents fatal outcome after hemorrhage in 24-hour food-deprived rats. Nutrition. 1996 Oct;12(10):696-9.

30. Caraceni P, Nardo B, Domenicali M, Turi P, Vici M, Simoncini M, et al. Ischemiareperfusion injury in rat fatty liver: role of nutritional status. Hepatology. 1999 Apr;29(4):113946.

31. Astarcioglu I, Adam R, Gigou M, Isaac J, Bismuth H. High levels of glycogen in the donor liver improve survival after liver transplantation in rats. Transplant Proc. 1991 Oct;23(5):2465-6.

32. Hassanain M, Schricker T, Metrakos P, Carvalho G, Vrochides D, Lattermann R. Hepatic protection by perioperative metabolic support? Nutrition. 2008 Jun 27.

33. Alibegovic A, Ljungqvist O. Pretreatment with glucose infusion prevents fatal outcome after hemorrhage in food deprived rats. Circ Shock. 1993 Jan;39(1):1-6.

34. Albacker T, Carvalho G, Schricker T, Lachapelle K. High-dose insulin therapy attenuates systemic inflammatory response in coronary artery bypass grafting patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008 Jul;86(1):20-7.

35. Valverde A, Fabregat I, Burks D, White M, Benito M. IRS-2 mediates the antiapoptotic effect of insulin in neonatal hepatocytes. Hepatology. 2004 Dec 1;40(6):1285-94.

36. Tang LJ, Tian FZ, Gao XM. Hepatocellular glycogen in alleviation of liver ischemiareperfusion injury. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int. 2002 Nov;1(4):532-5. 37. Anundi I, de Groot H. Hypoxic liver cell death: critical Po2 and dependence of viability on glycolysis. Am J Physiol. 1989 Jul;257(1 Pt 1):G58-64.

38. Wiezer MJ, Meijer C, Wallast-Groenewoud HP, Tool AT, Prins HA, Houdijk AP, et al. Impaired leukocyte phagocytosis in patients undergoing hemihepatectomy for liver metastases. Liver Transpl Surg. 1999 May;5(3):238-45.

39. Desbois-Mouthon C, Wendum D, Cadoret A, Rey C, Leneuve P, Blaise A, et al. Hepatocyte proliferation during liver regeneration is impaired in mice with liver-specific IGF-1R knockout. FASEB J. 2006 Apr;20(6):773-5.

40. Jeschke MG, Klein D, Bolder U, Einspanier R. Insulin attenuates the systemic inflammatory response in endotoxemic rats. Endocrinology. 2004 Sep;145(9):4084-93.

41. van de Poll MC, Derikx JP, Buurman W, Peters WH, Roelofs HM, Wigmore S, et al. Liver manipulation causes hepatocyte injury and precedes systemic inflammation in patients undergoing liver resection. World J Surg. 2007 Oct 1;31(10):2033-8.

42. Schwabe RF, Brenner DA. Mechanisms of Liver Injury. I. TNF-alpha-induced liver injury: role of IKK, JNK, and ROS pathways. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2006 Apr 1;290(4):G583-9.

XXV. Supplementary material for manuscript II

Table S1: Standard Step-down Unit Insulin Infusion Sliding Scale

If blood glucose	Action
mg/dL	
<63	Stop insulin infusion.
	Give dextrose 20% (D20W ®) 10ml infusion and re-check level in
	10 min
63.0–143.0	Maintain current infusion rate
144.0-180.0	Increase insulin infusion by 1 units / hour
>180.0	Increase insulin infusion by 2 units / hour

Blood glucose level	Insulin dose	Additional instructions
< 72 mg/dL	None	Call on-call MD
73.0–180.0 mg/dL	None	
181.0–216.0 mg/dL	2 units	
217.0–260.0 mg/dL	4 units	
261.0–288.0 mg/dL	6 units	
280.0-325.0 mg/dL	10 units	
330.0-360.0 mg/dL	12 units	
>360mg/dL	14 units	Call on-call MD

Table S2: Subcutaneous Insulin Sliding Scale for Intervention Patients Prior to Surgery

If blood glucose	Action
mg/dL	
<63	Stop insulin infusion.
	Give dextrose 20% (D20W ®) 10ml infusion and re-check level in 10 min
63.0–110.0	Maintain current infusion rate
111.0-143.0	Increase insulin infusion by 1 unit / hour
144.0–180.0	Increase insulin infusion by 2 units / hour
>180.0	Increase insulin infusion by 3 units / hour

 Table S3: Standard Insulin Infusion Sliding Scale While in the Operating Room

Table S4: Dextrose Sliding Scale during the Insulin Infusion in the Postoperative Period

Blood glucose level	Dextrose infusion	Additional instructions
mg/dL		
<63	↑ D20W by 15 ml/h, and give 20	Call research MD on-call
	ml of D20W bolus	
63.0–74.0	\uparrow D20W by 10 ml/h, and give 10	
	ml of D20W bolus	
75.0-81.0	↑ D20W by 5 ml/h	
82.0–98.0	Maintain same rate	
99.0–110.0	\downarrow D20W by 5 ml/h	
111.0–116.0	↓ D20W by 10ml/h	
>126	↓ D20W by 50%	Call research MD on-call

Total serum bilirubin (µmol/L)	<20	20-60	>60
Prothrombin time (INR)	<4.0 (1.8)	4.0-6.0 (1.8-2.3)	>6.0 (2.3)
Serum lactate (mmol/L)	<1.5	1.5-3.5	>3.5
Encephalopathy grade	None	1 and 2	3 and 4
Given points	0	1	2

Table S5: Liver Function as Per Score Generated by Schindl et al^t

^hNo dysfunction when score is equal to 0 points, mild when 1–2, moderate when 3–4, and Severe dysfunction when >4 points.

Noninfectious	Description
Characteristic	
Blood Glucose	>10 mmol/L (hyperglycemia)
	<2 mmol/L (hypoglycemia)
PONV	Persistent beyond day 2 postoperative
Bleeding	Requiring surgical intervention
	Hemoglobin drop >4 mg/dL
Cardiac event	Symptomatic arrhythmia
	Blood troponin >0.5, with ECG changes
Pleural effusion	Tapping required for patient relief
Abdominal	Ascites: dyspnea or leaking through abdominal wall
Acute renal failure	Serum creatine >2 x upper limit of normal
Bile leak	Body fluid bilirubin content >2 x upper limit of serum level
Infectious	Description
Characteristic	
Pneumonia	Pneumonic or atelactic changes on chest radiographs with positive sputum culture
Wound infection	Erythema and indurations associated with positive bacterial culture
Intra-abdominal abscess	Collection of pus in the abdomen with or without necrotic material associated with a positive bacterial culture
Urinary tract infection	Urinary symptoms with urine culture positive for bacterial growth >105 colony forming units/ml
Central line sepsis	Positive culture of the catheter tip >15 colony forming units in the presence of a febrile episode

Table S6: Criteria for Classifying Morbidities as Infectious or Noninfectious

PONV: postoperative nausea and vomiting

Complication	Type of complication	Interventi on group (n)	Degree as per Clavien for each patient	Control group (n)	Degree as per Clavien for each patient	P-value
	PONV	2	1, 3	5	1, 1, 1, 1, 1	NS
	Ascitis/ Plural effusion	2	3, 1	2	1, 3	NS
Non-	DVT			1	4	NS
infections	Bile leak	2	1, 1	3	1, 1, 1	NS
	ARF	2	1, 1	1	4	NS
	Cardiac event	1	3			NS
	Wound infection	5	1, 1, 1, 1, 1	4	1, 1, 3b, 1	NS
Infections	Central line infection			3	2, 2, 2	NS
	UTI	2	1, 1	2	1, 1	NS
	Pneumonia			1	2	NS
	Intra- abdominal abscess	1	3	1	2	NS
	Other			3	4, 2, 2	NS

Table S7: Distribution of Complications between Intervention and Control Groups

PONV: postoperative nausea and vomiting, DVT: deep vein thrombosis, ARF: acute renal failure, UTI: urinary tract infection

Author	Years	N	Mortality (%)	Morbidity (%)
Fan	1994	64	8	55
Cohnert	1997	340	4	22
Belghiti	2000	747	4,4	22
Jarnigan	2002	1803	4	52
Laurent	2003	311	3	30
Stewart	2004	137	2.9	19.7
Wei	2006	123		17
wei	2000	423		
Palaveciono	2009	1157	NA	26

Table S8: Morbidity and Mortality Rates in Selected Studies[†]

⁴Numbers are for overall or major liver resections when specified.

Table S9: Tissue Analysis of Patients in Control and intervention Groups

	$C \rightarrow 1$		T ()			
	Control		Intervention			
	group		group			
Characteristics	N=27	Range	Range	N=29	Range	P-value
	Median	Median				
Liver sample #1 time (hours from skin incision)	1.0	0.5–3.0	1.1	0.5-3.4	0.88	
Liver sample #2 time (hours from skin incision)	2.8	1.5–5.5	2.8	1.0-6.5	0.64	
Liver glycogen sample #1 (µmol/g)	278.0	48–620	430.0	188–722	0.01	
Liver glycogen sample #2 (µmol/g)	187.0	83-255	306.0	37-580	0.005	

Thesis Manuscript III-submitted

Altered Inflammation, Reduced Apoptosis and Increased Cell Proliferation from High-Dose Insulin Therapy Reduces Postoperative Liver Dysfunction and Complications in Liver Resection; Alexander Fisette & Mazen Hassanain, Peter Metrakos, Suhail A. R. Doi, Ayat Salman, Thomas Schricker, Ralph Lattermann, Linda Wykes, Evan Nitschmann, Jessica Smith and Katherine Cianflone—*submitted to JCEM*

XXVI. Background for work in manuscript III

As the final aim for my thesis work I wanted to study the protocol's potential influence on inflammation, metabolism and liver regeneration pathways following liver surgery. The objective of this part of the thesis is to define the possible mechanisms by which the protocol has produced its effects. This information will provide viable incite towards developing targeted therapies tailored to patients' pre- and intraoperative status. For this part of the study tissue and serum samples were collected from surgical patients and analyzed. A number of biomarkers served to assess effects of the protocol including:

- 1. Inflammation: Serum levels of IL-4, 6, 8, 10, MCP-1, TNF- α , and C-RP
- Metabolism: Glycogen content in liver and muscle tissue samples, triglycerides, protein levels, serum cortisol, glucagon, insulin, glucose, free fatty acids, adiponectine, and adipsin

 Liver regeneration: Growth hormone, TGF-β, and gene array of tissue samples representing different cell cycle stages

This project was carried out in collaboration with a team from the Université Laval Biochemistry Department.

XXVII. Manuscript III text

ALTERED INFLAMMATION, REDUCED APOPTOTOSIS AND INCREASED CELL PROLIFERATION FROM HIGH-DOSE INSULIN THERAPY REDUCES POSTOPERATIVE LIVER DYSFUNCTION AND COMPLICATIONS IN LIVER RESECTION PATIENTS

Alexander Fisette^a*, Mazen Hassanain^{bc}*, Peter Metrakos^{bc}, Suhail A. R. Doi^d, Ayat Salman^c, Thomas Schricker^e, Ralph Lattermann^e, Linda Wykes^f, Evan Nitschmann^f, Jessica Smith^a and Katherine Cianflone^a

^aCentre de Recherche de l'Institut Universitaire de Cardiologie et de Pneumologie de Québec, Faculté de Médecine, Université Laval, Québec, Canada.

^bSection Hepatopancreatobiliary Surgery, McGill University Health Center, Montreal Canada.

^cDepartment of Surgery, College of Medicine, King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

^dClinical Epidemiology Unit, School of Population Health, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia.

^eDepartment of Anaesthesia, McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada.

^fSchool of Dietetic and Human Nutrition, McGill University, Montréal, Canada

*Shared first co-authorship

Abbreviated Title

Insulin reduces complications from liver resection

Key Words

Insulin, liver resection, and liver dysfunction

Word Count

2542

Correspondence to: Dr. Katherine Cianflone, Centre de Recherche de l'Institut Universitaire de Cardiologie et de Pneumologie de Québec, Faculté de Médecine, Université Laval, Québec, Canada.

e-mail: Katherine.Cianflone@fmed.ulaval.ca

tel. +1 418 656-8711 # 3731

fax +1 418 656-4749

Financial Support

This work was supported by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) (77532). Alexander Fisette is supported by an FRSQ training grant.

Disclosure Summary

The authors do not have any financial or commercial interest in the subject matter, materials, or equipment discussed or in competing materials.

Clinical Trial Registration Number

The study is registered at clinicaltrial.gov NCT00774098.

Author Contributions: Drs. Fisette, Hassanain and Cianflone conjured up the rational for the study and are responsible for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis.

Study concept and design: Drs. Hassanain, Metrakos, and Cianflone; and Mr. Fisette.

Data acquisition and Manuscript contribution:

Surgical and clinical data: Dr. Hassanain and Ms. Salman

Glucose insulin clamp: Drs. Schricker, and Lattermann

Cytokine assays: Mr. Nitschmann and Dr. Wykes

Liver glycogen, growth factors, cytokine, and mRNA analyses, and complement measurements: Mr. Fisette and. Cianflone

Statistics including the application of the principal component analysis: Dr. Doi

Interpretation of data: Drs. Hassanain, Metrakos, Cianflone, Doi, and Mr. Fisette

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: Drs. Chaudhury, Schricker, and Cianflone

Obtained funding: Drs. Metrakos and Hassanain

Study supervision: Dr. Metrakos.

Writing assistance: Dr. Katharine Carpenter

ABSTRACT

Background: An exaggerated inflammatory response in patients undergoing liver resection (LR) coupled with poor nutrition diminishes the liver's regeneration capacity, and increases the risk of postoperative complications.

Objectives: The study aimed to correlate circulating or genetic markers of inflammation, proliferation and apoptosis with clinical outcomes in patients undergoing LR.

Design: Sixty consecutive consenting LR patients were randomized to receive perioperative dextrose infusion plus insulin therapy (intervention), or standard therapy. Ten patients were randomly chosen from each group for biochemical and genetic assessment.

Main Outcome Measures: mRNA for 100 genes related to insulin signalling, inflammation, proliferation, complement system and apoptosis were quantified using real-time PCR. Cytokines were analyzed with a suspension bead array immunoassay and adiponectin, adipsin GH, TGF- β , C3, C5a and ASP were measured with ELISA. We applied principle component analysis (PCA) to compartmentalize our large number of study variables.

Results: Proinflammatory mediators IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and MCP-1 increased acutely in both groups perioperatively, but more significantly in intervention patients. Upregulation of protective anti-apoptotic genes BCL2 (P = 0.01) and BCL2L1 (P = 0.02) occurred in intervention patients while control patients had higher levels of pro-apoptotic genes, BAX (P = 0.04), Caspase 8 (P = 0.004) and Caspase 9 (P = 0.01). PCA revealed the following associations: Tight-glucose control with activation of glucose/insulin genes preoperatively (P = 0.03), and with increased proinflammatory factors intraoperatively (P = 0.05), preoperative inflammation with liver dysfunction rate (P < 0.1), preoperative activation of insulin-responsive genes with infection (P

= 0.07), and increased proliferative gene activation and decreased apoptosis-related gene expression with reductions in complications, postoperatively (P = 0.07).

Conclusion: The benefits of our protocol are mediated through upregulation of insulinresponsive genes prior to and proliferative genes after surgery, as well as altered levels of proinflammatory factors throughout the operation.

INTRODUCTION

Liver resection (LR) is the only treatment capable of providing long-term survival and cure for selected patients with colorectal cancer liver metastasis (CRCLM) and other hepatic malignancies (1-3). The indications for liver surgery have expanded over the years due to advances in perioperative care and availability of detailed imaging methods for accurately assessing tumour load (3-5). Mortality from hepatic surgery has declined remarkably over the past 15 years to less than 2% for the routine resection, but postoperative morbidity rates remain high at 20%–50% (6-12).

The liver's capacity to regenerate following major hepatic surgery depends on the magnitude of the resection, the severity of the surgical stress response and the levels of glycogen stored in the hepatocytes (13-20). Tissue trauma from surgery triggers an inflammatory response that causes endothelial and epithelial cells as well as neutrophils, macrophages and lymphocytes to stimulate the secretion of proinflammatory mediators TNF- α , IL-1 β and IL-6. Severe trauma can lead to persistent upregulation of cytokines and failure of the host defence system marked by increased levels of C-reactive protein (C-RP), IL-6 and acute phase protein in the patient (13, 19-21). Suppressed immune function and liver dysfunction brought about by continued upregulation of cytokines, particularly TNF- α and IL-6, renders patients more susceptible to postoperative infection, morbidity and mortality. The complement system also contributes to the stress response and has been shown to play an important role in the initiation of hepatocyte regeneration in animal models (22-28). For example, He at al. proposed existence of a complement activation threshold in deciding regenerative capacity of the liver. According to their results inhibition of C3a activation reduced hepatocyte regeneration whereas increasing C3a/ASP production enhanced the hepatic proliferative response in mice (29).

Hepatic surgeons want to see initiation of a proliferative response after partial hepatectomy rather than necrosis and apoptosis, which originate from hepatic dysfunction related complications (30-35). Adequate nutrition coupled with proper orchestrated interplay between pro- and anti-inflammatory mediators maintains cellular integrity by ensuring a continued energy supply for hepatocyte regeneration (18, 36-37). An exaggerated proinflammatory response compounded by preoperative fasting diminishes the livers energy stores and culminates in an insulin resistant state in the patient (38-39). This puts the patient at higher risk for developing hyperglycaemia and leads to postoperative liver dysfunction, increased morbidity and complications, especially infections (40).

In theory, insulin therapy should reduce trauma related insulin resistance, increase glycogen stores, provide an anti-inflammatory effect and improve the immune systems defence against infection (41-43). Potential benefits of intensive insulin therapy to target tight glucose control particularly for surgical patients have been published by Van den Berg and others (42, 44-45).

We recently initiated a randomized-controlled trial that looked at the potential benefits of insulin therapy combined with preoperative carbohydrate loading for reducing episodes of hypo- and/or hyperglycaemia in patients undergoing hepatic surgery. Our protocol involves oral and intravenous carbohydrates given preoperatively coupled with perioperative application of the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp protocol (*46*). Significantly better glucose management accompanied by reduced postoperative liver dysfunction and overall complications occurred for intervention patients in this trial compared to control patients who received routine management and a conventional sliding scale insulin therapy.

The aim of our study was to develop a better understanding of the mechanisms through which these positive clinical outcomes were obtained. Alterations in circulating or genetic molecular markers resulting from the adaptive stress response to surgery were assessed and independently correlated with clinical parameters.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Sixty consenting patients undergoing liver surgery were randomized to receive nutritional therapy coupled with tight glucose control (intervention) or standard insulin therapy (control). Intervention patients were given a 24-hour preoperative carbohydrate load at 35kcal/kg/day followed by dextrose infusion at 2mg/kg/h for a total of 8 hours. Insulin therapy was then initiated in these patients with the hyperinsulinemic normoglycaemic clamp and involved administering 1.2U/kg/h intraoperatively and 0.06U/kg/h postoperatively for a total of 24 hours. Controls fasted preoperatively for 8 hours then received standard sliding scale insulin therapy. Ten patients were randomly selected from each group for inflammatory mediator, and genetic expression testing.

Assessments and tests

Blood samples were taken from study patients during the morning of the operation just prior to starting the insulin clamp. A second sample was taken 2 hours into the operation and a third one at the end of surgery. We withdrew the last sample 24 hours from the time of first withdrawal. Blood samples were immediately divided into 1 mL sub samples and stored at -80 °C. Complement factors C3 and C5a, Adiponectin, Adipsin, growth hormone and TGF- β were measured with commercial ELISA kits (BD OptEIA human C5a ELISA kit, BD Biosciences, C3 Complement Assay, Kamiya Biomedicals, Custom Human Quantibody Array, Raybiotech) and ASP (C3adesARG) was quantified with an in-house sandwich ELISA, following previously published methodology (*47*).

Cytokine analysis

Human IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, MCP-1 and TNF- α were measured by suspension bead array immunoassay with a Luminex 200 X-map instrument (Luminex Corp, Austin, TX, USA). Analysis of the cytokines was carried out using a Milliplex human cytokine kit following manufacturer's specifications (MPXHCYTO-60k, Millipore Corp, Bilerica, MA, USA). All samples were analyzed in duplicate and the kit had a sensitivity of 0.4 pg/mL. Concentrations were calculated from the standard curve generated by the MasterPlex QT 4.0 analysis software (MiraiBio Inc, Alameda, CA, USA).

Tissue biopsies

We removed 2 tissue samples from the liver FLR; one at the time of incision and one at the end of surgery. Samples were snap-frozen and stored at -80 °C. mRNA was extracted and purified from the frozen tissues using RNeasy mini kits (Qiagen, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) then reverse

transcribed into DNA with a RT2 First Strand kit (SA Biosciences, Frederick, MD, USA). Both steps followed manufacturer's instructions. We quantified 84 genes from each sample using Human Insulin Pathway PCR array cycle time (Ct) measurements (SA Biosciences, Frederick, MD, USA). Genes for C5L2, C3aR, C5aR, Caspases 8 and 9, BAX and BCL2 were measured individually with QuantiTect primers (Qiagen, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). Relative gene expression was calculated and corrected from measurement of 5 housekeeping genes included in the PCR array. All procedures followed MIQE guidelines (*48*).

Statistics

The data were expressed as means \pm SD or medians and interquartile range if not normally distributed. Demographic, operative and postoperative variables were compared using the unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney U test for continuous data. Proportions were compared by the Chi-square or Fisher Exact tests. We applied a principle component analysis (PCA; Statistica version 9 statistical package) to reduce our large number of study variables (136) to a smaller set of uncorrelated variables containing most of the information in the original data. Missing values were replaced with the mean. The PCs were rotated using an orthogonal rotation - varimax normalized and only those components with eigenvalues ≥ 5 were retained. Sample factor scores (values) for each component were saved and used in a subsequent logistic regression analysis. We considered a *P*-value ≤ 0.1 as significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Baseline data

Intervention and control patients had comparable demographics with a few exceptions, and both groups exhibited similar baseline liver function and perioperative characteristics (Table 1 and Supplementary Tables S1–S2). We found a greater incidence of hypertension and a borderline higher serum creatinine (renal dysfunction) at baseline in our study cohort. Intervention patients were older and there were non-significantly more males in this group (Table 1). Since older age is a well-known risk factor for liver dysfunction this difference may have created some biases in the study data. In addition, the smaller sample size used in the trial segment described here may explain why the demographics of the original randomized groups were significantly more alike (*46*).

Clinical outcomes

We noted better clinical outcome markers in the intervention patients. These data were reported previously and will only be summarized here (49). Intervention patients had better liver function scores as per Schindl (50), 2 (range 0–4) compared to 3 (range 2–8) for the controls, (P = 0.03) and the rate of overall complication events decreased from 26 in 27 patients to 18 in 29 patients in control and intervention groups, respectively. Infections Clavien grade 2 or higher occurred in 26% of patients in the control group and 3.4% in the intervention group. PCA established significant associations between liver repair activity and intervention, and between postoperative liver dysfunction and infections.

Variable	Intervention	Control (n=10)	P value
	(n=10)		
Age	71 (67–82)	53 (45-59)	0.006
DM	1.0 (10%)	None	0.38
HTN	4.0 (40%)	None	0.04
IHD	2.0 (20%)	None	0.2
High Cholesterol	2.0 (20%)	None	0.2
Sex male %	5.0 (50%)	2.0 (20%)	0.3
BMI	26.7 (25.5–30)	25.4 (21.0–25)	0.34

Table1. Demography of patients

Data are reported as median and (interquartile range) or number and (percentage).

Variable	Intervention	Control	P value
FLR (mL)	764 (523–1014)	578 (521–639)	0.3
TLV (mL)	1765 (1573–1792)	1440 (1232–1678)	0.1
FLR/TLV ratio	40 (29–75)	41 (33.6–48.7)	0.9
Base deficit	1.8 (0.1–4.0)	0.7 (-0.7–1.4)	0.2
Lactic acid mg/dL	9.0 (5.9–10.8)	7.2 (6.3–8.1)	0.2
[mmol/L]	[1.0 (0.65–1.2)]	[0.8 (0.7–0.9)]	
Total Bilirubin mg/dL	0.8 (0.7–4.4)	1.2 (1.0–1.9)	0.3
[µmol/L]	[13 (12–76)]	[21 (17–32)]	
INR	1.0 (1–1)	1.0 (1–1)	0.5
Creatinine mg/dL	1.1 (1.1–1.4)	0.9 (0.8–1.0)	0.05
[µmol/L]	[84 (81–104)]	[69 (58–75)]	

Table S1. Laboratory tests at baseline: hepatic and renal function

Data are reported as median and (interquartile range).

Table S2: Intraoperative characteristics	s
--	---

Variable	Intervention	Control	P value
Trisegmentectomy	3.0 (30%)	2.0 (20%)	0.9
# of segments removed	4.0 (3.0-4.5)	4.0 (3.5–5.0)	0.7
Duration of OR	3.0 (2.6–3.4)	3.0 (2.7–3.8)	0.7
Blood loss	1100 (500–1800)	1300 (750–2500)	0.4
Blood Transfusion	None	2.0 (20%)	0.1
Units of RBC given	0.0 (0-0)	0.0 (0-2)	0.1
Crystalloid (L)	3.0 (1.5–4.0)	3.8 (2.5–4.0)	0.4
Colloid (mL)	500 (400–1000)	500 (500–1000)	0.7
Pringles (min)	0.0 (0-10)	0.0 (0-7)	0.8
Fibrosis (0–4)	0.0 (0-0)	0.0 (0-2)	0.3
Steatohepatitis (0-3)	1.0 (1–1)	0.0 (0-2)	0.4

Data are reported as median and (interquartile range) or number and (percentage).

Primary outcomes

Complement system is not affected

Studies reporting association between blood glucose levels and complement activation are conflicting (*51-56*). In some studies increased complement function associated with higher circulating glucose levels while other studies have shown an opposite trend. Regardless, alteration in complement function consistently resulted from either hyper- or hypoglycaemia. That we did not observe any major intergroup differences in levels of circulating or genetic parameters related to the complement system (C3, ASP, C5a, C5aR, C3aR, C5L2) indicates that neither group experienced blood glucose fluctuations sufficiently out of normal range or often enough to influence complement function. Absence of complement function alterations in adult coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) patients receiving strict glucose control was also observed by Hoedemakers, in agreement with our findings (*57*). The absence of modulation in complement activation in addition to lack of a relationship between complement factors and clinical outcomes suggests that the beneficial effects of our protocol are not related to the complement system.

A recent study that looked at changes in complement function occurring after LR reported increases in C3a, and C5b9 by 34% and 112%, respectively, while C4a and C5a levels decreased by 25% and 30%, respectively (26). The authors did not mention whether or not patients received glucose control therapy. In our study, we also found changes in complement factors after surgery: while C3 levels decreased significantly by -43%, (P < 0.0001), C5a levels were mildly but not significantly reduced (-27%, P = 0.39) in intervention and control patients alike.

Inflammatory mediators and glucose balance

Proinflammatory mediators such as IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α and MCP-1 increased acutely for both the intervention and control groups during the resection while IL-1 β was undetectable, as would be expected for patients undergoing major surgery (*30, 33, 58*). However, the intervention group exhibited significantly higher levels of proinflammatory cytokines at most data collection time points after initiation of surgery, as seen in Figure 1. We observed an opposite trend in circulating levels of glucose and the anti-inflammatory factor IL-10. While initial glucose levels were comparable in intervention and control patients, a rise in serum glucose concentration was detected throughout the surgery for the controls only (Supplementary Table S3).

Figure 1: Perioperative concentration of glucose and cytokines; T0 = baseline, T1 = 2h into surg., T2 = end of surg., T4 = 24h after surg. Values are shown as mean \pm range.



Interestingly, PCA analysis associated these two findings: a component (PC7), representing activation of glucose/insulin-sensitive genes prior to surgery and perioperative release of circulating proinflammatory molecules, negatively associated with the control group. This would suggest that a more pronounced stimulation of glucose metabolism by insulin leads to stable

blood glucose throughout the surgery and permits a stronger acute rise in proinflammatory factors known to initiate liver regeneration.

Variable		Intervention	Control	P value
Prior to	Baseline	97 (93–108)	97 (83–108)	0.8
surgery		([5.4 (5.2–6.0)]	[5.4 (4.6–6.0)]	
	Preinduction	110 (85–117)	85 (79–135)	0.6
		[6.1 (4.7–6.5)]	[4.7 (4.4–7.5)]	
During the	1 hour	95 (94–108)	123 (110–144)	0.02
surgery		[5.3(5.2-6.0)]	[6.8 (6.1-8.0)]	
	3 hours	105 (94–117)	137 (114–162)	0.04
		[5.8 (5.2–6.2)]	[7.6 (6.3–9.0)]	

Table S3: Glucose levels at different time intervals in mg/dL [mmol/L]

Data are reported as median and (interquartile range).

Preoperative status influences the clinical outcomes

Published results consistently show a strong association between preoperative state of the patient and major clinical outcome parameters. We have shown previously in this clinical trial that hepatic glycogen levels in intervention patients were elevated compared to control subjects prior (+64%, P = 0.006) and after (+36%, P = 0.04) the surgery (49). In the present investigation PCA analysis revealed that other preoperative parameters are associated with clinical benefits. A component (PC4) representing activation of insulin-responsive genes related to PI3K and MAPK pathways prior to surgery, negatively associated with the presence of infectious complications. Additionally, a group of variables (PC8) describing preoperative circulating levels of inflammatory related molecules such as IL-6, TNF- α and IL-10 correlated with postoperative liver dysfunction (r=0.526, P < 0.01). These observations suggest that the preoperative state of the patient independently associates with clinical outcomes and strongly advocates further studies for investigating a potential causal relationship.

Postoperative status influences the clinical outcomes

Cell death that occurs through apoptosis represents a major complication from LR (32, 34). Results for the intervention patients clearly show that the insulin therapy protocol provides an anti-apoptotic protective effect on the hepatocytes. Genes protecting against programmed cell death such as BCL2 (P = 0.01), BCL2L1 (P = 0.02) were increased in intervention patient liver biopsies. By contrast, proapoptotic genes such as BAX (P = 0.04), Caspase 8 (P = 0.004) and Caspase 9 (P = 0.01) were higher in control patients (Figure 2). These findings suggest that the intervention protocol achieves its clinical benefits partly through a reduction in hepatocytes apoptosis.

PCA analysis classified into one independent component (PC1) a vast set of factors describing proliferation and survival at the end of surgery that mainly occurs through PI3K and MAPK pathways. This component negatively associated with the presence of complications therefore emphasizing the importance of MAPK and PI3K pathway mediated cell proliferation for reducing postoperative complications.

A summary of associations observed between clinical outcomes and biological markers throughout the surgery is summarized in Figure 3. Many of the published risk factors for POLD and complications are unchangeable like age or male gender, or unavoidable such as major resection or blood transfusion. This study explores a potential method that can alter and modify LR response and promote improvements in surgical outcome. We intend to explore the long-term benefit of this therapy on cancer patients in a larger trial setting.

Figure 2. Relative apoptotic gene expression levels after liver resection for intervention (open bars) and control (opaque bars) patients.



Figure 3. Associations between clinical outcomes and biological markers in LR patients at all stages of surgery.



CONCLUSIONS

The results presented in this study link several clinical outcomes with biological parameters in patients undergoing major liver resection. In particular, insulin therapy reduced postoperative liver dysfunction by suppressing inflammation and associated apoptosis. These results are genuine since our study design does not allow pre-emptive assumptions regarding the effect of intervention on any specific parameter towards altering its clinical outcome.

REFERENCES

- Lyratzopoulos G, Tyrrell C, Smith P, Yelloly J 2007 Recent trends in liver resection surgery activity and population utilization rates in English regions. HPB (Oxford) 9:277-280
- Nordlinger B, Van Cutsem E, Gruenberger T, Glimelius B, Poston G, Rougier P, Sobrero A, Ychou M, Group obotECMT 2009 Combination of surgery and chemotherapy and the role of targeted agents in the treatment of patients with colorectal liver metastases: recommendations from an expert panel. Ann Oncol
- 3. Clavien P-A, Petrowsky H, DeOliveira ML, Graf R 2007 Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation. The New England Journal of Medicine 356:1545-1559
- El-Serag HB, Marrero JA, Rudolph L, Reddy KR 2008 Diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma. Gastroenterology 134:1752-1763
- Marcos A 2000 Right lobe living donor liver transplantation: a review. Liver Transpl 6:3-20
- 6. Wei AC, Greig PD, Grant D, Taylor B, Langer B, Gallinger S 2006 Survival after hepatic resection for colorectal metastases: a 10-year experience. Ann Surg Oncol 13:668-676
- Fan ST, Lo CM, Lai EC, Chu KM, Liu CL, Wong J 1994 Perioperative nutritional support in patients undergoing hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma. N Engl J Med 331:1547-1552

- Cohnert TU, Rau HG, Buttler E, Hernandez-Richter T, Sauter G, Reuter C, Schildberg FW 1997 Preoperative risk assessment of hepatic resection for malignant disease. World J Surg 21:396-400; discussion 401
- Belghiti J, Hiramatsu K, Benoist S, Massault P, Sauvanet A, Farges O 2000 Seven hundred forty-seven hepatectomies in the 1990s: an update to evaluate the actual risk of liver resection. J Am Coll Surg 191:38-46
- Laurent C, Sa Cunha A, Couderc P, Rullier E, Saric J 2003 Influence of postoperative morbidity on long-term survival following liver resection for colorectal metastases. Br J Surg 90:1131-1136
- Stewart GD, O'Suilleabhain CB, Madhavan KK, Wigmore SJ, Parks RW, Garden OJ
 2004 The extent of resection influences outcome following hepatectomy for colorectal liver metastases. European Journal of Surgical Oncology 30:370-376
- Jarnagin WR, Gonen M, Fong Y, DeMatteo RP, Ben-Porat L, Little S, Corvera C, Weber S, Blumgart LH 2002 Improvement in perioperative outcome after hepatic resection: analysis of 1,803 consecutive cases over the past decade. Ann Surg 236:397-406; discussion 406-397
- Cerra FB, Siegel JH, Coleman B, Border JR, McMenamy RR 1980 Septic autocannibalism. A failure of exogenous nutritional support. Annals of Surgery 192:570-580
- Maeda H, Okabayashi T, Nishimori I, Yamashita K, Sugimoto T, Hanazaki K 2010 Hyperglycemia during hepatic resection: continuous monitoring of blood glucose concentration. Am J Surg 199:8-13
- Schricker T, Meterissian S, Wykes L, Eberhart L, Lattermann R, Carli F 2004 Postoperative protein sparing with epidural analgesia and hypocaloric dextrose. Ann Surg 240:916-921
- Schricker T, Lattermann R, Carli F 2005 Intraoperative protein sparing with glucose. J Appl Physiol 99:898-901
- Cywes R, Greig PD, Sanabria JR, Clavien PA, Levy GA, Harvey PR, Strasberg SM 1992 Effect of intraportal glucose infusion on hepatic glycogen content and degradation, and outcome of liver transplantation. Ann Surg 216:235-246; discussion 246-237

- Caraceni P, Nardo B, Domenicali M, Turi P, Vici M, Simoncini M, De Maria N, Trevisani F, Van Thiel DH, Derenzini M, Cavallari A, Bernardi M 1999 Ischemiareperfusion injury in rat fatty liver: role of nutritional status. Hepatology 29:1139-1146
- Brewster N, Guthrie C, McBirnie J 1994 CRP levels as a measure of surgical trauma: a comparison of different general surgical procedures. Journal of the Royal College of Surgeons of Edinburgh 39:86-88
- Shimada M, Matsumata T, Taketomi A, Shirabe K, Yamamoto K, Takenaka K, Sugimachi K 1995 The role of interleukin-6, interleukin-16, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and endotoxin in hepatic resection. Hepato-Gastroenterology 42:691-697
- 21. Boeken U, Feindt P, Zimmermann N, Kalweit G, Petzold T, Gams E 1998 Increased preoperative C-reactive protein (CRP)-values without signs of an infection and complicated course after cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB)-operations. European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery 13:541-545
- Schieferdecker HL, Schlaf G, Koleva M, Gotze O, Jungermann K 2000 Induction of functional anaphylatoxin C5a receptors on hepatocytes by in vivo treatment of rats with IL-6. Journal of Immunology 164:5453-5458
- 23. Daveau M, Benard M, Scotte M, Schouft M-T, Hiron M, Francois A, Salier J-P, Fontaine M 2004 Expression of a functional C5a receptor in regenerating hepatocytes and its involvement in a proliferative signaling pathway in rat. Journal of Immunology 173:3418-3424
- 24. Clark A, Weymann A, Hartman E, Turmelle Y, Carroll M, Thurman JM, Holers VM, Hourcade DE, Rudnick DA 2008 Evidence for non-traditional activation of complement factor C3 during murine liver regeneration. Molecular Immunology 45:3125-3132
- 25. Markiewski MM, Mastellos D, Tudoran R, DeAngelis RA, Strey CW, Franchini S, Wetsel RA, Erdei A, Lambris JD 2004 C3a and C3b activation products of the third component of complement (C3) are critical for normal liver recovery after toxic injury. Journal of Immunology 173:747-754
- Strey CW, Siegmund B, Rosenblum S, Marquez-Pinilla RM, Oppermann E, Huber-Lang M, Lambris JD, Bechstein WO 2009 Complement and neutrophil function changes after liver resection in humans. World Journal of Surgery 33:2635-2643
- Markiewski MM, DeAngelis RA, Strey CW, Foukas PG, Gerard C, Gerard N, Wetsel RA, Lambris JD 2009 The regulation of liver cell survival by complement. Journal of Immunology 182:5412-5418
- Mastellos D, Papadimitriou JC, Franchini S, Tsonis PA, Lambris JD 2001 A novel role of complement: mice deficient in the fifth component of complement (C5) exhibit impaired liver regeneration. Journal of Immunology 166:2479-2486
- He S, Atkinson C, Qiao F, Cianflone K, Chen X, Tomlinson S 2009 A complementdependent balance between hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury and liver regeneration in mice. Journal of Clinical Investigation 119:2304-2316
- 30. Lan AK-M, Luk H-N, Goto S, Chen S-MS, Eng H-L, Chen Y-S, de Villa VH, Wang CC, Cheng Y-F, Chen C-L, Lee J-H, Jawan B 2003 Stress response to hepatectomy in patients with a healthy or a diseased liver. World Journal of Surgery 27:761-764
- 31. Kimura F, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, Ohtsuka M, Kato A, Yoshitomi H, Nozawa S, Furukawa K, Mitsuhashi N, Sawada S, Takeuchi D, Ambiru S, Miyazaki M 2006 Circulating cytokines, chemokines, and stress hormones are increased in patients with organ dysfunction following liver resection. J Surg Res 133:102-112
- Schwabe RF, Brenner DA 2006 Mechanisms of Liver Injury. I. TNF-alpha-induced liver injury: role of IKK, JNK, and ROS pathways. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 290:G583-589
- Taub R 2004 Liver regeneration: from myth to mechanism. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 5:836-847
- Wajant H, Pfizenmaier K, Scheurich P 2003 Tumor necrosis factor signaling. Cell Death & Differentiation 10:45-65
- Strain AJ, Frazer A, Hill DJ, Milner RD 1987 Transforming growth factor beta inhibits
 DNA synthesis in hepatocytes isolated from normal and regenerating rat liver.
 Biochemical & Biophysical Research Communications 145:436-442
- 36. Tang LJ, Tian FZ, Gao XM 2002 Hepatocellular glycogen in alleviation of liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 1:532-535
- Stadler M, Nuyens V, Seidel L, Albert A, Boogaerts JG 2005 Effect of nutritional status on oxidative stress in an ex vivo perfused rat liver. Anesthesiology 103:978-986

- 38. Schricker T, Lattermann R 2007 Strategies to attenuate the catabolic response to surgery and improve perioperative outcomes. Canadian Journal of Anaesthesia 54:414-419
- Burton D, Nicholson G, Hall G 2004 Endocrine and metabolic response to surgery.Contin Educ Anaesth Crit Care Pain 4:144-147
- 40. Ambiru S, Kato A, Kimura F, Shimizu H, Yoshidome H, Otsuka M, Miyazaki M 2008 Poor postoperative blood glucose control increases surgical site infections after surgery for hepato-biliary-pancreatic cancer: a prospective study in a high-volume institute in Japan. J Hosp Infect 68:230-233
- Deng H, Chai J 2009 The effects and mechanisms of insulin on systemic inflammatory response and immune cells in severe trauma, burn injury, and sepsis. International Immunopharmacology
- Albacker T, Carvalho G, Schricker T, Lachapelle K 2008 High-dose insulin therapy attenuates systemic inflammatory response in coronary artery bypass grafting patients. Ann Thorac Surg 86:20-27
- Schricker T, Carvalho G 2005 Pro: tight perioperative glycemic control. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 19:684-688
- van den Berghe G, Wouters P, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, Schetz M,
 Vlasselaers D, Ferdinande P, Lauwers P, Bouillon R 2001 Intensive insulin therapy in the
 critically ill patients. N Engl J Med 345:1359-1367
- Albacker TB, Carvalho G, Schricker T, Lachapelle K 2007 Myocardial protection during elective coronary artery bypass grafting using high-dose insulin therapy. Ann Thorac Surg 84:1920-1927; discussion 1920-1927
- 46. Sato H, Carvalho G, Sato T, Bracco D, Codere-Maruyama T, Lattermann R, Hatzakorzian R, Matsukawa T, Schricker T 2010 Perioperative tight glucose control with hyperinsulinemic-normoglycemic clamp technique in cardiac surgery. Nutrition 11-12:1122-1129
- Saleh J, Summers LK, Cianflone K, Fielding BA, Sniderman AD, Frayn KN 1998
 Coordinated release of acylation stimulating protein (ASP) and triacylglycerol clearance
 by human adipose tissue in vivo in the postprandial period. Journal of Lipid Research
 39:884-891

- 48. Bustin S, Benes V, Garson JA, Hellemans J, Huggett J, Kubista M, Mueller R, Nolan T, Pfaffl MW, Shipley GL, Vandesompele J, Wittwer CT 2009 The MIQE guidelines: minimum information for publication of quantitative real-time PCR experiments. Clin Chem 55:611-622
- Hassanain M, Metrakos PM, Fisette A, Doid SAR, Salmon A, Chaudhury P, Schricker T, Latterman R, Carvalho G, Valenti D, Dey C, Wykes L, Nitschmann E, and Cianflone K 2010 Insulin Therapy Improves Liver Function and Reduces Complications in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Surgery. Lancet-submitted
- Schindl MJ, Redhead DN, Fearon KC, Garden OJ, Wigmore SJ 2005 The value of residual liver volume as a predictor of hepatic dysfunction and infection after major liver resection. Gut 54:289-296
- 51. Saiepour D, Sehlin J, Oldenborg P-A 2003 Hyperglycemia-induced protein kinase C activation inhibits phagocytosis of C3b- and immunoglobulin g-opsonized yeast particles in normal human neutrophils. Experimental Diabesity Research 4:125-132
- McMillan DE 1980 Elevation of complement components in diabetes mellitus. Diabete et Metabolisme 6:265-270
- 53. Turina M, Fry DE, Polk HC, Jr. 2005 Acute hyperglycemia and the innate immune system: clinical, cellular, and molecular aspects. Crit Care Med 33:1624-1633
- Krantz S, Stelter F, Lober M, Rjasanowski I, Michaelis D, Buske B 1988 Complement component 3 (C 3) and diabetes mellitus. Experimental & Clinical Endocrinology 92:287-296
- 55. Ebeling P, Teppo AM, Koistinen HA, Koivisto VA 2001 Concentration of the complement activation product, acylation-stimulating protein, is related to C-reactive protein in patients with type 2 diabetes. Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental 50:283-287
- 56. Black CT, Hennessey PJ, Andrassy RJ 1990 Short-term hyperglycemia depresses immunity through nonenzymatic glycosylation of circulating immunoglobulin. Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care 30:830-832; discussion 832-833
- 57. Hoedemaekers C, Van Deuren M, Sprong T, Pickkers P, Mollnes T, Klasen I, Van derHoeven J 2008 Complement activation after uncomplicated coronary artery bypass grafting: role of strict glucose control. Critical Care 12:P152

58. Clavien PA, Barkun J, de Oliveira ML, Vauthey JN, Dindo D, Schulick RD, de Santibanes E, Pekolj J, Slankamenac K, Bassi C, Graf R, Vonlanthen R, Padbury R, Cameron JL, Makuuchi M 2009 The Clavien-Dindo classification of surgical complications: five-year experience. Annals of Surgery 250:187-196

Conclusions

For my thesis work I investigated the use of the HNC protocol combined with preoperative carbohydrate loading for maintaining liver glycogen content and sustaining normoglycaemia in patients undergoing major liver resection. This is the first published succefull work aiming to improve the quality of the FLR.

An initial feasibility study showed significant promise in using the HNC protocol in patients undergoing major liver resection. Benefits of the HNC therapy were exemplified by the remarkable recovery of a 63-year-old Caucasian woman who received the HNC protocol during a hepatectomy for hilar cholangiocarcinoma. The operation left her with very little viable tissue. By the end of postoperative day 1 her liver dysfunction was classified as only 'mild'. This assessment was further downgraded to 'no liver dysfunction' by postoperative day 2. This case report prompted initiation of a large randomized clinical trial for determining the benefits of insulin/glucose therapy administered via the HNC protocol. We wanted to see if tight-glucose control by the clamp technique could improve patient outcomes after hepatic resection.

All subsequent studies proceeded under the umbrella of a randomized-controlled trial involving consenting patients >18 years scheduled to undergo liver surgery. Baseline liver function and operative characteristics were similar among participants, and the study included both diabetics and nondiabetics.

Results from the trial demonstrated that major liver surgery induces a stress response that can culminate in moderate to severe hyperglycaemia. We achieved better glucose control overall with no incidence of sever hypoglycaemia when using the HNC protocol during and after surgery compared to using standard insulin therapy. The mean glucose in patients on the HNC protocol consistently remained within normal target range (3.6–6.1 mmol/L) both during and after surgery. Control patients on standard insulin therapy experienced a gradual increase in mean glucose that plateaued between 9–12 mmol/L perioperatively. Diabetic controls developed slightly more extreme hyperglycaemia than the nondiabetics.

None of the intervention patients experienced severe hyper- (>10 mmol/L) or hypoglycaemia (<2.2 mmol/L) while on the protocol. Fewer fluctuations in blood glucose occurred among intervention patients, but mild hypoglycaemia was more prevalent in this study population postoperatively.

Some of my most exciting results emerged from the trial when we combined the protocol with preoperative carbohydrate loading. This led to significant improvements in parameters necessary for maintaining hepatocyte integrity following tissue trauma. The extended protocol improved postoperative liver function, augmented liver glycogen and reduced the incidence of postoperative complications significantly.

Liver function scores as per Schindl (23) were significantly better for the intervention patients. Scores for patients on the protocol ranged from 0 to 4 signifying mild-to-moderate dysfunction while control patients received scores from 2 to 8 indicating moderate-to-severe POLD.

The combined protocol also significantly improved the content of liver glycogen available for hepatocyte regeneration during surgery and reduced overall complications. The mean liver glycogen content measured from liver biopsies taken perioperatively was 430 (188–723) and 278 (48–620) mmol/kg for intervention and control patients, respectively. Adverse events occurred in

150

62% of intervention patients while almost all controls had an adverse event. Infections Clavien grade 2 or higher occurred in 26% of patients in the control group and 3.4% in the intervention group. The protocol was deemed safe, reliable and easy to apply at a step-down unit.

The third manuscript is very critical in indicating the potential influence of insulin therapy in reducing postoperative complications from liver surgery. When administered at high doses insulin provides anti-inflammatory, antioxidative, and cardioprotective effects especially in patients exposed to major surgical trauma.

The last stage of the study involved determining alterations in biochemical and genetic markers related to the surgical adaptive stress response. Results from serum and liver biopsy samples taken from LR patients at different time points throughout their surgery demonstrated that insulin therapy delivered with the HNC protocol reduces postoperative liver dysfunction by suppressing inflammation and associated apoptosis. The analyses showed that protective anti-apoptotic genes BCL2 (P = 0.01) and BCL2L1 (P = 0.02) are upregulated in intervention patients while control patients have higher levels of pro-apoptotic genes, BAX (P = 0.04), Caspase 8 (P = 0.004) and Caspase 9 (P = 0.01). As well, proinflammatory mediators IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α , and MCP-1 increased acutely in both groups perioperatively, but more significantly in intervention patients.

Given the promising results from our clinical trial in showing the benefits of the HNC protocol combined with carbohydrate loading i.e. safe reduction of POLD and augmented liver glycogen while achieving normolglycaemia, This protocol can potentially be applied to patients with acute liver failure, patients undergoing liver resections, liver transplantation, or living liver donation in order to preserve their liver function.

Further work can is required to dissect the effect of the two components of the metabolic support protocol in patients undergoing major liver resection. Such work can delineate the differential effect of preoperative carbohydrate load and the effect of perioperative insulin therapy. Furthermore, a randomized clinical trial is needed to examine the effect of the reduction in postoperative adverse events in improving the overall cancer survival.

Bibliography

- 1. Obendorfer, S. (1907) Karzinoide Tumouren des Dunndarms, *Frankfurter Zeitschrift fur Pathologie 1*, 425-429.
- Yao, J. C., Hassan, M., Phan, A., Dagohoy, C., Leary, C., Mares, J. E., Abdalla, E. K., Fleming, J. B., Vauthey, J.-N., Rashid, A., and Evans, D. B. (2008) One hundred years after "carcinoid": epidemiology of and prognostic factors for neuroendocrine tumors in 35,825 cases in the United States, *Journal of Clinical Oncology 26*, 3063-3072.
- Hasegawa, S., Ikai, I., Fujii, H., Hatano, E., and Shimahara, Y. (2007) Surgical resection of hilar cholangiocarcinoma: analysis of survival and postoperative complications, *World J Surg 31*, 1256-1263.
- Wei, A. C., Greig, P. D., Grant, D., Taylor, B., Langer, B., and Gallinger, S. (2006) Survival after hepatic resection for colorectal metastases: a 10-year experience, *Ann Surg Oncol 13*, 668-676.
- O'Grady, H. L., and Conlon, K. C. (2008) Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumours, *European* Journal of Surgical Oncology 34, 324-332.
- Phan, G. Q., Yeo, C. J., Hruban, R. H., Lillemoe, K. D., Pitt, H. A., and Cameron, J. L. (1998) Surgical experience with pancreatic and peripancreatic neuroendocrine tumors: review of 125 patients, *Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery 2*, 472-482.
- van Beek, A. P., de Haas, E. R. M., van Vloten, W. A., Lips, C. J. M., Roijers, J. F. M., and Canninga-van Dijk, M. R. (2004) The glucagonoma syndrome and necrolytic migratory erythema: a clinical review, *European Journal of Endocrinology 151*, 531-537.
- Fong, Y., Fortner, J., Sun, R. L., Brennan, M. F., and Blumgart, L. H. (1999) Clinical score for predicting recurrence after hepatic resection for metastatic colorectal cancer: analysis of 1001 consecutive cases, *Ann Surg 230*, 309-318; discussion 318-321.
- Debray, M. P., Geoffroy, O., Laissy, J. P., Lebtahi, R., Silbermann-Hoffman, O., Henry-Feugeas, M. C., Cadiot, G., Mignon, M., and Schouman-Claeys, E. (2001) Imaging appearances of metastases from neuroendocrine tumours of the pancreas, *Br J Radiol 74*, 1065-1070.

- Rosch, T., Lorenz, R., Braig, C., Feuerbach, S., Siewert, J. R., Schusdziarra, V., and Classen, M. (1991) Endoscopic ultrasound in pancreatic tumor diagnosis, *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy* 37, 347-352.
- Adam, R., Pascal, G., Azoulay, D., Tanaka, K., Castaing, D., and Bismuth, H. (2003) Liver resection for colorectal metastases: the third hepatectomy, *Ann Surg 238*, 871-883; discussion 883-874.
- Poon, R. T., Fan, S. T., Lo, C. M., Liu, C. L., Lam, C. M., Yuen, W. K., Yeung, C., and Wong, J. (2004) Improving perioperative outcome expands the role of hepatectomy in management of benign and malignant hepatobiliary diseases: analysis of 1222 consecutive patients from a prospective database, *Ann Surg 240*, 698-708; discussion 708-610.
- Fan, S. T., Lo, C. M., Lai, E. C., Chu, K. M., Liu, C. L., and Wong, J. (1994) Perioperative nutritional support in patients undergoing hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma, *N Engl J Med 331*, 1547-1552.
- Cohnert, T. U., Rau, H. G., Buttler, E., Hernandez-Richter, T., Sauter, G., Reuter, C., and Schildberg, F. W. (1997) Preoperative risk assessment of hepatic resection for malignant disease, *World J Surg 21*, 396-400; discussion 401.
- Belghiti, J., Hiramatsu, K., Benoist, S., Massault, P., Sauvanet, A., and Farges, O. (2000) Seven hundred forty-seven hepatectomies in the 1990s: an update to evaluate the actual risk of liver resection, *J Am Coll Surg 191*, 38-46.
- Laurent, C., Sa Cunha, A., Couderc, P., Rullier, E., and Saric, J. (2003) Influence of postoperative morbidity on long-term survival following liver resection for colorectal metastases, *Br J Surg 90*, 1131-1136.
- Mabuchi, S., Altomare, D. A., Cheung, M., Zhang, L., Poulikakos, P. I., Hensley, H. H., Schilder, R. J., Ozols, R. F., and Testa, J. R. (2007) RAD001 inhibits human ovarian cancer cell proliferation, enhances cisplatin-induced apoptosis, and prolongs survival in an ovarian cancer model, *Clinical Cancer Research 13*, 4261-4270.
- Clavien, P.-A., Petrowsky, H., DeOliveira, M. L., and Graf, R. (2007) Strategies for safer liver surgery and partial liver transplantation, *The New England Journal of Medicine 356*, 1545-1559.

- Marcos, A. (2000) Right lobe living donor liver transplantation: a review, *Liver Transpl* 6, 3-20.
- Kooby, D. A., Fong, Y., Suriawinata, A., Gonen, M., Allen, P. J., Klimstra, D. S., DeMatteo, R. P., D'Angelica, M., Blumgart, L. H., and Jarnagin, W. R. (2003) Impact of steatosis on perioperative outcome following hepatic resection, *J Gastrointest Surg 7*, 1034-1044.
- Reed, D. N., Jr., Vitale, G. C., Wrightson, W. R., Edwards, M., and McMasters, K.
 (2003) Decreasing mortality of bile leaks after elective hepatic surgery, *Am J Surg 185*, 316-318.
- Shoup, M., Gonen, M., D'Angelica, M., Jarnagin, W. R., DeMatteo, R. P., Schwartz, L. H., Tuorto, S., Blumgart, L. H., and Fong, Y. (2003) Volumetric analysis predicts hepatic dysfunction in patients undergoing major liver resection, *J Gastrointest Surg* 7, 325-330.
- Schindl, M. J., Redhead, D. N., Fearon, K. C., Garden, O. J., and Wigmore, S. J. (2005) The value of residual liver volume as a predictor of hepatic dysfunction and infection after major liver resection, *Gut 54*, 289-296.
- Benzoni, E., Lorenzin, D., Baccarani, U., Adani, G. L., Favero, A., Cojutti, A., Bresadola, F., and Uzzau, A. (2006) Resective surgery for liver tumor: a multivariate analysis of causes and risk factors linked to postoperative complications, *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 5*, 526-533.
- Wiezer, M. J., Meijer, C., Wallast-Groenewoud, H. P., Tool, A. T., Prins, H. A., Houdijk, A. P., Beelen, R. H., Meijer, S., Hack, C. E., and van Leeuwen, P. A. (1999) Impaired leukocyte phagocytosis in patients undergoing hemihepatectomy for liver metastases, *Liver Transpl Surg 5*, 238-245.
- 26. Palavecino, M., Kishi, Y., Chun, Y. S., Brown, D. L., Gottumukkala, V. N., Lichtiger, B., Curley, S. A., Abdalla, E. K., and Vauthey, J. N. (2009) Two-surgeon technique of parenchymal transection contributes to reduced transfusion rate in patients undergoing major hepatectomy: Analysis of 1,557 consecutive liver resections, *Surgery*.
- Mullen, J. T., Ribero, D., Reddy, S. K., Donadon, M., Zorzi, D., Gautam, S., Abdalla, E. K., Curley, S. A., Capussotti, L., Clary, B. M., and Vauthey, J. N. (2007) Hepatic insufficiency and mortality in 1,059 noncirrhotic patients undergoing major hepatectomy, *J Am Coll Surg 204*, 854-862; discussion 862-854.

- Schuler, W., Sedrani, R., Cottens, S., Haberlin, B., Schulz, M., Schuurman, H. J., Zenke, G., Zerwes, H. G., and Schreier, M. H. (1997) SDZ RAD, a new rapamycin derivative: pharmacological properties in vitro and in vivo, *Transplantation 64*, 36-42.
- (2000) Are booster immunisations needed for lifelong hepatitis B immunity? European Consensus Group on Hepatitis B Immunity, *Lancet 355*, 561-565.
- Sun, H. C., Qin, L. X., Wang, L., Ye, Q. H., Wu, Z. Q., Fan, J., and Tang, Z. Y. (2005) Risk factors for postoperative complications after liver resection, *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 4*, 370-374.
- 31. Nordlinger, B., Van Cutsem, E., Gruenberger, T., Glimelius, B., Poston, G., Rougier, P., Sobrero, A., Ychou, M., and Group, o. b. o. t. E. C. M. T. (2009) Combination of surgery and chemotherapy and the role of targeted agents in the treatment of patients with colorectal liver metastases: recommendations from an expert panel, *Ann Oncol*.
- Brouquet, A., Benoist, S., Julie, C., Penna, C., Beauchet, A., Rougier, P., and Nordlinger,
 B. (2009) Risk factors for chemotherapy-associated liver injuries: A multivariate analysis of a group of 146 patients with colorectal metastases, *Surgery 145*, 362-371.
- Tanaka, K., Shimada, H., Ueda, M., Matsuo, K., Endo, I., Sekido, H., and Togo, S. (2006) Perioperative complications after hepatectomy with or without intra-arterial chemotherapy for bilobar colorectal cancer liver metastases, *Surgery 139*, 599-607.
- 34. Sundaram, S. S., Zeitler, P., and Nadeau, K. (2009) The metabolic syndrome and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children, *Curr Opin Pediatr 21*, 529-535.
- 35. Yu, C. I., and Chiang, B.-L. (2010) A new insight into hepatitis C vaccine development, *Journal of Biomedicine & Biotechnology 2010*, 548280.
- 36. Al-Sebayel, M., Khalaf, H., Al-Sofayan, M., Al-Saghier, M., Abdo, A., Al-Bahili, H., El-Sheikh, Y., Helmy, A., and Medhat, Y. (2007) Experience with 122 consecutive liver transplant procedures at King Faisal Specialist Hospital and Research Center, *Annals of Saudi Medicine 27*, 333-338.
- Al-Faleh, F. Z., Al-Jeffri, M., Ramia, S., Al-Rashed, R., Arif, M., Rezeig, M., Al-Toraif, I., Bakhsh, M., Mishkkhas, A., Makki, O., Al-Freihi, H., Mirdad, S., AlJuma, A., Yasin, T., Al-Swailem, A., and Ayoola, A. (1999) Seroepidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection in Saudi children 8 years after a mass hepatitis B vaccination programme, *Journal of Infection 38*, 167-170.

- Tang, L., Tian, F., Tao, W., and Cui, J. (2007) Hepatocellular glycogen in alleviation of liver ischemia-reperfusion injury during partial hepatectomy, *World J Surg 31*, 2039-2043.
- Papouchado, B., Erickson, L. A., Rohlinger, A. L., Hobday, T. J., Erlichman, C., Ames, M. M., and Lloyd, R. V. (2005) Epidermal growth factor receptor and activated epidermal growth factor receptor expression in gastrointestinal carcinoids and pancreatic endocrine carcinomas, *Modern Pathology 18*, 1329-1335.
- 40. Hopfner, M., Baradari, V., Huether, A., Schofl, C., and Scherubl, H. (2006) The insulinlike growth factor receptor 1 is a promising target for novel treatment approaches in neuroendocrine gastrointestinal tumours, *Endocrine-Related Cancer 13*, 135-149.
- Nilsson, O., Wangberg, B., Theodorsson, E., Skottner, A., and Ahlman, H. (1992) Presence of IGF-I in human midgut carcinoid tumours--an autocrine regulator of carcinoid tumour growth?, *International Journal of Cancer 51*, 195-203.
- 42. Faivre, S., Kroemer, G., and Raymond, E. (2006) Current development of mTOR inhibitors as anticancer agents, *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 5, 671-688.
- Sierra, M. L., Agazzi, A., Bodei, L., Pacifici, M., Arico, D., De Cicco, C., Quarna, J., Sansovini, M., De Simone, M., and Paganelli, G. (2009) Lymphocytic toxicity in patients after peptide-receptor radionuclide therapy (PRRT) with 177Lu-DOTATATE and 90Y-DOTATOC, *Cancer Biotherapy & Radiopharmaceuticals 24*, 659-665.
- 44. Zaka, M., Rafi, M. A., Rao, H. Z., Luzi, P., and Wenger, D. A. (2005) Insulin-like growth factor-1 provides protection against psychosine-induced apoptosis in cultured mouse oligodendrocyte progenitor cells using primarily the PI3K/Akt pathway, *Molecular & Cellular Neurosciences 30*, 398-407.
- Lehmann, A., Halstensen, A., Sornes, S., Rokke, O., and Waage, A. (1995) High levels of interleukin 10 in serum are associated with fatality in meningococcal disease, *Infect. Immun.* 63, 2109-2112.
- 46. Van Gompel, J. J., and Chen, H. (2004) Insulin-like growth factor 1 signaling in human gastrointestinal carcinoid tumor cells, *Surgery 136*, 1297-1302.
- 47. Schwabe, R. F., and Brenner, D. A. (2006) Mechanisms of Liver Injury. I. TNF-alphainduced liver injury: role of IKK, JNK, and ROS pathways, *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 290*, G583-589.

- Kim, Y. I., Hwang, Y. J., Song, K. E., Yun, Y. K., Lee, J. W., and Chun, B. Y. (2002) Hepatocyte protection by a protease inhibitor against ischemia/reperfusion injury of human liver, *J Am Coll Surg 195*, 41-50.
- 49. Turina, M., Fry, D. E., and Polk, H. C., Jr. (2005) Acute hyperglycemia and the innate immune system: clinical, cellular, and molecular aspects, *Crit Care Med 33*, 1624-1633.
- 50. van den Berghe, G., Wouters, P., Weekers, F., Verwaest, C., Bruyninckx, F., Schetz, M., Vlasselaers, D., Ferdinande, P., Lauwers, P., and Bouillon, R. (2001) Intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill patients, *N Engl J Med 345*, 1359-1367.
- Tsuchiya, A., Koizumi, M., and Ohtani, H. (2009) World Health Organization Classification (2004)-based re-evaluation of 95 nonfunctioning "malignant" pancreatic endocrine tumors reported in Japan, *Surgery Today 39*, 500-509.
- Paganelli, G., Zoboli, S., Cremonesi, M., Bodei, L., Ferrari, M., Grana, C., Bartolomei, M., Orsi, F., De Cicco, C., Macke, H. R., Chinol, M., and de Braud, F. (2001) Receptormediated radiotherapy with 90Y-DOTA-D-Phe1-Tyr3-octreotide, *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine 28*, 426-434.
- 53. Ambiru, S., Kato, A., Kimura, F., Shimizu, H., Yoshidome, H., Otsuka, M., and Miyazaki, M. (2008) Poor postoperative blood glucose control increases surgical site infections after surgery for hepato-biliary-pancreatic cancer: a prospective study in a high-volume institute in Japan, *J Hosp Infect 68*, 230-233.
- Carvalho, G., Moore, A., Qizilbash, B., Lachapelle, K., and Schricker, T. (2004) Maintenance of normoglycemia during cardiac surgery, *Anesth Analg 99*, 319-324, table of contents.
- 55. Van Damme, P., and Van Herck, K. (2005) Effect of hepatitis A vaccination programs, *Jama 294*, 246-248.
- Martin, A., and Lemon, S. M. (2006) Hepatitis A virus: from discovery to vaccines, *Hepatology 43*, S164-172.
- 57. Temte, J. L. (2006) Should all children be immunised against hepatitis A?, *BMJ 332*, 715-718.
- 58. WHO. (2009) World Health Organization Regional Committee for the Eastern Mediterranean; The growing threats of hepatitis B and C in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: a call for action.

- 59. El-Serag, H. B., Marrero, J. A., Rudolph, L., and Reddy, K. R. (2008) Diagnosis and treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma, *Gastroenterology* 134, 1752-1763.
- Jarnagin, W. R., Gonen, M., Fong, Y., DeMatteo, R. P., Ben-Porat, L., Little, S., Corvera, C., Weber, S., and Blumgart, L. H. (2002) Improvement in perioperative outcome after hepatic resection: analysis of 1,803 consecutive cases over the past decade, *Ann Surg* 236, 397-406; discussion 406-397.
- 61. Grant, C. S. (2005) Insulinoma, *Best Practice & Research in Clinical Gastroenterology* 19, 783-798.
- 62. Carriaga, M. T., and Henson, D. E. (1995) Liver, gallbladder, extrahepatic bile ducts, and pancreas, *Cancer* 75, 171-190.
- Alfaleh, F., Alshehri, S., Alansari, S., Aljeffri, M., Almazrou, Y., Shaffi, A., and Abdo,
 A. A. (2008) Long-term protection of hepatitis B vaccine 18 years after vaccination,
 Journal of Infection 57, 404-409.
- Adam, R., Aloia, T., Krissat, J., Bralet, M. P., Paule, B., Giacchetti, S., Delvart, V., Azoulay, D., Bismuth, H., and Castaing, D. (2006) Is liver resection justified for patients with hepatic metastases from breast cancer?, *Ann Surg 244*, 897-907; discussion 907-898.
- Shinohara, E. T., Cao, C., Niermann, K., Mu, Y., Zeng, F., Hallahan, D. E., and Lu, B. (2005) Enhanced radiation damage of tumor vasculature by mTOR inhibitors, *Oncogene* 24, 5414-5422.
- Jensen, R. T., Rindi, G., Arnold, R., Lopes, J., x00E, Brandi, M. L., Bechstein, W. O., Christ, E., Taal, B. G., Knigge, U., Ahlman, H., Kwekkeboom, D. J., O'Toole, D., Frascati Consensus, C., and European Neuroendocrine Tumor, S. (2006) Welldifferentiated duodenal tumor/carcinoma (excluding gastrinomas), *Neuroendocrinology* 84, 165-172.
- Pollak, M. N., Polychronakos, C., and Guyda, H. (1989) Somatostatin analogue SMS 201-995 reduces serum IGF-I levels in patients with neoplasms potentially dependent on IGF-I, *Anticancer Research 9*, 889-891.
- Klempnauer J, Ridder GJ, von Wasielewski R, Werner M, Weimann A, and Pichlmayr, R. (1997) Resectional surgery of hilar cholangiocarcinoma: a multivariate analysis of prognostic factors, *Journal of Clinical Oncology 15*, 947-954.

- Wicherts, D. A., Miller, R., de Haas, R. J., Bitsakou, G., Vibert, E., Veilhan, L. A., Azoulay, D., Bismuth, H., Castaing, D., and Adam, R. (2008) Long-term results of twostage hepatectomy for irresectable colorectal cancer liver metastases, *Ann Surg 248*, 994-1005.
- 70. Zikusoka, M. N., Kidd, M., Eick, G., Latich, I., and Modlin, I. M. (2005) The molecular genetics of gastroenteropancreatic neuroendocrine tumors, *Cancer 104*, 2292-2309.
- Saudy, N., Sugauchi, F., Tanaka, Y., Suzuki, S., Aal, A. A., Zaid, M. A., Agha, S., and Mizokami, M. (2003) Genotypes and phylogenetic characterization of hepatitis B and delta viruses in Egypt, *Journal of Medical Virology* 70, 529-536.
- Nadalin, S., Testa, G., Malago, M., Beste, M., Frilling, A., Schroeder, T., Jochum, C., Gerken, G., and Broelsch, C. E. (2004) Volumetric and functional recovery of the liver after right hepatectomy for living donation, *Liver Transpl 10*, 1024-1029.
- Sorrell, M. F., Belongia, E. A., Costa, J., Gareen, I. F., Grem, J. L., Inadomi, J. M., Kern, E. R., McHugh, J. A., Petersen, G. M., Rein, M. F., Strader, D. B., and Trotter, H. T. (2009) National Institutes of Health consensus development conference statement: management of hepatitis B, *Hepatology 49*, S4-S12.
- 74. Al-Tawfiq, J. A., and Anani, A. (2008) Profile of viral hepatitis A, B, and C in a Saudi Arabian hospital, *Medical Science Monitor 14*, CR52-56.
- Ayoola, E. A., and Gadour, M. O. E. H. (2004) Hepatocellular carcinoma in Saudi Arabia: role of hepatitis B and C infection, *Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 19, 665-669.
- 76. Bartsch, D. K., Fendrich, V., Langer, P., Celik, I., Kann, P. H., and Rothmund, M. Outcome of duodenopancreatic resections in patients with multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1, *Annals of Surgery 242*, 757-764.
- 77. Norton, J. A., Fraker, D. L., Alexander, H. R., Venzon, D. J., Doppman, J. L., Serrano, J., Goebel, S. U., Peghini, P. L., Roy, P. K., Gibril, F., and Jensen, R. T. (1999) Surgery to cure the Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, *New England Journal of Medicine 341*, 635-644.
- Lo, C. Y., van Heerden, J. A., Thompson, G. B., Grant, C. S., x00F, reide, J. A., and Harmsen, W. S. (1996) Islet cell carcinoma of the pancreas, *World Journal of Surgery 20*, 878-883; discussion 884.

- Yu, F., Venzon, D. J., Serrano, J., Goebel, S. U., Doppman, J. L., Gibril, F., and Jensen,
 R. T. (1999) Prospective study of the clinical course, prognostic factors, causes of death, and survival in patients with long-standing Zollinger-Ellison syndrome, *Journal of Clinical Oncology 17*, 615-630.
- 80. Sallam, T. A., and William Tong, C. Y. (2004) African links and hepatitis B virus genotypes in the Republic of Yemen, *Journal of Medical Virology* 73, 23-28.
- Amini-Bavil-Olyaee, S., Sarrami-Forooshani, R., Adeli, A., Sabahi, F., Abachi, M., Azizi, M., and Mahboudi, F. (2005) Complete genomic sequence and phylogenetic relatedness of hepatitis B virus isolates from Iran, *Journal of Medical Virology* 76, 318-326.
- Sunbul, M., and Leblebicioglu, H. (2005) Distribution of hepatitis B virus genotypes in patients with chronic hepatitis B in Turkey, *World Journal of Gastroenterology 11*, 1976-1980.
- 83. Udelsman, R., and Holbrook, N. J. (1994) Endocrine and molecular responses to surgical stress, *Current Problems in Surgery 31*, 653-620.
- 84. Raymond, E., Faivre, S., Hammel, P., and Ruszniewski, P. (2009) Sunitinib paves the way for targeted therapies in neuroendocrine tumors, *Targeted Oncology 4*, 253-254.
- Atassi, B., Bangash, A. K., Bahrani, A., Pizzi, G., Lewandowski, R. J., Ryu, R. K., Sato, K. T., Gates, V. L., Mulcahy, M. F., Kulik, L., Miller, F., Yaghmai, V., Murthy, R., Larson, A., Omary, R. A., and Salem, R. (2008) Multimodality Imaging Following 90Y Radioembolization: A Comprehensive Review and Pictorial Essay1, *Radiographics 28*, 81-99.
- 86.
- Vauthey, J. N., Chaoui, A., Do, K. A., Bilimoria, M. M., Fenstermacher, M. J., Charnsangavej, C., Hicks, M., Alsfasser, G., Lauwers, G., Hawkins, I. F., and Caridi, J. (2000) Standardized measurement of the future liver remnant prior to extended liver resection: methodology and clinical associations, *Surgery 127*, 512-519.
- Celinski, S. A., Nguyen, K. T., Steel, J. L., Mehra, R., J.W., M., D.A., G., A., T., and T.C., G. (2010) Multimodality management of neuroendocrine tumors metastatic to the liver, ASCO Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium Abstract No. 234.

- Memish, Z. A., Knawy, B. A., and El-Saed, A. (2010) Incidence trends of viral hepatitis
 A, B, and C seropositivity over eight years of surveillance in Saudi Arabia, *International Journal of Infectious Diseases 14*, e115-e120.
- 90. Perz, J. F., Armstrong, G. L., Farrington, L. A., Hutin, Y. J. F., and Bell, B. P. (2006) The contributions of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer worldwide, *Journal of Hepatology* 45, 529-538.
- Ribero, D., Abdalla, E. K., Madoff, D. C., Donadon, M., Loyer, E. M., and Vauthey, J. N. (2007) Portal vein embolization before major hepatectomy and its effects on regeneration, resectability and outcome, *Br J Surg 94*, 1386-1394.
- 92. Hwang, S., Lee, S. K., Ko, G. Y., Kim, B. S., Sung, K. B., Kim, M. H., Lee, S. K., and Hong, H. N. (2009) Sequential Preoperative Ipsilateral Hepatic Vein Embolization After Portal Vein Embolization to Induce Further Liver Regeneration in Patients With Hepatobiliary Malignancy, *Ann Surg 249*, 608-616.
- Maeda, H., Okabayashi, T., Nishimori, I., Yamashita, K., Sugimoto, T., and Hanazaki, K. (2010) Hyperglycemia during hepatic resection: continuous monitoring of blood glucose concentration, *Am J Surg 199*, 8-13.
- 94. Schindl, M. J., Millar, A. M., Redhead, D. N., Fearon, K. C., Ross, J. A., Dejong, C. H., Garden, O. J., and Wigmore, S. J. (2006) The adaptive response of the reticuloendothelial system to major liver resection in humans, *Ann Surg 243*, 507-514.
- 95. Bahri, O., Cheikh, I., Hajji, N., Djebbi, A., Maamouri, N., Sadraoui, A., Mami, N. B., and Triki, H. (2006) Hepatitis B genotypes, precore and core promoter mutants circulating in Tunisia, *Journal of Medical Virology* 78, 353-357.
- 96. Xia, G.-L., Liu, C.-B., Cao, H.-L., Bi, S.-L., Zhan, M.-Y., Su, C.-A., Nan, J.-H., and Qi, X.-Q. (1996) Prevalence of hepatitis B and C virus infections in the general Chinese population. Results from a nationwide cross-sectional seroepidemiologic study of hepatitis A, B, C, D, and E virus infections in China, 1992, *International Hepatology Communications 5*, 62-73.
- 87. Kleiner, D. E., Brunt, E. M., Van Natta, M., Behling, C., Contos, M. J., Cummings, O. W., Ferrell, L. D., Liu, Y. C., Torbenson, M. S., Unalp-Arida, A., Yeh, M., McCullough, A. J., and Sanyal, A. J. (2005) Design and validation of a histological scoring system for nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, *Hepatology 41*, 1313-1321.

- 98. Fernandez, F. G., Ritter, J., Goodwin, J. W., Linehan, D. C., Hawkins, W. G., and Strasberg, S. M. (2005) Effect of steatohepatitis associated with irinotecan or oxaliplatin pretreatment on resectability of hepatic colorectal metastases, *J Am Coll Surg 200*, 845-853.
- 99. Vauthey, J. N., Pawlik, T. M., Ribero, D., Wu, T. T., Zorzi, D., Hoff, P. M., Xiong, H. Q., Eng, C., Lauwers, G. Y., Mino-Kenudson, M., Risio, M., Muratore, A., Capussotti, L., Curley, S. A., and Abdalla, E. K. (2006) Chemotherapy regimen predicts steatohepatitis and an increase in 90-day mortality after surgery for hepatic colorectal metastases, *J Clin Oncol 24*, 2065-2072.
- 100. Aloia, T., Sebagh, M., Plasse, M., Karam, V., Levi, F., Giacchetti, S., Azoulay, D., Bismuth, H., Castaing, D., and Adam, R. (2006) Liver histology and surgical outcomes after preoperative chemotherapy with fluorouracil plus oxaliplatin in colorectal cancer liver metastases, *J Clin Oncol 24*, 4983-4990.
- 101. Nordlinger, B., Sorbye, H., Glimelius, B., Poston, G. J., Schlag, P. M., Rougier, P., Bechstein, W. O., Primrose, J. N., Walpole, E. T., Finch-Jones, M., Jaeck, D., Mirza, D., Parks, R. W., Collette, L., Praet, M., Bethe, U., Van Cutsem, E., Scheithauer, W., Gruenberger, T., Group, E. G.-I. T. C., UK, C. R., (ALM-CAO), A. L. u.-t. i. d. C. A. O., (AGITG), A. G.-I. T. G., and (FFCD), F. F. d. C. D. (2008) Perioperative chemotherapy with FOLFOX4 and surgery versus surgery alone for resectable liver metastases from colorectal cancer (EORTC Intergroup trial 40983): a randomised controlled trial, *Lancet 371*, 1007-1016.
- 102. Ferrero, A., Vigano, L., Polastri, R., Muratore, A., Eminefendic, H., Regge, D., and Capussotti, L. (2007) Postoperative liver dysfunction and future remnant liver: where is the limit? Results of a prospective study, *World J Surg 31*, 1643-1651.
- 103. Vauthey, J. N., Pawlik, T. M., Abdalla, E. K., Arens, J. F., Nemr, R. A., Wei, S. H., Kennamer, D. L., Ellis, L. M., and Curley, S. A. (2004) Is extended hepatectomy for hepatobiliary malignancy justified?, *Ann Surg 239*, 722-730; discussion 730-722.
- Bashawri, L. A. M., Fawaz, N. A., Ahmad, M. S., Qadi, A. A., and Almawi, W. Y.
 (2004) Prevalence of seromarkers of HBV and HCV among blood donors in eastern Saudi Arabia, 1998-2001, *Clinical & Laboratory Haematology 26*, 225-228.

- 105. Alswaidi, F., and O'Brien, S. (2010) Is there a need to include HIV, HBV and HCV viruses in the Saudi premarital screening program on the basis of their prevalence and transmission risk factors?, *J Epidemiol Community Health 64*, 989-997.
- 106. Madani, T. A. (2007) Trend in incidence of hepatitis B virus infection during a decade of universal childhood hepatitis B vaccination in Saudi Arabia, *Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine & Hygiene 101*, 278-283.
- Zacharias, T., Jaeck, D., Oussoultzoglou, E., Bachellier, P., and Weber, J. C. (2004) First and repeat resection of colorectal liver metastases in elderly patients, *Ann Surg 240*, 858-865.
- Shatat, H., Kotkat, A., Farghaly, A., Omar, S., and Zayton, S. (2005) A study of hepatitis B vaccine efficacy 10 years after compulsory vaccination in Egypt, *Journal of the Egyptian Public Health Association 80*, 495-508.
- Frank, C., Mohamed, M. K., Strickland, G. T., Lavanchy, D., Arthur, R. R., Magder, L. S., El Khoby, T., Abdel-Wahab, Y., Aly Ohn, E. S., Anwar, W., and Sallam, I. (2000) The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt, *Lancet 355*, 887-891.
- Tang, L. J., Tian, F. Z., and Gao, X. M. (2002) Hepatocellular glycogen in alleviation of liver ischemia-reperfusion injury, *Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int 1*, 532-535.
- Stadler, M., Nuyens, V., Seidel, L., Albert, A., and Boogaerts, J. G. (2005) Effect of nutritional status on oxidative stress in an ex vivo perfused rat liver, *Anesthesiology 103*, 978-986.
- 112. Naito, H., Hayashi, S., and Abe, K. (2001) Rapid and specific genotyping system for hepatitis B virus corresponding to six major genotypes by PCR using type-specific primers.[Erratum appears in J Clin Microbiol 2001 Apr;39(4):1686], *Journal of Clinical Microbiology 39*, 362-364.
- 113. Abdo, A. A., Al-Jarallah, B. M., Sanai, F. M., Hersi, A. S., Al-Swat, K., Azzam, N. A., Al-Dukhayil, M., Al-Maarik, A., and Al-Faleh, F. Z. (2006) Hepatitis B genotypes: relation to clinical outcome in patients with chronic hepatitis B in Saudi Arabia, *World Journal of Gastroenterology 12*, 7019-7024.

- 114. Norder, H., Courouc, x00E, M., A., and Magnius, L. O. (1994) Complete genomes, phylogenetic relatedness, and structural proteins of six strains of the hepatitis B virus, four of which represent two new genotypes, *Virology 198*, 489-503.
- Caraceni, P., Nardo, B., Domenicali, M., Turi, P., Vici, M., Simoncini, M., De Maria, N., Trevisani, F., Van Thiel, D. H., Derenzini, M., Cavallari, A., and Bernardi, M. (1999) Ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat fatty liver: role of nutritional status, *Hepatology 29*, 1139-1146.
- 116. Gabbuti, A., Roman, x00F, Luisa, Blanc, P., Meacci, F., Amendola, A., Mele, A., Mazzotta, F., and Zanetti, A. R. (2007) Long-term immunogenicity of hepatitis B vaccination in a cohort of Italian healthy adolescents, *Vaccine 25*, 3129-3132.
- Schricker, T., Lattermann, R., Wykes, L., and Carli, F. (2004) Effect of i.v. dextrose administration on glucose metabolism during surgery, *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 28*, 149-153.
- 118. Thorell, A., Alston-Smith, J., and Ljungqvist, O. (1996) The effect of preoperative carbohydrate loading on hormonal changes, hepatic glycogen, and glucoregulatory enzymes during abdominal surgery, *Nutrition 12*, 690-695.
- Cywes, R., Greig, P. D., Sanabria, J. R., Clavien, P. A., Levy, G. A., Harvey, P. R., and Strasberg, S. M. (1992) Effect of intraportal glucose infusion on hepatic glycogen content and degradation, and outcome of liver transplantation, *Ann Surg 216*, 235-246; discussion 246-237.
- 120. Schricker, T., Lattermann, R., and Carli, F. (2005) Intraoperative protein sparing with glucose, *J Appl Physiol 99*, 898-901.
- Bajetta, E., Rimassa, L., Carnaghi, C., Seregni, E., Ferrari, L., Di Bartolomeo, M., Regalia, E., Cassata, A., Procopio, G., and Mariani, L. (1998) 5-Fluorouracil, dacarbazine, and epirubicin in the treatment of patients with neuroendocrine tumors, *Cancer 83*, 372-378.
- Griesdale, D. E. G., de Souza, R. J., van Dam, R. M., Heyland, D. K., Cook, D. J., Malhotra, A., Dhaliwal, R., Henderson, W. R., Chittock, D. R., Finfer, S., and Talmor, D. (2009) Intensive insulin therapy and mortality among critically ill patients: a metaanalysis including NICE-SUGAR study data, *CMAJ* : *Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne 180*, 821-827.

- Investigators, N.-S. S., Finfer, S., Chittock, D. R., Su, S. Y., Blair, D., Foster, D., Dhingra, V., Bellomo, R., Cook, D., Dodek, P., Henderson, W. R., Hébert, P. C., Heritier, S., Heyland, D. K., McArthur, C., McDonald, E., Mitchell, I., Myburgh, J. A., Norton, R., Potter, J., Robinson, B. G., and Ronco, J. J. (2009) Intensive versus conventional glucose control in critically ill patients, *The New England Journal of Medicine 360*, 1283-1297.
- Finney, S. J., Zekveld, C., Elia, A., and Evans, T. W. (2003) Glucose control and mortality in critically ill patients, *Jama 290*, 2041-2047.
- 125. Wiener, R. S., Wiener, D. C., and Larson, R. J. (2008) Benefits and risks of tight glucose control in critically ill adults: a meta-analysis, *JAMA 300*, 933-944.
- 126. Van den Berghe, G., Wilmer, A., Hermans, G., Meersseman, W., Wouters, P. J., Milants, I., Van Wijngaerden, E., Bobbaers, H., and Bouillon, R. (2006) Intensive insulin therapy in the medical ICU, *N Engl J Med 354*, 449-461.
- 127. Brunkhorst, F. M., Engel, C., Bloos, F., Meier-Hellmann, A., Ragaller, M., Weiler, N., Moerer, O., Gruendling, M., Oppert, M., Grond, S., Olthoff, D., Jaschinski, U., John, S., Rossaint, R., Welte, T., Schaefer, M., Kern, P., Kuhnt, E., Kiehntopf, M., Hartog, C., Natanson, C., Loeffler, M., and Reinhart, K. (2008) Intensive insulin therapy and pentastarch resuscitation in severe sepsis, *N Engl J Med 358*, 125-139.
- 128. El-Sawy, I. H., and Mohamed, O. N. (1999) Long-term immunogenicity and efficacy of a recombinant hepatitis B vaccine in Egyptian children, *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal 5*, 922-932.
- 129. Albacker, T., Carvalho, G., Schricker, T., and Lachapelle, K. (2008) High-dose insulin therapy attenuates systemic inflammatory response in coronary artery bypass grafting patients, *Ann Thorac Surg* 86, 20-27.
- Deng, H., and Chai, J. (2009) The effects and mechanisms of insulin on systemic inflammatory response and immune cells in severe trauma, burn injury, and sepsis, *International Immunopharmacology*.
- 131. Jeschke, M. G., Einspanier, R., Klein, D., and Jauch, K. W. (2002) Insulin attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to thermal trauma, *Mol Med* 8, 443-450.
- 132. Dugo, L., Collin, M., Allen, D. A., Murch, O., Foster, S. J., Yaqoob, M. M., and Thiemermann, C. (2006) Insulin reduces the multiple organ injury and dysfunction caused by coadministration of lipopolysaccharide and peptidoglycan independently of

blood glucose: role of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta inhibition, *Crit Care Med 34*, 1489-1496.

- Albacker, T. B., Carvalho, G., Schricker, T., and Lachapelle, K. (2007) Myocardial protection during elective coronary artery bypass grafting using high-dose insulin therapy, *Ann Thorac Surg* 84, 1920-1927; discussion 1920-1927.
- Dindo, D., Demartines, N., and Clavien, P. A. (2004) Classification of surgical complications: a new proposal with evaluation in a cohort of 6336 patients and results of a survey, *Ann Surg 240*, 205-213.
- Ayoola, A. E., Tobaigy, M. S., Gadour, M. O., Ahmad, B. S., Hamza, M. K., and Ageel,
 A. M. (2003) The decline of hepatitis B viral infection in South-Western Saudi Arabia,
 Saudi Medical Journal 24, 991-995.
- Dixon, E., Schneeweiss, S., Pasieka, J. L., Bathe, O. F., Sutherland, F., and Doig, C.
 (2007) Mortality following liver resection in US medicare patients: does the presence of a liver transplant program affect outcome?, *J Surg Oncol 95*, 194-200.
- 137. Sato, H., Lattermann, R., Carvalho, G., Sato, T., Metrakos, P., Hassanain, M., Matsukawa, T., and Schricker, T. (2010) Perioperative Glucose and Insulin Administration While Maintaining Normoglycemia (GIN Therapy) in Patients Undergoing Major Liver Resection, *Anesth Analg 110*, 1711-1718.

Supplementary Bibliography (manuscripts only)

1. Nettelbladt, C. G., Alibergovic, A., and Ljungqvist, O. (1996) Pre-stress carbohydrate solution prevents fatal outcome after hemorrhage in 24-hour food-deprived rats, *Nutrition 12*, 696-699.

2. Astarcioglu, I., Adam, R., Gigou, M., Isaac, J., and Bismuth, H. (1991) High levels of glycogen in the donor liver improve survival after liver transplantation in rats, *Transplant Proc 23*, 2465-2466.

3. Yokoyama, Y., Nagino, M., and Nimura, Y. (2007) Mechanism of impaired hepatic regeneration in cholestatic liver, *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg 14*, 159-166.

4. Fan, S. T., Lo, C. M., Lai, E. C., Chu, K. M., Liu, C. L., and Wong, J. (1994) Perioperative nutritional support in patients undergoing hepatectomy for hepatocellular carcinoma, *N Engl J Med 331*, 1547-1552.

5. Alibegovic, A., and Ljungqvist, O. (1993) Pretreatment with glucose infusion prevents fatal outcome after hemorrhage in food deprived rats, *Circ Shock 39*, 1-6.

6. Ljungqvist, O., Nygren, J., and Thorell, A. (2002) Modulation of post-operative insulin resistance by pre-operative carbohydrate loading, *Proc Nutr Soc 61*, 329-336.

Domenicali, M., Vendemiale, G., Serviddio, G., Grattagliano, I., Pertosa, A. M., Nardo,
 B., Principe, A., Viola, A., Trevisani, F., Altomare, E., Bernardi, M., and Caraceni, P. (2005)
 Oxidative injury in rat fatty liver exposed to ischemia-reperfusion is modulated by nutritional status, *Digestive & Liver Disease 37*, 689-697.

8. Lattermann, R., Carli, F., and Schricker, T. (2002) Epidural blockade suppresses lipolysis during major abdominal surgery, *Regional Anesthesia & Pain Medicine* 27, 469-475.

9. Umpierrez, G. E., Isaacs, S. D., Bazargan, N., You, X., Thaler, L. M., and Kitabchi, A. E. (2002) Hyperglycemia: an independent marker of in-hospital mortality in patients with undiagnosed diabetes, *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 87*, 978-982.

10. Zornow, M. H. (2009) Do no harm, Anesthesia & Analgesia 108, 374-375.

11. Hirsch, I. B. (2009) Sliding scale insulin--time to stop sliding, Jama 301, 213-214.

12. Cammu, G., Vermeiren, K., Lecomte, P., De Gendt, S., Deloof, T., and Foubert, L. (2009) Perioperative blood glucose management in patients undergoing tumor hepatectomy, *Journal of Clinical Anesthesia 21*, 329-335.

Okabayashi, T., Maeda, H., Sun, Z.-L., Montgomery, R. A., Nishimori, I., and Hanazaki,
 K. (2009) Perioperative insulin therapy using a closed-loop artificial endocrine pancreas after
 hepatic resection, *World Journal of Gastroenterology 15*, 4116-4121.

14. Okabayashi, T., Hnazaki, K., Nishimori, I., Sugimoto, T., Maeda, H., Yatabe, T., Dabanaka, K., Kobayashi, M., and Yamashita, K. (2008) Continuous post-operative blood glucose monitoring and control using a closed-loop system in patients undergoing hepatic resection, *Digestive Diseases & Sciences 53*, 1405-1410.

15. Subramaniam, B., Panzica, P. J., Novack, V., Mahmood, F., Matyal, R., Mitchell, J. D., Sundar, E., Bose, R., Pomposelli, F., Kersten, J. R., and Talmor, D. S. (2009) Continuous perioperative insulin infusion decreases major cardiovascular events in patients undergoing vascular surgery: a prospective, randomized trial, *Anesthesiology 110*, 970-977.

 Feringa, H. H. H., Vidakovic, R., Karagiannis, S. E., Dunkelgrun, M., Elhendy, A., Boersma, E., van Sambeek, M. R. H. M., Noordzij, P. G., Bax, J. J., and Poldermans, D. (2008) Impaired glucose regulation, elevated glycated haemoglobin and cardiac ischaemic events in vascular surgery patients, *Diabetic Medicine 25*, 314-319.

17. Egi, M., Bellomo, R., Stachowski, E., French, C. J., and Hart, G. (2006) Variability of blood glucose concentration and short-term mortality in critically ill patients, *Anesthesiology 105*, 244-252.

Doenst, T., Bugger, H., Schwarzer, M., Faerber, G., Borger, M. A., and Mohr, F. W.
 (2008) Three good reasons for heart surgeons to understand cardiac metabolism, *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery* 33, 862-871.

19. Ellger, B., Debaveye, Y., Vanhorebeek, I., Langouche, L., Giulietti, A., Van Etten, E., Herijgers, P., Mathieu, C., and Van den Berghe, G. (2006) Survival benefits of intensive insulin therapy in critical illness: impact of maintaining normoglycemia versus glycemia-independent actions of insulin, *Diabetes 55*, 1096-1105.

20. Rizza, R. A., Mandarino, L. J., and Gerich, J. E. (1981) Dose-response characteristics for effects of insulin on production and utilization of glucose in man, *American Journal of Physiology 240*, E630-639.

21. Trevisani, F., Caraceni, P., Simoncini, M., Micati, M., Domenicali, M., Dazzani, F., Zambruni, A., Stefanelli, C., Grazi, G., Nardo, B., Guarnieri, C., and Bernardi, M. (2002) Evidence of oxidative imbalance in long-term liver transplant patients, *Digestive & Liver Disease 34*, 279-284.

22. Monnier, L., Mas, E., Ginet, C., Michel, F., Villon, L., Cristol, J.-P., and Colette, C. (2006) Activation of oxidative stress by acute glucose fluctuations compared with sustained chronic hyperglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes, *Jama 295*, 1681-1687.

23. Lecomte, P., Foubert, L., Nobels, F., Coddens, J., Nollet, G., Casselman, F., Crombrugge,
P. V., Vandenbroucke, G., and Cammu, G. (2008) Dynamic tight glycemic control during and
after cardiac surgery is effective, feasible, and safe, *Anesthesia & Analgesia 107*, 51-58.

24. Saager, L., Collins, G. L., Burnside, B., Tymkew, H., Zhang, L., Jacobsohn, E., and Avidan, M. (2008) A randomized study in diabetic patients undergoing cardiac surgery comparing computer-guided glucose management with a standard sliding scale protocol, *Journal of Cardiothoracic & Vascular Anesthesia 22*, 377-382.

25. Hovorka, R., Kremen, J., Blaha, J., Matias, M., Anderlova, K., Bosanska, L., Roubicek, T., Wilinska, M. E., Chassin, L. J., Svacina, S., and Haluzik, M. (2007) Blood glucose control by a model predictive control algorithm with variable sampling rate versus a routine glucose management protocol in cardiac surgery patients: a randomized controlled trial, *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 92*, 2960-2964.

26. Hovorka, R. (2008) The future of continuous glucose monitoring: closed loop, *Current Diabetes Reviews 4*, 269-279.

27. Visser, L., Zuurbier, C. J., Hoek, F. J., Opmeer, B. C., de Jonge, E., de Mol, B. A. J. M., and van Wezel, H. B. (2005) Glucose, insulin and potassium applied as perioperative hyperinsulinaemic normoglycaemic clamp: effects on inflammatory response during coronary artery surgery, *British Journal of Anaesthesia 95*, 448-457.

28. Juneja, R., Roudebush, C., Kumar, N., Macy, A., Golas, A., Wall, D., Wolverton, C., Nelson, D., Carroll, J., and Flanders, S. J. (2007) Utilization of a computerized intravenous insulin infusion program to control blood glucose in the intensive care unit, *Diabetes Technology* & *Therapeutics 9*, 232-240.

29. Davidson, P. C., Steed, R. D., and Bode, B. W. (2005) Glucommander: a computerdirected intravenous insulin system shown to be safe, simple, and effective in 120,618 h of operation, *Diabetes Care 28*, 2418-2423.

30. Bilotta, F., Caramia, R., Paoloni, F. P., Delfini, R., and Rosa, G. (2009) Safety and efficacy of intensive insulin therapy in critical neurosurgical patients, *Anesthesiology 110*, 611-619.

31. Van Herpe, T., De Brabanter, J., Beullens, M., De Moor, B., and Van den Berghe, G. (2008) Glycemic penalty index for adequately assessing and comparing different blood glucose control algorithms, *Critical Care (London, England) 12*, R24.

32. Anundi, I., and de Groot, H. (1989) Hypoxic liver cell death: critical Po2 and dependence of viability on glycolysis, *Am J Physiol 257*, G58-64.

33. Valverde, A., Fabregat, I., Burks, D., White, M., and Benito, M. (2004) IRS-2 mediates the antiapoptotic effect of insulin in neonatal hepatocytes, *Hepatology 40*, 1285-1294.

van de Poll, M. C., Derikx, J. P., Buurman, W., Peters, W. H., Roelofs, H. M., Wigmore,
S., and Dejong, C. (2007) Liver manipulation causes hepatocyte injury and precedes systemic
inflammation in patients undergoing liver resection, *World J Surg 31*, 2033-2038.

35. Desbois-Mouthon, C., Wendum, D., Cadoret, A., Rey, C., Leneuve, P., Blaise, A., Housset, C., Tronche, F., Le Bouc, Y., and Holzenberger, M. (2006) Hepatocyte proliferation during liver regeneration is impaired in mice with liver-specific IGF-1R knockout, *FASEB J 20*, 773-775.

36. Jeschke, M. G., Klein, D., Bolder, U., and Einspanier, R. (2004) Insulin attenuates the systemic inflammatory response in endotoxemic rats, *Endocrinology 145*, 4084-4093.

Zorzi, D., Laurent, A., Pawlik, T. M., Lauwers, G. Y., Vauthey, J. N., and Abdalla, E. K.
 (2007) Chemotherapy-associated hepatotoxicity and surgery for colorectal liver metastases, *Br J Surg 94*, 274-286.

38. Ljungqvist, O., Nygren, J., Soop, M., and Thorell, A. (2005) Metabolic perioperative management: novel concepts, *Curr Opin Crit Care 11*, 295-299.

39. Krinsley, J. (2006) Perioperative glucose control, Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 19, 111-116.

Weber, S. M., Jarnagin, W. R., Klimstra, D., DeMatteo, R. P., Fong, Y., and Blumgart, L.
H. (2001) Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: resectability, recurrence pattern, and outcomes, *J Am Coll Surg 193*, 384-391.

41. Palavecino, M., Kishi, Y., Chun, Y. S., Brown, D. L., Gottumukkala, V. N., Lichtiger, B., Curley, S. A., Abdalla, E. K., and Vauthey, J. N. (2009) Two-surgeon technique of parenchymal transection contributes to reduced transfusion rate in patients undergoing major hepatectomy: Analysis of 1,557 consecutive liver resections, *Surgery*.

42. Wanless, I. R., and Lentz, J. S. (1990) Fatty liver hepatitis (steatohepatitis) and obesity: an autopsy study with analysis of risk factors, *Hepatology 12*, 1106-1110.

43. Lyratzopoulos, G., Tyrrell, C., Smith, P., and Yelloly, J. (2007) Recent trends in liver resection surgery activity and population utilization rates in English regions, *HPB (Oxford) 9*, 277-280.

44. Schieferdecker, H. L., Schlaf, G., Koleva, M., Gotze, O., and Jungermann, K. (2000) Induction of functional anaphylatoxin C5a receptors on hepatocytes by in vivo treatment of rats with IL-6, *Journal of Immunology 164*, 5453-5458. 45. Daveau, M., Benard, M., Scotte, M., Schouft, M.-T., Hiron, M., Francois, A., Salier, J.-P., and Fontaine, M. (2004) Expression of a functional C5a receptor in regenerating hepatocytes and its involvement in a proliferative signaling pathway in rat, *Journal of Immunology 173*, 3418-3424.

Clark, A., Weymann, A., Hartman, E., Turmelle, Y., Carroll, M., Thurman, J. M., Holers,
V. M., Hourcade, D. E., and Rudnick, D. A. (2008) Evidence for non-traditional activation of
complement factor C3 during murine liver regeneration, *Molecular Immunology* 45, 3125-3132.

47. Markiewski, M. M., DeAngelis, R. A., Strey, C. W., Foukas, P. G., Gerard, C., Gerard, N., Wetsel, R. A., and Lambris, J. D. (2009) The regulation of liver cell survival by complement, *Journal of Immunology 182*, 5412-5418.

48. Markiewski, M. M., Mastellos, D., Tudoran, R., DeAngelis, R. A., Strey, C. W., Franchini, S., Wetsel, R. A., Erdei, A., and Lambris, J. D. (2004) C3a and C3b activation products of the third component of complement (C3) are critical for normal liver recovery after toxic injury, *Journal of Immunology 173*, 747-754.

49. Strey, C. W., Siegmund, B., Rosenblum, S., Marquez-Pinilla, R. M., Oppermann, E., Huber-Lang, M., Lambris, J. D., and Bechstein, W. O. (2009) Complement and neutrophil function changes after liver resection in humans, *World Journal of Surgery 33*, 2635-2643.

50. Mastellos, D., Papadimitriou, J. C., Franchini, S., Tsonis, P. A., and Lambris, J. D. (2001) A novel role of complement: mice deficient in the fifth component of complement (C5) exhibit impaired liver regeneration, *Journal of Immunology 166*, 2479-2486.

51. He, S., Atkinson, C., Qiao, F., Cianflone, K., Chen, X., and Tomlinson, S. (2009) A complement-dependent balance between hepatic ischemia/reperfusion injury and liver regeneration in mice, *Journal of Clinical Investigation 119*, 2304-2316.

52. Schricker, T., and Carvalho, G. (2005) Pro: tight perioperative glycemic control, *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 19*, 684-688.

53. Saleh, J., Summers, L. K., Cianflone, K., Fielding, B. A., Sniderman, A. D., and Frayn,K. N. (1998) Coordinated release of acylation stimulating protein (ASP) and triacylglycerol

clearance by human adipose tissue in vivo in the postprandial period, *Journal of Lipid Research* 39, 884-891.

54. Saiepour, D., Sehlin, J., and Oldenborg, P.-A. (2003) Hyperglycemia-induced protein kinase C activation inhibits phagocytosis of C3b- and immunoglobulin g-opsonized yeast particles in normal human neutrophils, *Experimental Diabesity Research 4*, 125-132.

55. McMillan, D. E. (1980) Elevation of complement components in diabetes mellitus, *Diabete et Metabolisme 6*, 265-270.

56. Krantz, S., Stelter, F., Lober, M., Rjasanowski, I., Michaelis, D., and Buske, B. (1988) Complement component 3 (C 3) and diabetes mellitus, *Experimental & Clinical Endocrinology 92*, 287-296.

57. Ebeling, P., Teppo, A. M., Koistinen, H. A., and Koivisto, V. A. (2001) Concentration of the complement activation product, acylation-stimulating protein, is related to C-reactive protein in patients with type 2 diabetes, *Metabolism: Clinical & Experimental 50*, 283-287.

58. Black, C. T., Hennessey, P. J., and Andrassy, R. J. (1990) Short-term hyperglycemia depresses immunity through nonenzymatic glycosylation of circulating immunoglobulin, *Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care 30*, 830-832; discussion 832-833.

59. Hoedemaekers, C., Van Deuren, M., Sprong, T., Pickkers, P., Mollnes, T., Klasen, I., and Van derHoeven, J. (2008) Complement activation after uncomplicated coronary artery bypass grafting: role of strict glucose control, *Critical Care 12*, P152.